
 

222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Cabinet Agenda 
 
Monday, 5 December 2022 at 6.00 pm 
Council Chamber, Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, East Sussex, 
TN34 3UY 
 
If you are attending Muriel Matters House for this meeting, please enter the building via the 
Community Contact Centre entrance.  
 
For further information, please contact Democratic Services on 01424 451484 or email: 
democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk 
 
  Page No. 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 
2.   Declaration of Interests 

 
 

 
3.   Minutes of Last Meeting 

 
1 - 8 

 
4.   Designation of a Cycle Route through Alexandra Park 

(Cameron Morley, Waste and Cleansing Services Manager) 
(Council decision) 
 

9 - 96 

 
5.   Fees and Charges 2023/24 97 - 142 
 (Kit Wheeler, Chief Finance Officer) 

(Cabinet decision) 
 

 

 
6.   Buckshole Reservoir finance update (Part 1) 

(Cameron Morley, Waste and Cleansing Services Manager) 
(Council decision) 
 

143 - 146 

 
7.   East Hill Cliff Railway - Major Works (Part 1) 

(Aaron Woods, Resort Manager) 
(Council decision) 
 

147 - 152 

 
8.   Notification of Additional Urgent Items 

 
 

 
9.   Urgent Items (if any) 

 
 

 
10.   Exclusion of the public  
 To resolve that the public be excluded from the meeting during the 

consideration of the items of business listed below because it is 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 

2

likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of “exempt” information as defined in the 
paragraphs of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
referred to in the relevant report. 
  

11.   Buckshole Reservoir finance update (Part 2) 
(Cameron Morley, Waste and Cleansing Services Manager) 
(Council decision) 
 

153 - 156 

 
12.   East Hill Cliff Railway - Major Works (Part 2) 

(Aaron Woods, Resort Manager) 
(Council decision) 

157 - 164 

 



CABINET 
 

7 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

CAB. 1 

 
Present: Councillors Barnett (Chair), Evans (Vice-Chair), Batsford, Cannan, Rogers, 
and Roark. 

In attendance: Jane Hartnell (Managing Director), Mary Kilner (Chief Legal Officer), Kit 
Wheeler (Chief Finance Officer), Natasha Tewksbury (Customer Services, 
Communications and Emergency Planning Manager), Kevin Boorman (Marketing and 
Major Projects Manager), Chantal Lass (Tackling Climate Change Programme 
Manager), and Rosie Leech (CHART Delivery Animator). 

 
469. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence received from Councillor Willis, Victoria Conheady (Assistant 
Director, Regeneration and Culture), and Pranesh Datta, (Economic Development 
Manager). 
 
Councillor Barnett outlined recent changes to the membership of the Cabinet. 
Councillors Hilton and Haffenden are no longer Cabinet members and Councillor 
Barnett thanked them for their work and contributions during their time as portfolio 
holders. Councillor Cannan joins the Cabinet as the Chair of the Charity Committee 
and Councillor Roark takes over the environment portfolio. Climate change will form 
part of Councillor Barnett’s regeneration portfolio. 
  
470. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
None received. 
 
471. MINUTES OF LAST MEETING  
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 3rd October 2022 be 
approved as a true record. 
 
472. CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN REFRESH  
 
The Chair called this item for discussion first. 

Councillor Patmore was present and asked the Cabinet to consider how best to 
measure progress against the agreed climate change action plan. 

Councillor Hilton was present and asked how the Cabinet intends to move forward 
with cross-party working on this issue, and how climate change and carbon reduction 
can be embedded into every decision the Council makes? 

The Tackling Climate Change Programme Manager presented a report setting out the 
next phase of the climate change strategy and action plan, including a pathway and 
set of actions to work towards delivering net zero emissions. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
 

7 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

CAB. 2 
 

The strategy and action plan will build on the work that started in 2020 to meet the 
challenges of the climate emergency that the Council set out in 2019. 

The strategy has been expanded to include four new themes of food; climate 
adaptation and resilience; water; and waste and the circular economy. The Council is 
doing what it can to reduce carbon emissions from its core service provision through 
such initiatives as moving the Council’s fleet of vehicles to electric where possible. 
Work has been ongoing with all services areas to embed the action plan. 

Council Batsford asked if there was a way for the Council to track its progress in 
reducing its carbon footprint year-by-year? The Tackling Climate Change Programme 
Manager said that should be feasible. The Council has baselined its own emissions 
and it publishes data every financial year considering energy usage and any other 
data that can be captured from partner organisations. The Leader of the Council noted 
that the report includes the baseline figures and demonstrates that things are moving 
in the right direction. 

Councillor Barnett commended officers for their work on the strategy, and thanked 
Councillor Hilton who as the previous portfolio holder oversaw work on the report.  

RESOLVED (unanimously): 

To approve the adoption of the Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan to 
work towards delivering net-zero carbon emissions for the borough by 2030. 

Reasons: 

The report presents a refreshed draft Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 
building upon the achievements of the 2020-2022 strategy and action plan. 

  
473. FINAL ACCOUNTS 2021/22  
 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer presented a report detailing the draft 2021/22 
Statement of Accounts on behalf of the Council in accordance with the Accounts & 
Audit Regulations 2015. 

The report is for information only, with a recommendation that the draft 2021/22 
statement of accounts be noted. The final accounts have already been discussed and 
noted by the Audit Committee on behalf of the Council. The statement of accounts 
provides various statements and disclosures in a statutory format in line with the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) code of practice.  
 
The final accounts are currently in draft and unaudited. Both Covid and a change in 
auditing standards has led to a backlog of external audits across local authorities, with 
only 9% of 2020/21 audits being completed by the statutory deadline. Work is 
underway on auditing the 2020/21 accounts. This is expected to be completed before 

Page 2



CABINET 
 

7 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

CAB. 3 
 

Christmas. The audit of the 2021/22 accounts is expected to be completed by the end 
of March 2023. The audited accounts along with the auditor’s report will be brought 
back to Cabinet and Audit Committee for review and approval once the audit is 
concluded. 

RESOLVED (unanimously): 

1. The draft 2021/22 Statement of Accounts be noted. 

Reasons: 

Compliance with statutory requirements and good practice. The Council is 
accountable for the use of public money and continuously seeks to improve Value for 
Money. 

The draft 2021/22 Statement of Accounts be noted. 
 
474. UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND  
 
The Marketing and Major Projects Manager presented a report to advise Cabinet of 
the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) Investment Plan and seek delegated 
authority to implement the programme, subject to government approval. 
 
The Council has been allocated £1 million over 3 years, to be focussed in 
Broomgrove, one of the most deprived neighbourhoods in Hastings. Over the first two 
years of the project the Council will work with the community in Broomgrove to 
develop proposals which will make a difference for the community. The majority of the 
funding will arrive in the third year. 
 
It was confirmed that the Council had met with social housing provider Optivo to 
discuss working with them on tenant engagement. The Shared Prosperity Fund isn’t 
designed to deal with housing specifically, but through tenant engagement support 
may be able to be directed to areas where tenants want to see improvements. 

It was also confirmed that the Council had been awarded £85,000 from the Levelling 
Up Parks Fund which will be used to improve parks and open spaces in Broomgrove. 

RESOLVED (unanimously): 

To seek delegated authority to the Managing Director or relevant nominee, in 
consultation with the Leader to:  

• Sign Memorandum of Understanding with Department of Levelling Up 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 

• Sign any relevant service level agreement with delivery partners 
• Allocate the UKSPF to eligible costs in line with the funding scheme aims 

and investment plan 
 

Reasons: 

Page 3



CABINET 
 

7 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

CAB. 4 
 

To ensure that the government’s UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is  
used to best effect in Hastings and particularly the targeted area identified. 

 
475. PROPOSAL TO GATE A FOOTPATH IN BAIRD WARD  
 
Councillor Hilton was present and noted that there is a trend of gating rights of way. 
Councillor Hilton said she understood that there are clear reasons for gating this path, 
but we need to value our rights of way and the Cabinet shouldn’t consider gating as a 
default solution. Rights of way need to be made more attractive places as an 
alternative to closing them off to the public. 

The Customer Services, Communications and Emergency Planning Manager 
presented a report to authorise the gating of a footpath in Baird ward seriously 
affected by anti-social behaviour under powers contained in the Antisocial Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

The footpath has been subject to anti-social behaviour which has affected the 
residents living immediately adjacent to the footpath. There have been increased 
patrols by police and council wardens but these have not had a longstanding effect.  

Consultation has been undertaken with residents and other statutory partners. 
Residents and the police were overwhelming in favour of gating. The gating will not be 
indefinite as the effectiveness of the gates has to be reviewed after three years. 
Adjacent residents will still have access to the footpath. 

RESOLVED (unanimously): 

That cabinet authorises the customer services, communications and emergency 
planning manager in conjunction with the Chief Legal Officer, to implement the 
statutory legal process required to gate the public right of way (ESCC Ref; No 
232) described in the report by varying the existing gating order that is already 
in place for the public right of ways: ESCC Refs: Nos. 94, 97 and 175. 

Reasons: 

As a result of long standing serious anti-social behaviour affecting a public right of way 
in Baird ward (No 232), the council has been asked to consider gating it using powers 
set out in the Antisocial Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 to restrict general 
access.  
 
To enable the gating of the footpath proposed, approval is sought to vary and extend 
the existing Public Space Protection Order already in place for other gated footpaths. 

  
 
476. CABINET APPOINTMENTS  

Page 4



CABINET 
 

7 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

CAB. 5 
 

 
The Chief Legal Officer presented a report to consider the nominations for Cabinet 
committees, working groups and partnerships and to appoint the Chair of the Charity 
Committee. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 
1. To appoint members to committees, working groups, partnerships and 
representative bodies as set out in Appendix A and;  
 
2. To appoint the Chair of Charity Committee as listed in Appendix A 

Reasons: 

Members are required to serve on the committees, working groups, partnerships and 
representative bodies to which Cabinet appoints. Chairs and Vice Chairs are required 
for the committees that report to Cabinet. 

 
477. PROCUREMENT AND RENEWAL OF HYBRID MAIL SOLUTION (PART 1)  
 
The Transformation and Programmes Manager presented a report to request approval 
from Cabinet for the renewal of the corporate hybrid mail solution. 

The hybrid mail system has been in use since 2017 and has been highly successful in 
reducing mailing costs. The contract now needs to be renewed and the 
recommendation is to proceed with the renewal under the ESPO Framework Lot 7 
Hybrid Mail, Digital and Transformational Communications. 

Before implementing the hybrid mail system, the Council operated a post room which 
was resource intensive and involved officers stuffing and franking envelopes. The 
hybrid mail system has produced savings both in labour time and costs. 

The renewal is particularly important for ensuring Council Tax billing can be 
undertaken in the most cost-effective and efficient way. 

RESOLVED (unanimously): 

1. That Cabinet approves the procurement of a hybrid mail solution  
 
2. To extend the hybrid mail solution with our existing supplier through the East 
Sussex Procurement Hub via the appropriate framework to continue the 
provision of hybrid mail.  
 
3. To give delegated authority to the Managing Director in consultation with the 
Lead Member for Organisation to complete the procurement process and 
appoint the successful vendor. 

Page 5



CABINET 
 

7 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

CAB. 6 
 

Reasons: 

The existing hybrid mail solution used by the Revenues and Benefits service expires 
on the 16 November 2022 and needs to be extended to maintain our postal and 
electronic communications.  
 
The use of the existing supplier has been extremely successful and has reduced the 
organisations spend per year on postage and mail services prior to their appointment.  
 
The ESPO Framework allows for direct award to the existing supplier without the need 
for a full tender exercise and due diligence shows that they provide best value. 

478. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 

That the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the 
items of business listed below because it is likely that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of “exempt” information as 
defined in the paragraphs of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
referred to in the relevant report. 

479. PROCUREMENT AND RENEWAL OF HYBRID MAIL SOLUTION (PART 2)  
 
The Transformation and Programmes Manager presented a report to request approval 
from Cabinet for the renewal of the corporate hybrid mail solution for the Revenues 
and Benefits Service and other areas of the Council in order to maintain productivity 
and efficiency savings. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 

1. That Cabinet approves the procurement of a hybrid mail solution  
 
2. To extend the hybrid mail solution with our existing supplier through the East 
Sussex Procurement Hub via the appropriate framework to continue the 
provision of hybrid mail.  
 
3. To give delegated authority to the Managing Director in consultation with the 
Lead Member for Organisation to complete the procurement process and 
appoint the successful vendor. 

Reasons: 

The existing hybrid mail solution used by the Revenues and Benefits service expires 
on the 16 November 2022 and needs to be extended to maintain our postal and 
electronic communications.  

Page 6



CABINET 
 

7 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

CAB. 7 
 

 
The use of the existing supplier has been extremely successful and has reduced the 
organisations spend per year on postage and mail services prior to their appointment.  
 
The ESPO Framework allows for direct award to the existing supplier without the need 
for a full tender exercise and due diligence shows that they provide best value. 

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at 7.20pm) 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 
 
 
 

 Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 
Report To: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 5th December 2022 

Report Title: Designation of a cycle path in Alexandra Park 

Report By: Cameron Morley, Waste and Cleansing Services Manager 

Key Decision: Y 
 

Classification: Open 
 
 

Purpose of Report 
Present to Cabinet an updated report on the proposals to designate a shared cycle route through 
Alexandra Park. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
1. Cabinet reviews the proposal to allow cycling on a designated route in Alexandra Park 

and recommend the report to Full Council for their consideration with a view to 
determining whether a shared cycle route should be designated in Alexandra Park.  

 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
1. In 2016, Cabinet agreed to support a shared cycle route through Alexandra Park 

following a detailed design by East Sussex County Council and public consultation in 
2015 over the proposed route.    

2. There has been a significant delay in implementing the project since the 2016 Cabinet 
approval.   

3. East Sussex County Council are now ready to proceed with the scheme during 2023/24.   

4. Following the 2021 public consultation over new park’s bye laws, the council received 
strong representations from members of the community both in favour of, and against the 
proposed shared cycle route.   

5. Considering the significant delay since the 2016 Cabinet approval and recent 
representations to the council over the proposals, it is considered appropriate for 
councillors to review the scheme and recommend the report to Full Council for their 
consideration with a view to determining whether a cycle route should be designated in 
Alexandra Park. 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 

Introduction 

1. At the Cabinet meeting of 4th of January 2016, councillors unanimously agreed to support a 
shared cycle route through Alexandra Park.  The 2016 Cabinet paper is attached as 
Appendix 1. 

2. Delays in implementing the project has meant a significant period has now elapsed since the 
original Cabinet decision. To provide current councillors an opportunity to review the project 
in full, the proposal to designate a shared cycle route through Alexandra Park has been 
brought back to Cabinet with a proposal to recommend the report to Full Council for decision. 
The proposed route is attached as Appendix 2. 

3. As this has been a long and complex process, a summary timeline and narrative of the main 
actions, outcomes and milestones for the project is included in Table 1. 

4. This report aims to provide Cabinet and Full Council with sufficient information to come to an 
informed decision.  The report outlines: 

a. Background summary 

b. The context for the route in the adopted Hastings Borough Council Local Plan 

c. Public consultation 

d. Safety Audit and Equalities Impact Statements 

e. Signage 

f. East Sussex decision making process 

g. Enforcement and review 

h. Conclusions 

Background Summary 

5. Providing cycle routes in the town is a strategic policy objective within the Walking and 
Cycling Strategy and the Hastings Local Plan, 2011-2028. 

6. The project to provide a shared cycle path in Alexandra Park is funded and project managed 
by East Sussex County Council.   

7. The proposed cycle path is a shared pedestrian/cycle path and not cyclist only. 

8. No new paths will be constructed.  Construction proposals are restricted to resurfacing 
existing footpaths, modifying gradients, widening the footpaths in specific locations, 
vegetation management, installing new signs and bollards and implementing safety 
proposals.   

9. Alexandra Park is a Grade 2* historic park as designated by Historic England. Historic 
England have approved the proposals and have worked with the design team throughout the 
project. 

Page 10



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

10. In 2015, Hastings Borough Council undertook a public consultation over the proposed route. 
The consultation helped inform and finalise the designs of the route.   

11. The route does not require planning approval.  It is classified as Permitted Development 
under the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 12, Class A of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.  

12. East Sussex County Council appointed independent road safety consultants to undertake 
and publish a safety audit of the route.  The safety audit is attached as appendix 3. 

13. East Sussex County Council undertook an Equalities Impact Assessment to assess the likely 
impact on users of the park and propose mitigation against any adverse impact.  The EIA is 
attached as appendix 4. 

14. At the Cabinet meeting of 4th of January 2016, councillors considered the results of the public 
consultation, and unanimously approved the proposals for a shared cycle route through 
Alexandra Park. 

 

The project for a shared use cycle path in Alexandra Park 
 

Hastings Borough Council Local Plan  

15. The Hastings Local Plan, 2011-2028, adopted in September 2015, identifies a strategic 
network of cycle routes in the town to link local communities with key services including 
employment, healthcare, education, and green spaces. 

16. Policy proposal, T3, in the adopted Local Plan states: 

The Councill will work with East Sussex County Council using the Local Transport Plan 3 
policy framework and other partners to achieve a more sustainable transport future for 
Hastings.  Particular priority will be given to; 
 

• Supporting the provision of new and enhanced cycle routes in the town, and in particular, 
supporting the implementation of the strategic cycle network as identified on the key diagram 
(in the strategic plan) and the Policies Map.  

17. The strategic network of proposed and designated cycle routes in town is published on the 
Local Plan Proposals Map.  A simplified representation of the network of existing and 
proposed cycle routes, is shown on appendix 7.   

18. The route through Alexandra Park is at the heart of the council’s strategic proposals for 
developing a cycle network in the town.  Should the proposals for the park not proceed, there 
would be a significant gap in council’s ability to provide a coherent and joined up cycle 
network.   

Public consultation 

19. At the start of the project, 2014/15, Hastings Borough Council consulted with local groups, 
including the Friends of Alexandra Park, Greenway Group and Hastings and Rother Disability 
Forum.  The aim of that targeted consultation with key user groups was to inform 
modifications of the proposed designs prior to full public consultation. 

Page 11



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

20. In 2015, following the initial feedback from the user groups and subsequent design 
modifications, the council conducted a public consultation on the proposed route. The 
consultation involved press advertisement, on-line consultation, and written responses, 
together with a public event in the park to advertise the consultation and engage with 
members of the public. 

21. The results of the consultation were presented in the report to Cabinet in January 2016 and 
informed the unanimous Cabinet decision to approve the proposal.  No further public 
consultation has been undertaken over the principle of the route.   

22. An additional public consultation was, however, undertaken by Hastings Borough Council in 
2021 over the proposal to adopt new byelaws for parks and open spaces.  During this 
consultation, members of the public took the opportunity to strongly voice their support for, or 
opposition to, the cycle route. The new byelaws, whilst prohibiting cycling in parks and open 
spaces, have the provision to allow cycling on designated routes. 

23. The results of the byelaws consultation were presented to Cabinet, and the new byelaws 
approved at Full Council on 14th September 2022. 

24. In 2021 East Sussex County Council advertised a Cycle Track Order to convert a short 
section of footpath to cycle path, along Strood Rd.  The advert generated significant strong 
responses, both for and against the proposed route in the park. 

25. Although the full public consultation over the route was undertaken in 2015, there have been 
further opportunities for the public to voice their opinions on the route: to Hastings Borough 
Council over the byelaw’s consultation, and East Sussex County Council over their Cycle 
Track Order at Strood Road.  Both consultations elicited strong representations for and 
against, which were duly considered by both authorities in coming to their respective 
decisions.    

26. In the case of the byelaw’s consultation, many of the responses directly referenced the 
proposed cycle route, which was not the focus of that consultation. However, those 
responses were considered by councillors when coming to their decision on the new byelaws 
and form part of the public record which is available to councillors when considering public 
opinion both for and against the proposed introduction of a cycle route through Alexandra 
Park. 

27. As evidenced by the recent byelaw’s consultation, the proposed shared cycle route through 
Alexandra Park continues to elicit strong opinions on both sides of the debate. Those 
opposed to the scheme express concerns for public safety and equalities and call for a 
further public consultation. Supporters of the scheme cite the health benefits of cycling, the 
need to reduce dependency on car use and address the climate emergency, and the route’s 
potential to link deprived areas of the borough into the wider cycle network and to promote a 
modern, cycle-friendly town. 

28. Taken together, the Safety Audit Report and the Equality Impact Assessment show how the 
safety and equalities concerns have been professionally considered and resolved, and the 
mitigation measures recommended to reduce potential negative impacts have been factored 
into the final design of the route.  

29. In addition, further public consultation would be unlikely to provide significant additional 
information to help councillors make an informed decision as the arguments both for and 
against the scheme are already well-known and documented. 

Page 12



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Safety Audit and Equalities Impact Assessments (Equalities and Community 
Cohesiveness) 

Safety Audit 

30. Public safety is critical to the successful implementation of the route.  In 2019, as part of their 
due diligence for the project, East Sussex County Council commissioned a Safety Audit of 
the proposed route.  The Safety Audit (Appendix 3) was undertaken by independent senior 
road safety engineers and has been signed off by East Sussex County Council.   

31. The road safety engineers looked at all aspects of the shared route for public and cyclist 
safety and made recommendations based on their technical and professional expertise.   

32.  In summary, the recommendations include: 

a. Cutting back vegetation to maximise visibility for both pedestrians and cyclists 

b. Provision of additional drainage to ensure water does not pond on the paths 

c. Additional post and rail fencing provided at relevant locations 

d. Footpaths resurfaced to provide even surfaces 

e. Consistent signs, bollards and marking to be provided, especially at the interface 
between pedestrian only footpaths and the shared route. 

33. All the recommendations in the report have been incorporated into the design of the route 
and will be implemented.   

Equalities Impact 

34. In addition to the Safety Audit, East Sussex County Council undertook an Equalities Impact 
Assessment of the route in 2018 and reviewed it again in 2019 (Appendix 4).   

35. The Equalities Impact Assessment is a legal requirement and a detailed analysis and 
assessment tool that ensures the proposals do not discriminate against anyone and, where 
possible, equality of opportunity is promoted.  The tool is a systematic and evidence-based 
tool that enables the designers to identify potential negative and positive impacts on users of 
the park and suggests mitigation proposals against those potential negative impacts. 

36. The design of the route has been fully informed by the recommendations and mitigation 
proposals highlighted in both the safety audit and the equalities impact assessment.   

The route through the park, signs, and bollards 

Surfacing and widening 

37. The scheme does not require the construction of new paths.  The route follows existing 
footpaths which will be adjusted to enable them to accommodate shared cycling and 
pedestrian use.   No trees will be removed in the construction of the route. Some shrubs will 
be cut back, but no more than would be carried out during annual maintenance.  

38. The proposals show there will be localised minimum widening of some paths and all the 
paths along the proposed route between the Strood Road access and the access track to 
Harmers Reservoir will be re-surfaced to provide a smooth surface.  All materials will match 

Page 13



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

the existing black, flexible material, currently in place.  Most of the footpath widening will take 
place in the upper park.   A short section of the existing path within the Lower Park between 
the toilet block and the café will be resurfaced. 

Signs 

39. Visual illustrations of the types of signs, fencing and bollards to be used are included in 
appendix 5.   

40. Signage and directional bollards will be installed, together with bronze route markers in the 
lower park to indicate the route.  The use of clear direction signing is key to ensuring that 
cyclists use the correct route through the park. Due to its Grade 2* listed status the use of 
new signs has been kept to a minimum.   

41. New signs will be manufactured in the colours used throughout the park – olive green and 
cream.  Ordinarily new signs are attached to metal posts, but to ensure the signs are in 
keeping with the character of the park, they will be installed on newly manufactured oak 
bollards, which will be installed at key locations to demarcate the route.  

42. The markers, signs and bollards all comply with the safety audit recommendations and will 
be sympathetic to the heritage status of the park.  Historic England have been consulted on 
the use of materials and approved all materials to be used.   

43. The use of road markings will also be kept to an absolute minimum.  ‘No Cycling’ markings 
will only be used at key locations and junctions on the path. 

Barriers 

44. In sections where the gradient is very steep, staggered pedestrian barriers with reflective 
bands are included to ensure cyclists slow down.  These will be in two locations – at the top 
and bottom of the steep path leading to the track dividing the Upper Park.  Barriers are also 
proposed for access from Strood Road in case any cyclist ignores the requirement to 
dismount. 

45. Where timber fencing is proposed it will be in the style of Sussex post and rail fencing which 
can be found throughout the park. 

Tennis courts 

46. There is no proposal to widen the path in front of the tennis courts in the upper park.   
However, the park benches at this stretch, which currently sit on the path, will be moved back 
from the path and the vegetation cut back around them.  The existing access gate at the 
tennis courts which currently opens onto the path, will be relocated further down to a wider 
point of exit/entry.  

Bridges 

47. The bridges on the route in the upper and lower park will be renovated by painting them and 
applying a non-slip walking and cycling surface.  Metal hooped fencing will be installed next 
to the bridges to provide an additional safety barrier against the drop into the watercourse.  
The style of hooped fencing selected matches existing hooped fencing elsewhere in the park. 
The fencing will be painted to match the iron bridges.  The stone bridge near the tennis 
courts will also be treated with a non-slip surface.   

Page 14



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

East Sussex County Council decision making and timetable 

48. The proposals have been considered by East Sussex County Council in: 

• March 2017 

• June 2018 (to specifically consider an alternative route along St Helens Rd) 

• September 2020 (to convert the footway along Dordrecht Way) 

• May 2022 (to consider petitions of support and opposition to the proposal).   

49. At each meeting the Lead Member for Transport and Environment, approved the scheme to 
proceed to detailed design and construction. 

50. The county council have, in addition, considered a range of alternative routes for the cycle 
scheme, both inside and outside the park. A list of the alternative routes and the reasons why 
those were rejected is attached as appendix 6. 

51. Should the scheme be approved by Hastings Borough Council, it is anticipated that ESCC 
will procure the contract to build the route in Summer 2023 with a view to construction during 
2023/4.  

Enforcement and review of the route 

52. Enforcing the correct and safe use of the route in the park will be the responsibility of 
Hastings Borough Council, and in particular the Warden Service.   

53. There will be Code of Conduct signs and boards throughout the route.  The purpose of the 
Code of Conduct signs is to encourage everyone to take account of, and respect each 
other’s needs and use of the route.  The types of signs and boards to be used have been 
utilised successfully elsewhere in the country where shared pedestrian and cycle routes are 
in use. 

54. The Wardens will have a heightened presence in the park to enforce Public Space Protection 
Orders and will therefore engage with cyclists and pedestrians who are presenting a safety 
concern to others and with cyclists who are not using the designated route. 

55. A specific timetable of patrols by the Wardens will be developed once the route has been 
procured.  A key element of that timetable will be the Wardens having a high visible presence 
for the first six months following completion of the route.   

56. Enforcement and review will be subject to continual assessment and appraisal.  It is 
proposed that after the first 6 months, and then more fully after the first year, Hastings 
Borough Council will review how the route has been used and discuss the results with East 
Sussex County Council with a view to implementing further remedial measures should they 
be required. 

Financial Implications and risk management 

57. The design and implementation of the route is wholly funded by East Sussex County Council 
from allocated central government funds.  There is no direct cost to the council in 
implementing the project.   

Page 15



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

58. The funds are, however, time constrained, ringfenced to this project, and require construction 
to start by Autumn 2023. Any funds not utilised on this scheme must be returned to 
Government and cannot be diverted to other proposals or alternative schemes. 

59. To meet the funding timetable, ESCC had timetabled the procurement of the contract to build 
the scheme for 2022, with a planned construction in early 2023.  However, the County has 
now formally paused the scheme until Hastings Borough Council has reviewed the 
proposals.   

60. It is crucial HBC come to a decision on whether to progress with the project or not in time for 
ESCC to meet funding deadlines. 

Environmental Issues & Climate Change 

61. According to Government statistics and reports, nearly a third of UK children, and over 60% 
of UK adults are overweight or obese, resulting in direct costs to the NHS.  Illness as an 
outcome of physical inactivity has been conservatively calculated to directly cost the NHS up 
to £1.0 billion per annum (2006-07 prices). Indirect costs have been estimated as £8.2 billion 
per annum (2002 prices).  

62. The trend across the UK and other developed nations is for physical activity levels to decline. 
This is associated with widespread use of the private car and an increase in sedentary 
leisure activities.  

63. Walking and cycling have been identified as a key means by which people can build physical 
activity into their everyday lives.  Government reports on the health and cost benefits of 
cycling indicate that investment in infrastructure or behaviour change programmes which 
enable increased activity levels amongst local communities through cycling and walking is 
likely to provide low cost, high-value options providing benefits for our individual health. This 
improvement also has major benefits for the NHS in terms of cost savings.  

64. The cycle path has an important role to play in delivering the town wide ambition to be net 
zero by 2030 and supports the transition to more sustainable travel choices where transport 
accounts for more than 25% of the towns carbon emissions. 

Legal implications 

65. A legal agreement with ESCC will be required for works to proceed on HBC land. 

Conclusions 

66. There has been a significant delay in implementing the project since the 2016 Cabinet 
approval.  As such, it is considered appropriate for councillors to review the scheme and the 
report is recommend to Full Council for their consideration with a view to determining 
whether a shared cycle route should be designated in Alexandra Park. 

67. The proposals to provide a shared cycle route through Alexandra Park has been a long-
established project between Hastings Borough Council and East Sussex Country Council 
and part of a strategic ambition for both councils to provide more cycle routes in the town to 
reduce traffic, increase health and address our climate crisis. 

68. The route through Alexandra Park is at the heart of the council’s strategic proposals for 
developing a cycle network in the town.  Should the proposals for the park not proceed, there 

Page 16



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

would be a significant gap in the council’s ability to provide a coherent and joined up cycle 
network.   

69. The project has followed due process for safety, equalities, and public consultation.  Whilst it 
is noted that strong representations have been made to both councils (both for and against 
the proposal) it is considered that the safety and equalities concerns have been 
professionally and technically resolved, and that any further public consultation would not 
provide significant additional information to help councillors make an informed decision.   

70. The funds allocated by ESCC for the project are time constrained and are likely to be lost 
should the scheme encounter further delays. It is critical therefore that Hastings Borough 
Council come to a decision on whether to progress with the project. 

71. If approved for construction, the shared cycle route will be enforced by Hastings Borough 
Council’s Warden Service with review and assessment undertaken after 6 months and again 
after 1 year.   

 

Timetable of Next Steps 

72. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these: 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

HBC Cabinet 
recommend the 
report to Full 
Council for 
decision over 
scheme 

Full Council  15th December Environment and 
Natural Resources 
Manager 

Cycle scheme 
implemented 

Procurement and 
construction 

2023/4 East Sussex 
County Council 

 
Wards Affected 

St Helens, Silverhill, Braybrooke. 
 

Policy Implications 

Reading Ease Score: 
 
 
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness Y 
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  N 
Risk Management     Y 
Environmental Issues & Climate Change   Y 

Page 17



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Economic/Financial Implications   Y 
Human Rights Act     N 
Organisational Consequences   N 
Local People’s Views    Y 
Anti-Poverty      N 
Legal                                                                   Y 
 
 
Additional Information 

• Table 1 Summary of key events relating to the proposed Alexandra Park shared 
  cycle route  

• Appendix 1 HBC Cabinet report, 4th January 2016 
• Appendix 2 Proposed cycle route map 
• Appendix 3 ESCC Safety Audit 
• Appendix 4 ESCC Equalities Impact Assessment 
• Appendix 5 Proposed signs  
• Appendix 6 Consideration of alternative routes 
• Appendix 7 Hastings Borough Council Local Plan strategic cycle network 

 
 
 

Officer to Contact 

Officer Murray Davidson 
Email mdavidson@hastings.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Table 1  Cabinet 5th December/Full Council 15th December 2022  
Summary of key events relating to the proposed Alexandra Park Cycle Route  
 
When What Outcome 

 
2011 -
2028 

Hastings Local Plan 
identifies a strategic 
network of cycle routes in 
the town to link local 
communities with key 
services including 
employment, healthcare, 
education and green 
spaces 

Policy proposal, T3, in the current adopted Local Plan 
states: 
 
The Councill will work with East Sussex County 
Council using the Local Transport Plan 3 policy 
framework and other partners to achieve a more 
sustainable transport future for Hastings.  Particular 
priority will be given to; 
 

• Supporting the provision of new and enhanced 
cycle routes in the town, and in particular, 
supporting the implementation of the strategic cycle 
network as identified on the key diagram (in the 
strategic plan) and the Policies Map. 

  
The strategic network of proposed and designated 
cycle routes in town is published on the Hastings 
Borough Council Local Plan Proposals Pap, adopted 
September 2015. 
 

2013 Walking and Cycling 
Strategy published by 
ESCC/HBC/Hastings Urban 
Bikes (HUB) and Ramblers 
Association 
 

Cycle route proposed for Alexandra Park.  

2014 Feasibility Report produced 
by ESCC, in partnership 
with HBC 
 

HBC agreed to: 
 

1. Undertake a public consultation of the 
proposed route 

2. Provide planning/heritage conservation advice 
(application through planning committee if 
required) 

3. Landowner permission through Cabinet of a 
proposed route 

 
During the project, we further agreed to update our 
Parks byelaws  
 
ESCC agreed to: 

1. Fund the development and implementation of 
the route 

2. Engage all specialist engineers/consultants 
3. Update all drawings and revisions 
4. Procure and project managing construction 

 

Page 19



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

April 2015 Alexandra Park Cycling 
Reference Group 
established  
 
 

Reference Group included Friends of Alexandra Park, 
Greenway Group and Hastings and Rother Disability 
Forum.  The group provided the design engineers with 
feedback and proposed design modifications.  A 
consultation process was agreed. 
 

15/6/2015-
21/7/2015 

Public consultation, 
including an open day in the 
park. 
 

Consultation was advertised in local press and on 
HBC website.  Consultation feedback was available 
online and through hard copy representation. The 
consultation was fully compliant with HBC procedures 
for public consultations. 
 
A marquee was erected in the park over the weekend 
of 28th June 2015 where the plans of the route were 
on display.  Representatives from the design 
engineers, ESCC and HBC were available to discuss 
the proposals and the consultation with members of 
the public.   
 
 

21/7/2015 Public consultation results  • 177 consultation responses 
o 82 for and 84 against 
o 1 petition against 

 
Summary of key concerns from the public consultation 
were: 

• Public safety 
• Enhanced and effective signage 
• Enforcement 

 
4/1/2016 Cabinet considers the 

proposal to implement a 
cycle route in Alexandra 
Park 
  

Consultation responses were collated and 
summarised for Cabinet in January 2016. 
 
Cabinet unanimously agrees recommendations to 
support the provision of a cycle route. 
 

16/2/2016 Planning Statement on 
Permitted Development 
 

HBC Principal Planning Officer advised the intended 
works were permitted development under the 
provisions of Schedule 2, Part 12, Class A of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015, therefore 
planning permission was not required.  This planning 
advise was reconfirmed by the council’s Planning 
Services Manager in June 2022. 
 

On-going 
since 2016  

Question and Answers on 
the HBC website 
maintained  
 

Key Q&A available on the council’s website and are 
updated 

20/3/2017 ESCC presented proposal 
to Lead Member for 

The meeting proposed a review of the scheme to 
consider an alignment of the route to run along St. 

Page 20



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Transport and Environment 
with recommendation to 
proceed to detailed design 
and construction, with 
support from HBC 
 

Helens Road.  
 
 

June 2018 ESCC Lead Member for 
Transport and Environment 
review of the alternative 
alignment proposal along St 
Helens Road 

ESCC reported back to Lead Member for Transport 
and Environment the recommendation of the St. 
Helens Road alternative alignment review.  
 
It stated that such a proposal would: 

• require significant footway widening (due to the 
proximity of the existing spiked railings protected by 
Historic England),  

• create risks with bus users,  
• require the removal of 37 trees,  
• require removal of parking at the lower section of St 

Helens Road.  
 
Approval was given to proceed the scheme through to 
detailed design and construction and to proceed with 
original alignment presented in March 2017. 
 

2019 Safety Audit A detailed design safety audit completed by East 
Sussex County Council.  The route is designed to 
ensure all users can access the route as existing to 
accord with the ‘Inclusive Mobility’ design guidance 
and the Equality Act 2010. 
 
A Stage 1 Safety Audit was conducted by the design 
consultants in 2018. 
 
A second, combined Stage 1 and Stage 2 Safety 
Audit was completed by East Sussex Highways, 
through Jacobs consultants and approved by ESCC in 
January 2020. 
 

February 
2018 

Equalities Impact 
Assessment 

ESCC produced an Equalities Impact Assessment for 
the route and assessed how each protected 
characteristic is considered should the proposed 
shared facility be introduced in Alexandra Park. In 
each instance, positive and negative impacts are 
considered, and where negative impacts are stated, 
mitigation measures have been presented within the 
assessment. Those measures are reflected in the 
scheme plans. 
 

2020/21 ESCC conversion of 
footway at Strood Road to 
cycle path 

The Cycle Track Order (CTO) for the short section of 
footpath along Strood Road was advertised in July 
2021. The advertisement generated many objections. 
Most comments objected to the premise of cycling 

Page 21



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

through the park on safety grounds. Any objections to 
the advertisement would need to be submitted to the 
Secretary of State (SoS) in accordance with Cycle 
Tracks Act 1984, for consideration as to whether they 
would require written assessment or a Public Inquiry.  
The caseworker for the SoS confirmed that, from 
experience, many CTOs proceed to a Public Inquiry.  
 
Preparing for and attending a Public Inquiry requires 
considerable officer resource and would impact on the 
delivery of other aspects of the team’s wider work 
remit. There would also be a considerable expense 
incurred (for example, legal preparation, venue, hiring 
of expert witnesses etc) associated with this process 
which would have to be funded by the County 
Council. Therefore, it is not considered to be an 
appropriate use of the County Council’s resources 
and available funding to proceed with this process.  
An alternative option has been proposed for this short 
section which would involve the installation of ‘cyclist 
dismount’ signs at the proposed section at Strood 
Road alongside retaining its current status. Subject to 
implementation, this will be monitored over a 12-
month period to see how effective this is and whether 
it requires further enforcement.  
 

2020/21 ESCC conversion of 
footway at Dordrecht Way 
to cycle path 

A legal notice was required to allow cycling on the  
pavement to allow cyclists to cross Dordrecht Way.  
 
This was approved by Lead Member for Transport 
and Environment at her decision-making meeting in 
September 2020.  
 

 
 
 

Page 22



 
 
 
 

 Report Template v28.0 
 

 
 

Report to: Cabinet 
 
Date of Meeting: 4th January 2016 
 
Report Title: Proposed designated Cycle Route in Alexandra Park 
 
Report By: Mike Hepworth 
 Assistant Director Environment and Place 
 
Purpose of Report 

Outline the results of the consultation on the East Sussex County Council funded 
proposals for providing a cycling route through Alexandra Park, and agree the 
recomendation to be made to the Borough Council Cabinet. 
 
Recommendation(s) 

1. Hastings Borough Council agree to a shared cycle route through Alexandra 
Park in principle subject to East Sussex County Council:-                                                       
a,  Removing the proposed route in front of the café;                                         
b,  Fully reviewing the results of the consultation and incorporating measures 
such as those listed below where practicable;                                                    
c,  Maximising the numbers of signs, bollards, finger posts and surface 
markings to ensure safety concerns are fully considered and addressed 
through appropriate measures implemented in the final design of the route;                                                                                                                        
d,  Where appropriate, using different coloured surfacing as a safety feature;                                
e,  Using clearer signage where the route merges or crossess with existing 
footpaths;                                                                                                                  
f,  Using cyclists dismount signs at appropriate locations;                                           
g,  Providing cycle racks at appropriate locations.  

2. Hastings Borough Council publicly thank everyone who responded to the 
consultation, and in particular the participants of the Reference Group for 
informing the pre-consultation design process.  

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

Cycling is recognised as a key health benefit and provision of cycling facilities is 
supported by Government.  Hastings Borough Council's Development Management 
Plan identifies a number of proposed cycle routes in the town, one of which is the route 
through Alexandra Park.  East Sussex County Council are supportive of the route and 
will fully fund its implementation.  Extensive consultation has been undertaken to inform 
the details of the final scheme.  
 
 

 

Page 23



Report Template v28.0 
 

 
 

 

Introduction 

1. Successive Governments have recognised the health benefits of cycling and 
encouraged Local Authorities to look at ways to increase opportunities for cycling.  
The current proposal is to implement a shared cycling and pedestrian route, using 
existing paths through Alexandra Park to join Silverhill and Queens's Road.   

2. Although the new shared route would pass through Alexandra Park, which is 
owned, managed and maintained by the Borough Council, the route through the 
park has been designed by consultants appointed by East Sussex County Council, 
and the cost of installing the new route would also be funded by the County 
Council. 

3. If Hastings Borough Council approves the principle of the proposed route, the 
County Council will instruct their consultants to refine and complete the design in 
light of feedback from the public consultation and the Borough Council's comments, 
and set a timetable for delivery of the project. 

Policy Framework  

4. It should be noted that the provision of a cycle route through and within Alexandra 
Park is a strategic policy ambition of the Borough Council.  The Hastings Local 
Plan, the Hastings Planning Strategy 2011 - 2028, adopted 19th February 2014, 
identifies a number of routes around the town, including Alexandra Park.  A route 
within Alexandra Park is shown on the key diagram in the Planning Strategy and on 
the policies map.  The Local Plan was subject to extensive consultation and a 
public inquiry prior to adoption. 

5. Policy T3 of the Hastings Planning Strategy states;  

a. The Council will work with East Sussex County Council using the Local 
Transport 3 policy framework and other partners to achieve a more sustainable 
transport future for Hastings.  Particular priority will be given to supporting the 
provision of new and enhanced cycle routes in the town, and in particular, 
supporting the implementation of the strategic cycle network as identified on 
the key diagram and the policies map. 

6. Hastings Council, together with East Sussex Country Council, and Hastings Urban 
Bikes (HUB) produced a Hastings Walking and Cycling Strategy in 2014. The 
strategy provided a supporting document to the County Council's Local Transport 
Plan and the Hastings Local Plan and outlined opportunities for increased walking 
and cycling in the town. 

7. On this basis, the local consultation carried out this summer was not about whether 
there should be a cycle route through Alexandra Park.  It was about how such a 
route should be implemented, and sought feedback on the detailed proposals 
developed by the County Council. 

Page 24



Report Template v28.0 
 

 
 

The proposed route through Alexandra Park 

8. Alexandra Park is a grade 2* listed park as designated by Historic England.  The 
current proposal is for a shared cycling/pedestrian route through the park joining 
Silverhill and Queens Road.  The proposed cycle route follows existing paths.  No 
new routes will be constructed.  It is not a single use cycle lane. 

9. The proposed route does not require planning permission and Historic England did 
not comment as the route follows existing paths in the park.  The provision of 
cycling in a designated route will be compatible with our proposed new parks' bye 
laws.  

10. To progress the route, East Sussex County Council appointed engineering 
consultants to design and deliver the scheme.  The County Council will be 
responsible for project managing and fully funding the implementation of the route 
and associated signage.  The route is identified on the attached plans together with 
the proposed signs.  East Sussex County Council envisages the route will be 
constructed mid to late 2016.  

Consultation 

11. As landowner, Hastings Borough Council undertook a specific consultation exercise 
on the proposed route and accompanying signage, paths, crossing points etc.  As 
mentioned earlier, the consultation was not about the principle of a route through 
the park, it was about the detailed implementation of the route. 

12. In April 2015, we established a Reference Group of interested groups (Friends of 
Alexandra Park, The Greenway Group, The Ramblers Association, Hastings and 
Bexhill Disability Forum, Hastings Urban Bikes) to assess the initial proposals and 
give early feedback to the County Council and their design consultants, Amey, prior 
to the full public consultation.   

13. The Reference Group was able to provide helpful early feedback for the 
consultants prior to full public consultation.  The public consultation took place from 
15th June until 21st August 2015.   

14. We invited comment through our web site, invited comment in person at the 
Community Contact Centre and held a specific consultation event at Armed Forces 
weekend on 28th June 2015, where officers from the Councils and the design 
consultants were available to discuss the proposed route and invite further 
comment. 

15. East Sussex County Council is awaiting the outcome of our Cabinet's consideration 
of the proposals and the results of the public consultation before commissioning 
further work to address the concerns received from the public consultation. 

Consultation Summary  

16. There were 177 single responses to the consultation.  82 responses were identified 
as for and 84 against.   

Page 25



Report Template v28.0 
 

 
 

17. We received one petition with 63 signatories against the proposal.  However, 
instead of stating a single petition statement for signatories to acknowledge and 
add their signature to, it was essentially a collection of comments against the 
proposed route. 

18. Much of the feedback was very detailed and provided a mixture of personal views 
and constructive comments.  However, many related to the same issues, and made 
very similar points.  Therefore a representative selection of comments from the 
consultation feedback is attached as Appendix 1, with Borough Council Officer 
responses to the feedback in the right hand column. 

19. After assessing all the comments, the feedback generally highlighted issues 
around; 

a. public safety 

b. enhanced and effective signage 

c. enforcement 

Discussion 

20. The provision of a cycle route through the park is a key policy priority for the 
Council. 

21. The consultation prompted very strong feelings both for and against the details of 
the proposed route.  The main concerns from opponents of the route focused on 
safety, signage and enforcement, as well as opposing cycling in the park as a 
matter of principle.  Of course, we were not actually seeking views on the latter, 
only on the details of the route. 

22. On the other hand the advocates of the route, in general, felt the benefits 
outweighed the risks and encouraged the Council to approve the proposal.   

23. The proposed route follows existing footpaths.  It is a shared route so cyclists and 
walkers will share the same path.  Cycling will not be allowed on footpaths not 
designated for cycling, and cycling will remain prohibited from the majority of 
footpaths in the park. 

24. A number of respondents to the consultation identified the route in front of the café 
in the lower park as of particular concern, and wished to see this section removed.  
Hastings Borough Council agrees and will require this section of the proposed cycle 
route be removed from the final plans. 

25. In addressing the key concerns from the consultation, Hastings Borough Council 
will require East Sussex County Council to:- 

a. Remove the proposed route in front of the cafe 

b. Fully review the results of the consultation and incorporate measures such as 
those listed below where practicable 

Page 26



Report Template v28.0 
 

 
 

c. Maximise the numbers of signs, bollards, finger posts and surface markings 
and ensure safety concerns are fully considered and appropriate measures 
implemented in the final design of the route 

d. Where appropriate, use different coloured surfacing as a safety feature 

e. Use clearer signage where the route merges or crosses with existing footpaths 

f. Use Cyclists Dismount signs at appropriate locations 

g. Provide cycle racks at appropriate locations.  

26. Hastings Borough Council will fully participate with the County Council and their 
consultant to ensure signage is not only appropriate for the location, but is clearly 
worded and clearly visible to both pedestrians and cyclists using the new route. 

Enforcement 

27. The enforcement of cycling in the park will be a matter for Hastings Borough 
Council.  We propose working with cycle groups to enforce a self-management 
approach to cycling, and to working with park users to highlight and challenge 
unacceptable behaviour by cyclists. 

28. In the initial stages officers will design a programme for the Rangers and Wardens 
to have a heightened presence in the park at specific times to engage with cyclists 
and deter unsafe use.  Cycling outside the designated route would be liable to 
potential Fixed Penalty Notices for contravention of the bye laws. 

29. It is hoped that this proportionate approach of education and enforcement will 
quickly establish behaviours that are compatible with a shared route through the 
park, enabling all to use it with confidence, both pedestrians and cyclists. 

30. Following on from this initial phase of education and enforcement, we will continue 
to monitor how the shared route is used, and should any serious concerns arise, 
we will deploy enforcement staff to address them. 

 

Policy Implications 

Equalities 

31. The Council formed a Reference Group to include a cross section of park users 
and interest groups, including the Hastings and Rother Disability Forum.  The views 
of the reference group informed initial changes to the proposed design.  Further 
public consultation invited views from all sectors of the community.  Those views 
have been passed to ESCC and AMEY for consideration in the final design. 

Risk Management 

32. Safety features such as warning signs and information signs are already integral to 
the design proposals for the route.  The consultation highlighted safety concerns 

Page 27



Report Template v28.0 
 

 
 

which have been passed to ESCC for consideration and inclusion in the final 
designs wherever reasonably practicable.  

Environmental Issues 

33. Promoting cycling as a sustainable form of transport is a key environmental 
consideration nationally and locally.  Promoting cycling conforms to the national 
health agenda for increasing exercise and healthy living, as well as reducing car 
use and fossil fuel consumption. 

Economic and Financial 

34. The route is being fully funded by ESCC.  No contribution is sought from Hastings 
Borough Council.  Whereas the long term maintenance of the path will fall to the 
Borough Council.  However as the route is on existing footpaths that are already 
maintained by the Council, there are no significant implications for the maintenance 
budget 

Local Peoples Views 

35. Local people were invited to comment on the scheme through the consultation 
process facilitated by the Borough Council. 

 

Wards Affected 

Braybrooke, Silverhill 
 

Policy Implications 

Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 
 
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness No 
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  No 
Risk Management     Yes 
Environmental Issues    Yes 
Economic/Financial Implications   No 
Human Rights Act     No 
Organisational Consequences   No 
Local People’s Views    Yes 
Anti-Poverty      No 
 
Additional Information 

Appendix One - Summary of responses to the consultation. 
 

Officer to Contact 

Murray Davidson 
mdavidson @hastings.gov.uk 

Page 28



Report Template v28.0 
 

 
 

01424 - 451107 
 

 

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



1

4

1

2

1

4

6
0

1

4

1

1

4

1

9

4

1

4

1

2

2

0

4

5

4

7

1

9

2

3

C
LO

S
E

2

9

1

5

0

7

5

2

18

1

4

3

1

8

6

1

1

1

1

1

6

4

1

9

1

2

1

3

4

Whyte Cottage

6

4

a

1

4

3

8

6

E

L

P

H

I

N

S

T

O

N

E

 

G

A

R

D

E

N

S

Recreation Ground

4

4

47

4

0

4

0

4

1

3

3

2

7

2

0

1

8

4

W

A

T

E

R

M

E

N

'
S

Allotment Gardens

4

0

E

L

P

H

I

N

S

T

O

N

E

 

R

O

A

D

2

8

1

2

4

2

36.8m

7

0

C

L

O

S

E

3

4

8

8

7

Allotment Gardens

1

5

2

7

2

54.0m

H

E

N

D

E

R

S

O

N

 

C

L

O

S

E

45.1m

1

5

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

A

B

B

O

T

S

F

I

E

L

D

D

O

W

N

S

 

R

O

A

D

3

8

.

6

m

E

l

 

S

u

b

 

S

t

a

3

2

4

8

B

E

N

E

N

D

E

N

 

R

I

S

E

2

5

1

0

9

5

2

7

2

4

9
2

A

S

H

F

O

R

D

 

W

A

Y

2

7

1

4

1

7

Sta

9
1

5

6

0

5

7

STREAMSIDE CLOSE

3

6

1

5

2

4

1

3

1

3

5

5

4

1

3

8

1

2

DRIVE

6

7

1

2

3

7

1

2

4

6

9

6

4

1

2

7

El

1

0

3

1

1

6

8

Sub

B

A

I
R

D

2

6

5

7

42.7m

P

A

R

K

 

R

O

A

D

2

9

S
T

 
H

E
L
E

N

'
S

2

1

2

3

1

1

4

Sub Sta

Hardrada

4

0

6

3

LB

El

7

7

1

5

8

2

5

2

7

1

1

6

B

I
R

C

H

 
W

A

Y

3

4

9

5

9

2

9

7

8

4

8

7

0

1

4

4

7

4

7

7

4

El

6

9

1

2

5

4

2

A

S

H

F

O

R

D

 

R

O

A

D

8
9

1

4

1
3
5

B

I

R

C

H

 

W

A

Y

1

3

3

2

1

1

1

2

1

2

5

a

1

1

7

1

Sub Sta

1

2

7

3

4

1

5

6

3

7
5

4

2

1

0

2

P

A

R

K

 

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

T

1

5

6

1

7

4

Playground

5

5

T

h

e

 

C

o

a

c

h

o

u

s

e

For Watermen

The

Royal Cottage Homes

E

D

 

&

 

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

C

R

Fallowfield

3

H

A

R

D

R

A

D

A

 

R

I

S

E

1

4

4

4

4

4

3

Pond

1
7
8

Sinks

8
8

60.0m

m

a

s

o

n

r

y

LB

S

l

o

p

i

n

g

1

1

8

1

Alexandra Park

3

2

2

8

43.9m

2

3

1

4

8

Pond

39.0m

7

a

1

1

5

1

3

1
1
3

2

6

Issues

1

4

2

5

1

6

4

S

T

 
H

E

L

E

N

'
S

 
R

O

A

D

Sinks

1

1

7

1

9

5

1
7
2

5
2

Sub Sta

Issues

LB

1
0
8

1

1

1

9

0

8
9

P

A

R

K

 

W

A

Y

7

P

a

t

h

1

1

9

2

1

6

6

TCB

El

Posts

P

A

R

K

 

V

I

E

W

3

8

1

8

1

2

5

1
0
1

9
8

2

2

C

L

O

S

E

1

2

0

1

8

4

L

A

N

C

I

N

G

6
1
a

35.3m

2

1
0

9

9

80

32

68

1
3
4

70.6m

S
E

D
L
E

S
C

O
M

B
E

 
R

O
A

D
 
N

O
R

T
H

4

3

7

54

1

3

B

R

I
E

R

S

 
A

V

E

N

U

E

1

5

2

7

5

3

1

1

16

97 to 119

3

4

Issues

7

5

7

61

1
1
9

LB

1

4

58

9

NORMANDY ROAD

77 to 95

1

8

1

53

18

78

62

1
1
4

8

8

5

1

PH

61

Issues

58

48

40

6

1

Sinks

1

9

5

68.6m

El Sub Sta

70.1m

B
U

R
R

Y
 R

O
A

D

7

1

70

6

0

9

1
1
1

TCB

5

2

a

1
2
2

1

9

1

28

1
0
1

48

57a

9

35

K

I

N

G

 

E

D

W

A

R

D

 

C

L

O

S

E

B

R

I

E

R

S

 

G

A

R

D

E

N

S

65.6m

El Sub

8

0

75

2

1

7

K

I
N

G

 
E

D

W

A

R

D

 
A

V

E

N

U

E

1
0
4

68.9m

2

3

7

2

2

2

1

1

5

7

Sta

8

8

5

0

Church

Pentecostal

St Leonards

1

3

a

1
3
3

32

1
4
1

3

1

3

1

a

S

P

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

C

P

5
5

5
3

1

1

Sluice

Stone

D Fn

Sluice

2

5

El Sub Sta

4

0

3

3

Primary School

6

3

8

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

T

Spring

26.4m

Sluice

LB

Depot

3

0

.

8

m

8

0

1

3

6

1

6

7
7

1

0

6

49.2m

41.4m

Dr McCabe's

6

6

1

0

P

A

R

K

 

D

R

I

V

E

8

2

1

0

1

1

2

1

2

7

PC

8
7

1

2

3

Gardens

Sub Sta

Allotment Gardens

U

n

i
t

e

d

4

1

8

2

4

6

Kanchenchunga

2
4

3

5

2

3

5

7

8

SILVERHILL

7

1

60.3m

2

9

4

0

5

9

1

9

71.8m

1

7

El

41.4m

65

79

1

6

2

4

8

2

4

6

3

4

9

5

0

11

2

1

36

A

L

M

A

 
T

E

R

R

A

C

E

2
a

7
9
b

2

1

3

8

El

61

6

4

.
0

m

3

2

4

0

4

4

4

7

3

2

4

4

2

7

9

a

Sub Sta

S

t

 

L

u

k

e

'
s

Pond

8

8

1

6

4

a

4

4

5

B

E

A

U

F

O

R

T

 R

O

A

D

3

9

Bus Depot

Allotment

E

V

E

R

S

L

E

Y

 
R

O

A

D

5
7
.
8
m

7

6

E

V

E

R

S

L

E

Y

 

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

T

59.8m

Tanks

1

0

Depot

A

l

m

a

 

C

o

u

r

t

34

7

2

24

3

2

1

9

a

1

1

3

7

1

.
3

m

2

2

66.1m

6

5

.
7

m

4

7

1
 to

 9
6

7

7

1

2

1

2

Gospel Hall

1

9

Stone

5

a

Stone

6

7

Tennis Courts

1

0

4

Thorpe's Wood

3

74.3m

1
7

1

8

7

27

1
4

S

E

L

M

E

S

T

O

N

4

a

5

Stone

Pavilion

1

2

2

0

G
AR

D
EN

S

1

1

9

a

66.9m

N

e

i

l

s

o

n

 

C

o

u

r

t

A

m

h
e
r
s
t G

a
r
d
e
n
s

Stone

1

Tennis

4

3

1

5

1

0

8

65

29

Horntye Park

3

7

A

M

H

E

R

S

T
 C

L
O

S

E

51

1

39.3m

Leisure Centre

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

T

El

6

9

1

0

3

2

1

2

1

4

3

FB

Thorpe's Wood

4

2

41.2m

1

1

4

4

6

6

3

4

1

1

1

a

7

7

1

8

1

1

2

3

1

4

1

8

5

6

1

7

5

2

2

Stone

BOHEMIA

Club

B

O

H

E

M

I

A

 

R

O

A

D

1

6

8
6

FB

72

8

H

a

l

l

76.5m

55.3m

Posts

2

0

1

8

2

5

5

0

20

54

3

7

1

5

Hall

4

9

1

7

5

9

6

1

a

Stone

1

3

PH

2

6

1

0

0

1

3

9

E

l

 

S

u

b

 

S

t

a

TCB

2

6

9

1

3

1

4

4

9

7

7

a

1

1

7

8

9

Buckshole Reservoir

1

3

2

8

1

6

F

i

l

t

e

r

 

B

e

d

1

1

El

69

3

7

23.7m

9

1

0

2

5

1

1

3

0

3

0

Allotment

U

P

P

E

R

 

S

O

U

T

H

 

R

O

A

D

2

Station

78.0m

Yard

1

4

2

2

6

3

6

68

3

6

1

0

1

56

5

4

1

a

2

7

81

48.6m

Allotment Gardens

4

1

3

4

5

7

5

4

2

1

3

Kynance

8

FB

9

2

FB

8

7

5

F

i

l

t

e

r

 

B

e

d

1

0

5

1

1

1

Harmer's Reservoirs

(chalybeate)

31.0m

Alexandra Park

1

4

2

1

4

9

1

6

4

2

8

6

9

20.9m

Cottages

1

4

Burnside

2

P

A

R

K

 

V

I

E

W

P

A

R

K

6

Pumping

1

9

1

5

6

Buckshole

Stone

Sluice

Well

Stone

B

U

R

R

Y

 

R

O

A

D

1

5

1

El

1

5

9

.

6

m

8

1

2

2

Sub

1

2

3

1

2

Surgery

59.6m

4

8

2

2

2

5

Sub Sta

7

Y

O

R

K

 
R

O

A

D

1

7

6

Gardens

2

7

9

0

1

8

E

V

E

R

S

L

E

Y

 

C

L

O

S

E

(

P

H

)

1

2

Chellwood

6

Depot

C

h

u

r

c

h

BEAUFORT CRESCENT

9

1

P

a

t
h

2

5

Shornedene

1

c

S

T

R

O

O

D

 
R

O

A

D

Alexandra

3

6

1

9

3

3

12

56

4

2

2

9

3

0

Sub Sta

2

S

E

D

L

E

S

C

O

M

B

E

 

R

O

A

D

 

N

O

R

T

H

7

9

2

6

29

6

2

3

2

2

A

L

M

A

 
V

I
L

L

A

S

1

3

4

9

.

4

m

VALE ROAD

Sta

1

b

E

V

E

R

S

L

E

Y

7

2

6

1

Post

LB

75

5

1

6

1

1

R

o

b

i
n

 
M

e

w

s

R

e

f

o

r

m

e

d

1

 

t

o

 

3

13

2

4

B
e
a
u
fo

r
t C

o
u
r
t

5

5

1

2

62.0m

P

l

a

y

g

r

o

u

n

d

7

0

1

1

1

3

1

2

7

0

El Sub Sta

9

4

a

1

Newgate Wood

9

9

Tennis Court

5

Newgate Reservoir

39

Court

37a

St Paul's C of E School

23

5

7

2

9

a

Shornden Wood

8

1

1

26.0m

1

C

L

O

S

E

A

M

H

E

R

S

T

El Sub Sta

8

2

1

7

Mast

1

4

1

4

3

1

1

5

7

a

1

9

15

4

(covered)

1

8

39.4m

B

r

i
s

c

o

'
s

 

W

a

l
k

74.9m

5

4

1

A

M

H

E

R

S

T

 

R

O

A

D

2

3

1

L

B

6

6

2

Church

2

5

1

0

3

2

8

4

4

3

8

3

Bohemia

8

6

3

6

Welcome

2

7

7

6

2

1

Court

6

Lodge

2

5

67.7m

1

1

A

M

H

E

R

S

T

1

3

5

71.9m

3

5

46.9m

2

6

6

9

2
7
9

3

3

9

5

9

1

0

59.1m

3

2

3

6

8

1

9

1
4
2

1
4
6

4

3

H

O

R

N

T

Y

E

 

R

O

A

D

C

R

A

N

B

R

O

O

K

 

R

O

A

D

2
8
7

1

4

6

4

1

3

3

S

T

 

P

E

T

E

R

'

S

 

R

O

A

D

4

9

3

0

1

6

3

1

L
O

N

D

O

N

 
R

O

A

D

Silverstone

66

4

4

2

4

Sluice

TCBs

1

2

3

6

3

8

T

O

W

E

R

 

R

O

A

D

 

W

E

S

T

S

A

L

I

S

B

U

R

Y

 

R

O

A

D

1

3

7

1

0

3

3

2
6
9

1

5

2
7
1

8

9

2

4

9

C

L

A

R

E

N

C

E

 

R

O

A

D

2

5

2

7

1

1

1

3

2

A

L

D

B

O

R

O

U

G

H

 

R

O

A

D

2

0

2

6

1

2

2

1

0

1

8

3

7

Coach

1

2

4

4

The

Bank

Old

1

2

4

6

1

1

0

6

4

0

5

4

1

5

E

l

m

w

o

o

d

57.0m

1
5
2

4

0

5

5

Shornden Wood

2

9

9

2

9

58.8m

61.9m

S

P

R

I

N

G

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

2

2

8

2

7

8

2

1

1

59.3m

1

3

1

3

Stone

G

a

r

a

g

e

1

4

a

1

4

b

1

0

8

3

1

2

4

2

1

2
5
3

ROAD

T

O

W

E

R

 

R

O

A

D

N

O

R

T

H

 

R

O

A

D

5

4

1

7

3

4

58.7m

S

T

 

P

A

U

L

'

S

 

R

O

A

D

53.8m

1

5

3

3

5

2

2

1

4

6

6

1

2

9

a

2
6
7

2
8
9
 
t
o
 
2
9
7

1

4

2
4
9

1

3

5

3

0

2
4
7

1

1

9

5

C of E

6

1

3

1

1

L

O

W

E

R

 

S

O

U

T

H

 

R

O

A

D

1

9

Shornden Reservoir

1

1

3

9

4

7

House

Bungalow

5

1

7

1

64.5m

1

9

2

70.9m

4

N

E

W

G

A

T

E

 

R

O

A

D

1

1

0

(

P

H

)

3

1

1

1

3

0

52.9m

1
3
8

60.1m

3

6

1

1

2

1

0

a

Christchurch

1

8

N

o

r

t

h

 

S

t

a

r

3

4

2

3

3

4

7

Shelter

4

1

S

T

 
M

A

T

T

H

E

W

'
S

 
D

R

I
V

E

3

5

2

2

7

4

1

1

6

6

4

1

6

2

9

3

C

O

R

N

F

I

E

L

D

 

T

E

R

R

A

C

E

I

U

P

P

E

R

 

P

A

R

K

 

R

O

A

D

York Road Business Centre

D

A

 t
o

 C

2
5

5

a

1
1

LB

2
1

B
U

C
H

A
N

A
N

 
G

A
R

D
E

N
S

1
5

7

1

Sta

El

Sub

Horntye Park

S

h

o

r

n

d

e

n

 

P

a

s

s

a

g

e

2

7

2

1

9

4

1

P

A

S

H

L

E

Y

G

A

R

D

E

N

S

Buildings

Tower

1

6

Wakehurst

2

2

V

i

a

 

M

a

r

c

e

l

l

o

Court

1

4

3

2

a

1

a

2

6

4

b

S

a

l

i

s

b

u

r

y

 

M

e

w

s

1

5

3

4

4

2

9

6

7

4

0

1

3

2

3

6

8

5

4

4

3

8

York Road

Buildings

8

0

1

3

4

a

U

n

d

C

R

C

P

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

F

F

C

S

C

R

D

e

f

C

F

C

P

E

D

 

&

 

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

U

n

d

C

H

C

P

C

W

C

F

C

H

C

R

C

F

E

D

 

&

 

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

C

W

C

F

F

W

C

F

U

n

d

C

F

T

E

N

N

I

S

 

C

L

O

S

E

1

3

The

Hideaway

The Last One

1

6

7

1

Vallegrande

4

E

D

 
&

 
W

a
r
d
 
B

d
y

CR

C

R

Heather Heights

4

3

Hastings

Weirs

Weirs

Peace Garden

Weirs

7

1
3
2

1
3
6

1
3
4

3

 

t

o

 

5

1
4
4

Stone

El Sub Sta

9
4

9

3

9

3

a

7

a

9

6

6

b

T

h

e

 

O

l

d

 

F

o

r

g

e

7

6

a

e
 t
o
 g

Builders

1

3

0

V

a

l

e

 

C

o

u

r

t

(

c

o

v

e

r

e

d

)

R

e

s

e

r

v

o

i

r

LB

E

l

Pond

El

FB

TCB

Sub Sta

9

1

8

7

2

2

56

1
2

1

3

8

1

1
0
4

1
0
6

5

2

6

1

2

1

1

32

1

8

29

4

5

73

29

6

9

9

5

4

9

21

6

8

67

57

1

4
4

7

43

65

1

0

7

3

5

0

2

1

0

7

2

65

6
7

9

S

M

54

FB

86

2

7

6

2

27

2

0

4

41

68

4

7

68

2

2

5

4

64

4

5

69

2

0

5

1

2

1

8

4

8
6

6

35

8

1

1

3

6

1

4

4

2

4

51

33

3

1

1

19

4

2

8

2

1
0
9

2

3

42

2

1

6

1

1

9

7

11

2

8

59

61

8

31

2

6

42a

3

0

1

1

8

2

6

82

1

6

2

2

1

P

e

n

t

e

c

o

s

t

a

l

1

2

Surgery

LB

27

1

0

El

PH

1

0

2

39

75

4

7

8

6

0

1 to 47

7

3

24

6

3

55

43

19

4

6

61

2

34

1

7

2

0

8

63

7

1

33

1

6

3

4

2

2

66

7

42

7

1

36

5

4

62

75

44

1

2

2

30

64

6

2

0

39.3m

3

23

4

3

5

5

9

4

6

25

4

2

6

2

4

1

3

3

0

Shelter

7

9

4

7
7

8
7
a

25.2m

17

C

h
u
r
c
h

2

8

1

3

1

5

1

6

3

2
5
a

2

El Sub Sta

2

3

Garage

2

5

33.0m

BEACONSFIELD ROAD

B

A

L

D

S

L

O

W

 

R

O

A

D

G
a
ra

g
e

LB

3

6

4

7

2

8

1

1

9 to 11

4

8

5

1

2

21

5

4

13

39.5m

9

28.1m

6
5

7

G

a
ra

g
e

1

1

9

26

6

Court

2

2

5

K

E

P

P

E

L

 
R

O

A

D

Warwick

31.5m

47.8m

H

U

G

H

E

N

D

E

N

 R

O

A

D

24

1

8

20

H

o
u
s
e

3

2

40

3

6

P

L

E

A

S

A

N

T

 
R

O

A

D

H
U

G
H

E
N

D
E

N
 
P

L
A

C
E

33.2m

E

L

P

H

I

N

S

T

O

N

E

 

A

V

E

N

U

E

L

A

T

O

N

 
R

O

A

D

S
T

 
H

E
L
E

N
'
S

 
P

A
R

K
 
R

O
A

D

7a

S

M

F

E

A

R

O

N

2

10

6

3

28.8m

35

6

1

6

1

E
L

P
H

I
N

S
T

O
N

E
 
R

O
A

D

BLACKLANDS

C

L

O

S

E

19.7m

W

A

L

D

E

N

E

23.9m

D
r
a
i
n

4
6

5

6

Sta

Sub

R

O

A

D

H
u
g
h
e
n
d
e
n
 C

o
u
rt

B

L
A

C

K

L
A

N

D

S

 D

R

IV

E

2

2

B

e

v

e

r

l

e

y

 

W

a

l

k

28

E
L
P

H
I
N

S
T

O

N
E

24.1m

C

h

u

r

c

h

E

l

 

S

u

b

 

S

t

a

9

5

1

M

O

U

N

T

A

V

E

N

U

E

32

Sinks

O

R

C

H

A

R

D

 

C

L

O

S

E

34.0m

30

E

l
i
m

4
0

1

1

44.0m

L

I

N

L

E

Y

 

D

R

I

V

E

1

5

E

L

P

H

I
N

S

T

O

N

E

 
A

V

E

N

U

E

E

l
i
m

 

W

a

l
k

Ponbay Bridge

B

R

O

O

K

L

A

N

D

 
C

L

O

S

E

LB

W
O

O
D

B
R

O
O

K
 
R

O
A

D

5

1
a

1

5

4

El Sub Sta

80

3

3

6

1

a

15

8

2

8

9

1

5

1

0

2

9

6

5

5

1

0

26.3m

2

6

2
5

C

h

r

i

s

t

 

C

h

u

r

c

h

4

1

S

T

 

H

E

L

E

N

'

S

 

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

T

S

u

b

 

S

t

a

War

4

7

b

1

1

5

77

4

4

6

2

9

D

r

a

i
n

1

4

4

2

1

5

a

1

4

W

in

d

s

o

r
 P

la

c

e

Vicarage

1

5

1

1

1

4

1

2

9

1
5

H
O

L
E

 F
A

R
M

 C
L
O

S
E

3

3

.

1

m

25.3m

4

1

7

5

2

3

3

0

4

S

E

D

G

E

B

R

O

O

K

 

G

A

R

D

E

N

S

7

4
7

7

2

0

26

3

9

S

c

h

o

o

l

1

5

M

A

N

S

T

O

N

 
W

A

Y

P

E

G

W

E

L

L

 

C

L

O

S

E

1

3

76

1

T

h

e

 

M

a

r

t

l

e

t

s

3

2

16.1m

4

0

5
0

6
2

16

1

2

5

1

4

2

4
7

1

6

1

1

8
1

1

9

4

3

1

4

1

0

1

2

0

E

l
 
S

u

b

 
S

t
a

1

4

6

3

1

Meml

14

1

0

1
0

1

2

2

2

4

1

3

10

9

P

a

t

h

1
4

S

T

 

H

E

L

E

N

'

S

 

P

A

R

K

 

R

O

A

D

S

T

 

H

E

L

E

N

'

S

 

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

T

2

2
0
a

78

C

L
O

S

E

8
8

1

7

3

2

2

8
3

1

7

Alexandra Park Mansions

1 to 6

3

2

6

1

1

 

t

o

 

1

3

7

5

6
9

2

9

2

0

El Sub Sta

1
2

T

H

A

N

E

T

 

W

A

Y

9

Kenrith Court

1

9

2
3

3

0

1 to 125

1

2

9

1

 to

 4

1

1

2

14

3

1

1

2

2

S

T

 
H

E

L

E

N

'S

 
C

O

U

R

T

12

6

1

3

3

1

4

1

5

18.2m

A
S

H
F

O
R

D
 
R

O
A

D

5

1

O
S

B
O

R
N

E
 
C

L
O

S
E

25

23

9

23

12

7

 to

 1

2

2

2

Sub Sta

2

3

S

u

n

d

a

y

2

8

2
0

6
1

2

6

3
1

1

t

o

1

2

27

El

1

5

2

34

16

Sub Sta

TCB

5
9

7
4

1
0

4

40

24

1

15

1
9
a

21

12

19

17

20

FRESHW
ATER A

VENUE

17

22

11

3

1

T
E

N
T

E
R

D
E

N
 R

IS
E

16

5

9

5

5

a

8
5

18

3

4

19

1

7

1

5

1

8

1

7

5

L

a

 

M

a

r

n

e

 

C

o

u

r

t

5

5

3

B

R

A

D

I
N

G

2

A
S

H
F

O
R

D
 
W

A
Y

28

7.4m

1

2

2

3

8.4m

33.3m

15.8m

2
e

8

2

0

2

d

1

2

War

1

5

.

3

m

1

3

0

C

L

O

S

E

5

2

S

l

u

i

c

e

2

9

6

7

S

u

b

w

a

y

1
4
7

1

1

T

h

e

 

C

o

a

c

h

H

o

u

s

e

3

5

4

4

2

B

r
i
t
a

n

n

i
a

 
E

n

t
e

r
p

r
i
s

e

 
C

e

n

t
r
e

SP

1

7

24

10.7m

1
4
5

The Annexe

2

1

4

.

5

Saxonhurst

Queens

Memorial

2

2

Royal Court

d

1 to 17

MP 82

El Sub Sta

1

3

0

3

6

15.8m

4

1

1

4

8

El Sub Sta

S

h

e

l

t

e

r

2

9

4

8

Dam

2

9

LB

Dam

1

3

5

1

3

0

a

1

Stone

6

1

4

2

4

2
1

4

7

1

2

Pond

1

2

5

5

9

2
g

Sluice

1

2

9

Lyndhurst

6

4

1

2

Quarry

Cottage

LB

6

1

3

6

1

7

Playground

1
1
8

2
0

6

0

1

1

Lodge

5

8

S

h

e

l

t

e

r

1

24.9m

15.3m

2
c

6

9

1

4

0

1

2

1
1
1
7

1

7

S

h

e

l
t

e

r

6

R
O

A
D

Boating Lake

PH

FB

El Sub Sta

E
L
P

H
I
N

S
T

O
N

E

Juglans

Arden

1

7

Pond

10.6m

1

3

1

1

S

H

E

R

W

O

O

D

E

l

 

S

u

b

 

S

t

a

Three Ways

S

h

e

r

w

o

o

d

 

H

o

u

s

e

TCB

11.1m

PCs

Bowling Green

M
o
u
n
t P

le
a
sa

n
t C

re
sce

n
t

1

5

2
h

1

5

a

1
1

4

0

1

2

4

5

1

2

8

3

3

5

5

23

1

5

1
0

S

M

2

2

3

1

3

5

3

2

1

1

4

1
2

3

0

2

2

1
1

4

1

2
f

2

3

a

1

4

22

6

1

1

3

6

1

4

1

4

2

2

Q

U

A

R

R

Y

 

R

O

A

D

1

8

15.4m

3

2

C

r

o

m

e

r

 

W

a

l

k

2

7

TCBs

1

3

0

1

9

8

5

6

8

7

3

4

1

3

9

0

2

9

8

1

7

Bandstand

Dam

4

4

1

32

1

1

16.1m

2

8

3

6

8

2

5

6

TCB

THE

2

8

2

1

T

R

E

S

S

E

L

L

 

C

L

O

S

E

53.4m

8

1

0

2

7

1

41

3
0

48.8m

7

7

R

O

B

E

R

T

C

L

O

S

E

4

4

8

3

0

7

3

1

1

0

0

P

I

L

T

D

O

W

N

3
3

5

18.9m

4

F
i
v
e
 
A

c
r
e
 
W

a
l
k

1

8

2

2

1

9

1

Allotment Gardens

8

3

Stone

8

8

2

1
2

4a

9

4

2

6

0

1

5

2

8

A

M

H

E

R

S

T

 
R

O

A

D

7

8

1

LB

El Sub Sta

Shelter

2

LB

1

1

4

2

7

29

1
4

6

1

9

2

6

2

7

1

5

12.4m

5

6

.
9

m

3

0

7

W

Y

K

E

H

A

M

 

R

O

A

D

2

0

1

0

0

9

3

Dam

52.9m

Dam

7

3

1

1

5

7

7

7

9

0

5

2

8

1

COURTYARD

9

3

El Sub Sta

3

7

9

Alexandra Park

5

9

Dam

LB

PCs

6

5

FB

FB

5

8

89

1

0

2

0

Dam

Stone

Dam

17.4m

Stone

7

2

5

0

Dam

30

1

Dam

16.1m

6

2

3

4

2

7

4

T
H

E
 C

O
P

P
IC

E

Tennis Courts

5

3

2

16.2m

1

0

6

6

1

6

Stones

P

R

I
O

R

Y

2

2

P

R

I
O

R

Y

 
C

L

O

S

E

7

1

7

3

1

4

7

5

5

5

FB

7

0

4

6

18

2

2

6

31

T

H

E

 

S

P

I

N

N

E

Y

53.1m

1

5

1

3

7

5

11

4

0

10

Vicarage

1

1

Dam

El

7

2

8

1

7

6

F

O

R

E

S

T

 

W

A

Y

16.8m

A

V

E

N

U

E

Dam

6

R

a

m

p

HouseBridge

5
5
b

2

a

Alexandra and Clive Vale

Bowls Clubs

2

6

C

R

ED &
 W

ard
 B

dy

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

CR

CF

C

H

C
P

C
R

C

W

C

F

C

F

C
R

C

F

C
P

CF

C
F

FW

CW

C

F

CF

F
W

C

W

C

F

C

W

CW

FW

C

F

C

R

C

W

C
F

F
W

C

S

C
F

C
H

EK

F

W

C

F

CW

ED & Ward Bdy

E
D

 
&

 
W

a
r
d
 
B

d
y

C

W

F

W

C

H

C

F

C

H

C

W

C

H

C

W

F

W

E

D

 

&

 

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

C

F

C

R

E

D

 &

 W

a

r
d

 B

d

y

S
t M

a
rks

U
nited R

eform
ed C

hurch

8a

W

A

T

E

R

W

O

R

K

S

 
R

O

A

D

El Sub Sta

3
3

The Pocket Park

F

o

x

 

W

a

l

k

B

E

A

T

R

IC

E

 C

L

O

S

E

1

1

4

3

4

L

B

Tennis Courts

D

e

f

C

P

5

2

1

1

2

3

1

5

1

5

4

 

t

o

 

2

0

0

Richards Court

7

ARK Blacklands

Primary Academy

1

 

t

o

 

6

1

6

27

Stone

FB

Q

u

a

r

r

y

 

T

e

r

r

a

c

e

Sports Court

Tennis Court

1

7

2

M

a

u

d

l
i
n

 

C

o

u

r

t

3

8

El Sub Sta

2

a

4

9

1

2

1

8

5

Spreads

1

0

2

8

2

3
9

LB

5
1

1

6

3

1

1

1

Pond

Police Station

1

1
6

1

1

1

4

3

5

4

6

1

1

3

2

0

7

4

1

4

0

3

0

a

46.7m

9

24

2

D

E

 
C

H

A

M

 
A

V

E

N

U

E

5

0

1

1

5

Shelter

Cottage

69.4m

47.6m

2

1

 t
o

 1

7

2

9

a

3

7

8

1

0

1

8

 t
o

 2

8

1
4

65.1m

Summerfields House

5

5

8

5

1

R

o

o

f

 

C

a

r

 

P

a

r

k

S

t

r

e

a

t

f

e

i

l

d

B

a

y

e

u

x

 

C

o

u

r

t

8

4

Shelter

65.4m

4

2

FS

5

H

O

R

N

T

Y

E

 

P

A

R

K

Summer Fields

El Sub Sta

6

0

2

7

6

8

1

2

5

2

58.1m

1

8

11

1

4

5

2

9

 t
o

 3

9

W
I
N

T
E

R
B

O
U

R
N

E
 
C

L
O

S
E

1
2

4

8

59.3m

6
4

Shelter

65.3m

W

I

N

T

E

R

B

O

U

R

N

E

 

C

L

O

S

E

B

A

R

N

F

I
E

L

D

B

O

H

E

M

I

A

 

R

O

A

D

3

0

1

3

1

2

C

o

u

n

c

i

l

 

O

f

f

i

c

e

s

Fire Station

B

r

i

s

c

o

'

s

 

W

a

l

k

Tk

V

E

R

D

A

N

T

 

C

L

O

S

E

3

6

C
L
O

S
E

5

7

1

5

2

Cricket Ground

2

5

65.4m

1
4

County Court and

1
0

C

H

A

M

 
R

O

A

D

6

1

3

2

7

Bohemia

1

9

8

Lych

1

1

3

1

R
O

A
D

3

2

4
9

3

3

1
6

3

7

Filling Station

C

O

R

N

F

I

E

L

D

 

T

E

R

R

A

C

E

4
1

TCB

W

O

O

D

L

A

N

D

 

V

A

L

E

 

R

O

A

D

1

7

9

1
1
4

1

2

9

A

N

G

L

E

S

E

A

 
T

E

R

R

A

C

E

7

5

1

7

0

1

5

6

14 to 25

R

O

A

D

49.0m

B

O

H

E

M

I

A

 

R

O

A

D

4

4

El Sub Sta

53.9m

1

6

1

YMCA

24

St Peter's Church

6

DE CHAM ROAD

3

2

7

52.2m

2
4
3

8

1

7

2

a

1 to 12

House

Baird

3

9

1

9

7

50.1m

53.7m

2

2

1

0

9

LB

2

2

2
1

1

2

1

1

4

3

Dennison

2
0
9
 
t
o
 
2
1
9

6

7

1

1

2

1

3

El Sub Sta

5
6

1

2

C
H

A
P

E
L

 
P

A
R

K
 
R

O
A

D

Gate

War

Sub

33.5m

H

o

u

s

e

Meml

1

6

5

L

O

N

D

O

N

 
R

O

A

D

Hall

El

22

6
6

43.2m

Garage

D

E

 

C

H

A

M

9

8

3

S

T

 

P

E

T

E

R

'

S

 

R

O

A

D

Sta

5

C
L
O

U
D

E
S

L
E

Y
 
R

O

A
D

18

D

E

 
C

H

A

M

Avalon

1

7

7

6

7

2
2
1
 
t
o
 
2
2
9

49.6m

4

4
5
t
o
4
7

1

3

5
8

Badgers

Court

1

4

7

1

5

6

1

6

1

4

1

1

0

 

t

o

 

1

8

4

S

y

c

a

m

o

r

e

s

1

9

 

t

o

 

2

7

Sta

El

Sub

1

 

t

o

 

9

1

1

P

e

m

b

r

o

k

e

P
a
r
k
 
L
a
n
e
 
M

e
w

s

1

 

t

o

 

9

T

h

e

1
 
2

C

o

u

r

t

3

28

30

28a

30a

The Larches

1

 

t

o

 

1

1

12 to 48

Hampden Mews

4

1

Centre

Summerfields

Business

E

D

 

&

 

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

C

P

2
4
1

TCB

Shelter

1

Magistrates Court

2

3

1

LB

SP

7

PH

9

3

2

9

1

8

6

 

t

o

 

8

7

1

7

2

5

1

0

8

1

1

4

a

4

B

R

A

Y

B

R

O

O

K

E

 

R

O

A

D

30.1m

2

6

W

A

L

D

E

G

R

A

V

E

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

5

9

1

4

1

0

1

4

3

0

a

1

0

Car Park

1

7

9

1

3

7

0

1

0

C

O

R

N

W

A

L

L

I

S

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

21.0m

8

2

2

S

T

O

N

E

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

6

8

2

0

3

0

1

4

1

4

4

1

S

T

O

N

E

F

I

E

L

D

 

R

O

A

D

2

2

6

9

2

SB

W

e

l

l

i

n

g

t

o

n

8.1m

4

0

2

3

C

h

u

r

c

h

3

6

1

9

5

7

6

1

0

7

7

1

 

t

o

 

1

2

1

1

1

8

5

S

T

O

N

E

F

I
E

L

D

 
P

L

A

C

E

1

1

0

14.4m

7

7

8

1

1

2

3

2

1

10.4m

C

o

t
t
a

g

e

s

1

7

7

b

5

8

3

3

1

3

24.7m

1

1

5

1

9

7.9m

8

8

1

2

0

2

7

9

4

8

2

5

8

1

7

2

1

2

6

5

0

C

O

R

N

W

A

L

L

I
S

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

1

1

4

1

7

7

House

7

5

1

9

2

7

5

1

3

3

1
5
4

6

2

9

1

6

6

 

t

o

 

6

7

3

1

7

7

a

3

2

8

2

3

LB

1

 
t
o

 
3

1

2

1

B

R

O

O

K

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

PH

1

6

5

3

8

 

t

o

 

4

0

2

3

3

4

9

8

Superstore

3

7

1

1

7

8

1

4

1

8

6

8

1

6

8

6

4

3

1

SP

SP

LB

13.0m

9

4

a

1

3

B

u

s

s

7

5

M

A

N

N

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

5

1

PC

4

7

S

t

 

A

n

d

r

e

w

s

 

M

a

r

k

e

t

L

o

d

g

e

PH

3

1

1

5

MP 82.25

7.5m

9

a

3

0

7

8

1

5

3

1

8

2

9

1

3

2

5

Car Park

7

2

8

1
2
a

4

6

S

O

U

T

H

 

T

E

R

R

A

C

E

7

8

2

0

1

a

4

1

1

0

1

3

3

3

5

5

2

1
5
1

8

9

2

2

5

9

4

1

9

1

1

7

7

5

7

W

E

L

L

I

N

G

T

O

N

 

M

E

W

S

5.4m

3

0

Friends Meeting

W

A

L

D

E

G

R

A

V

E

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

2

4

8

4

2

0

E

l
 

S

u

b

 

S

t

a

1

5

8

2

1

19.3m

1

5

5

6

5

Q

U

E

E

N

'
S

 

R

O

A

D

E

L

F

O

R

D

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

1

7

1

4

8

5

1
5
2

2

6

E

A

R

L

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

29.0m

2

1

3

2

TCBs

1

4

2

3

5

.

5

m

1

4

3

2

7

Linton

B

r

i

s

c

o

'

s

 

W

a

l

k

26.9m

H

O

P

G

A

R

D

E

N

 
C

L
O

S

E

2

0

.

4

m

Court

El Sub Sta

W

I

N

T

E

R

B

O

U

R

N

E

28.4m

L

I

N

T

O

N

 

R

O

A

D

Linton Gardens

2

C

L

O

S

E

H

I

L

L

Y

G

L

E

N

1

1

C

L

O

S

E

The Cottage

B

R

A

Y

B

R

O

O

K

E

FB

El Sub Sta

R

O

A

D

B

R

A

Y

B

R

O

O

K

E

 

C

L

O

S

E

23.2m

S

T

A

N

L

E

Y

 

R

O

A

D

28.5m

Stanley

Court

47.9m

41.4m

P

R

I

O

R

Y

 

A

V

E

N

U

E

W

Y

K

E

H

A

M

S

t

a

n

l

e

y

G

a

r

d

e

n

s

1

1

R

O

A

D

W

y

k

e

h

a

m

1

9

C

o

u

r

t

8

5

2
5

0

5

8

2

7

0

8

9

4

1

4

9

9

2

5

3

6

1

1
3

3

5

1

7

1

9

1

7

2

2

1

3

1
8

2

6

2
4

5

1

6

9

1
1

10

1 to 12

4

1

4

6

3

5

2

6

2

1

5

1

 

t

o

 

9

1

5

1

a

1

0

1

1

5

2

2

2

7

2

3

7

1

0

1

2

1

1

1

9

2

7

3

1

t

o

 

3

3

3

3

7

1

6

2

9

3

6

3

5

3

9

4

1

1

3

4

3

1

2

2

1

5

6

9

2

4

4

0

5

9

7

1

1

6

6

2

2

8

5

2

7

4

3

8

41.8m

2

5

a

5

5

E

l
 
S

u

b

 
S

t
a

14 to 17

5

0

34.9m

5

7

1

5

16.7m

1

L

I
N

T

O

N

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

T

D

W

1

5

8

Pond

D

W

1

 

t

o

 

4

W

y

k

e

h

a

m

 

H

e

i
g

h

t

s

5

5

3

2

2

9

6

2

129

1

2

4

1

R

a

i

l

w

a

y

 

V

i

l

l

a

s
1

0

5

6

2

0

S

u

r

e

 

S

t

a

r

t

Buildings

Buss

1

 

t

o

 

1

7

2

1

0

S
u
r
g
e
r
y

8

4

4

a

43

6

3

6

El Sub Stas

Sussex Coast College Hastings

W

a

r

d

 

B

d

y

Depot

M

a

s

t

 

(

T

e

l

e

c

o

m

m

u

n

i

c

a

t

i

o

n

)

Posts

C

R

C

P

E

D

 
&

 
W

a

r
d

 
B

d

y

S

l

o

p

i

n

g

 

M

a

s

o

n

r

y

1
0
9
-
1
1
5

1 to 13

S

T

 

A

N

D

R

E

W

S

 

S

Q

U

A

R

E

Hastings Citadel

Shelter

1

2

C

h

i

l

d

r

e

n

s

 

C

e

n

t

r

e

29

20

52

3

0

52

2

4

38

8

44

13

35

2

54

36

1

6

47

10

36

21

2

1

0

12

28

18

44

57

2

4

40

62

37

43

28

3
3
a

44

37

51

20

1

1
3

7

33

29

25

S
T

E
V

E
N

S
O

N
 
R

O
A

D

2
9
a

31

O
B

A
N

 
R

O
A

D

64.9m

WINDSOR ROAD

PAYNTON ROAD

3
1
a

58.2m

PERTH ROAD

Sub Sta

House

1

5

2

3

5

3

6

9

62.3m

El

PH

El Sub Sta

2

2

8

3

8

5

3

3

7

3

3

t

o

1

7

3

7

1

3
9
5

1

1

 
t
o

 
1

5

9

M

E

W

S

4
0
1

8

1

0

1

5
9

1

8

4

W

o

r
k

s

4

4

1

1

2

3

1

3

3

6

1

1

2

5

64.2m

2

Bank

1

D

U

K

E

5

0

69.5m

3

8

3

1
2

2

C

H

A

T

H

A

M

 

R

O

A

D

1

0

4

2

1

LB

3

Club

W

o

r

k

s

D

U

K

E

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

6

P

O

1

0

7

S

h

e

l

t

e

r

C

L

O

S

E

9

S

E

D

L

E

S

C

O

M

B

E

 

R

O

A

D

 

N

O

R

T

H

6

7

.
5

m

9

D

U

K

E

 

R

O

A

D

2

S

E

D

L

E

S

C

O

M

B

E

 

R

O

A

D

 

S

O

U

T

H

3
9
9

1

7

t
o

S
I
L
V

E
R

L
A

N
D

S
 
R

O

A
D

2

4

Bank

6

1

5

3
9
7

5

8

2

2

9

1

2

R
O

C
H

E
S

T
E

R
 
R

O
A

D

3

0

3

5

3

R

E

C

T

O

R

Y

3
3

66.8m

2

4

Sub Sta

4

1

2

4

5

S

t

 

R

o

d

e

s

 

C

o

t

t

a

g

e

1

6

2

1

3
7

2

5
0

4

3

3

7

5
5

1

0

1

9

2

0

2

7

Cremer

6

1

5

Surgery

1
5

3
9
3

2
1

3
8
9

6

4

.
4

m

3

8

7

3

1

1
8

1

 
t
o

 
2

1

8

6

6

4

1

2

3
9
1

6

D

U

K

E

 

T

E

R

R

A

C

E

3

6

7

G

o

s

p

e

l

 

H

a

l

l

B
A

T
T

L
E

 
R

O
A

D

1

2

Yard

Rectory

2

7

63

6

8

3

6

9

8

7

1

1

1
0

2

6

3

4

3

6

5

59.9m

1

4

55.3m

Yard

Garage

2

MICHELE CLOSE

1

9

0

Hall

Church

1

3

7

1
6

8

S

T

 

M

A

T

T

H

E

W

'

S

 

G

A

R

D

E

N

S

ST MATTHEW'S GARDENS

1

1

2

a

1

4

1
7

1
1

L

O

N

D

O

N

 
R

O

A

D

S

T

 
M

A

T

T

H

E

W

'
S

 
R

O

A

D

24

St Matthew's

1

5

1

2

1

4

2

0

0

3

2

7

2

5

19

22

14

1
2

8

2

4

1
2

1
0

2

60

7

3

El Sub

70

Sta

71

72

3

7

2

0

S
P

R
IN

G

F
IE

L
D

 V
A

L
L
E

Y

1
0

2
2

1
6

3

2

3
8

14

W

r

a

y

m

e

a

d

1

4

8

4

7

2

Shelters

S

h

e

l
t
e

r

E

D

 
&

 
W

a

r
d

 
B

d

y

C

R

CW

Def

3

4

1

2
8

CF

22

21

4

0

a

4

2

4

0

Builders

Builders

1

House

Junction

6
4

Station

4

9

Filling

1

0

57.9m

C

H

A

R

L

E

S

 
R

O

A

D

6

1

1

Court

Marwick

G

I
L
B

E

R

T
 
R

O

A

D

LB

7

4

2

8

C

H

A

R

L

E

S

 

R

O

A

D

3

0

4

4

1

 
t
o

 
6

1

3

5

2

3

8

B

R

I

T

T

A

N

Y

 

R

O

A

D

2

3

3

9

5

4

62.9m

A

n

g

l
e

s

e

a

U

f
f
i
n

g

t
o

n

1

3

3

2

6

El Sub Sta

M

a

n

s

i
o

n

s

LB

Archer Lodge

Shornedene

House

S

T

 

H

E

L

E

N

'
S

 
C

R
E

S

C

E

N

T

S
T

 
H

E

L

E

N

'
S

 
P

A

R

K

 
R

O

A

D

STN 1

STN 3

STN 63

STN 64

STN 65

STN 66

STN 67

STN 68

STN 69

STN 70

STN 71

STN 72

STN 73

STN 74

STN 75

STN 76

STN 77

STN 78

STN 79

STN 2

STN 4

STN 5

STN 6

STN 7

STN 8

STN 9

STN 10

STN 11

STN 12

STN 13

STN 14

STN 15

STN 16

STN 17

STN 18

STN 19STN 20

STN 21

STN 22

STN 25

STN 26STN 27

STN 28

STN 29

STN 30

STN 31

STN 32

STN 33

STN 34

STN 35

STN 36

STN 37

STN 38

STN 39

STN 41

STN 42

STN 43

STN 44

STN 45

STN 46

STN 47

STN 48

STN 49

STN 50

STN 51

STN 23

STN 52

STN 53

STN 54

STN 55

STN 56

STN 57

STN 58

STN 59

STN 60

STN 61

STN 62

STN 40

STN 24

14.995m

13.926m

11.320m

10.206m

10.198m

13.055m

9.990m

10.360m

9.374m

8.744m

8.512m

8.113m

8.274m

8.244m

8.369m

8.141m

7.988m

8.114m

10.708m

14.339m

13.499m

12.360m

12.218m

12.438m

14.104m

13.298m

13.467m

13.654m

14.007m

14.719m

14.892m

18.009m

19.958m

24.284m

25.037m

29.269m31.537m

33.557m

36.205m

37.235m

37.540m36.513m

37.134m

37.407m

35.801m

38.137m

40.170m

41.460m

42.680m

44.488m

45.967m

46.467m

45.204m

48.380m

46.837m

45.647m

40.062m

40.039m

44.057m

46.633m

47.114m

47.312m

51.373m

58.105m

61.821m

35.713m

32.742m

31.049m

32.757m

32.092m

33.444m

33.735m

33.464m

31.216m

32.024m

33.492m

36.261m

42.631m

37.133m

15.19

15.13

15

.0

5

1

4

.9

6

1

4

.9

9

1
4
.8

4

1

4

.5

9

1

4

.4

1

1

4

.3

1

1

4

.1

0

1

4

.1

6

1

4

.1

6

1

4

.2

1

1

4

.3

6

1

4

.5

0

1

4

.7

2

1

4

.7

8

1

4

.8

0

14.7014.56

36.38

36.6

6

37

.0

2

3

7

.2

5

37

.7

7

38.0

6

3

8

.6

0

3

8

.9

7

3

9

.3

0

39.6

5

39.68

38.91

38.93

38.86

38.82

38.82

38.79

38.77

38.80

38.9338.94

39.15

39.29

39.44

39.51

39.69

39.8

6

40.0

9

4

0

.2

5

4

0

.5

3

4

0

.7

8

4

1

.1

2

4

1

.5

1

4

1

.9

1

4

2

.2

8

47.14

4

7

.1

6

4

7

.5

2

47.92

4

8

.5

4

4

9

.3

5

5

0

.1

2

5

2

.7

9

5

3

.6

2

5

3

.9

9

55.01

5

5

.6

8

56.05

56.59

51.63

5

2

.4

2

5

2

.9

9

53.65

5

7

.9

6

58.48

5

8

.9

8

59.85

6

0

.3

2

6

0

.8

6

5

9

.5

6

6

0

.7

1

6
1
.1

0

9.18

9.88

10.15

10.42

10.65

1

0

.7

7

1

1

.0

2

1
1
.1

1

10.6110.50

10.38

15.29

1

5

.2

1

15.20

15.1

4

1

5

.0

5

1

5

.0

1

1
4
.8

5

1

4

.6

7

1

4

.4

8

1

4

.3

9

1

4

.2

2

1

4

.2

6

1

4

.2

9

1

4

.3

0

1

4

.4

4

1

4

.6

1

1

4

.7

3

1

4

.8

5

14.90

14.8014.66

36.44

36.7

2

37

.1

1

3

7

.3

4

37

.8

2

38

.1

1

38

.6

3

38

.9

8

39.3

6

39.7

1

39.77

39.06

39.00

38.94

38.87

38.86

38.88

38.88

38.87

38.98

38.99

39.55

39.75

39.91

40

.1

6

40

.3

2

4

0

.5

8

4

0

.8

6

4

1

.2

1

4

1

.6

1

4

1

.9

4

4

2

.3

1

47.29

47.32

4

7

.7

1

48.12

4

8

.7

1

49.52

50.35

5

1

.9

7

52.92

5

3

.7

3

54.07

55.06

55.83

5

6

.1

6

56.65

5

8

.0

7

58.53

59.06

5

9

.9

2

60.40

6

0

.9

1

5

8

.4

8

5

9

.6

6

6

0

.8

0

6
1
.1

6

8.66

9.25

9.95

10.23

10.55

1

0

.7

8

1
1
.0

8

1

1

.2

3

10.7210.62

10.50

G

14.95

G

14.38

G

14.59

G

11.54

G

37.15

G

38.85

G

38.95

G

38.80

G

38.95

G

39.48

G

40.14

G

51.98

G

56.77

G

10.37 G

10.15

G

10.08

G

7.94

G

8.03

G

8.11

G

8.14

G

8.38

I

ro

n

 R

a

il

in

g

 H

t=

1

.6

m

1

4

.3

7

1

4

.3

5

1

4

.6

7

Ir

o

n

 R

a

il

in

g

 H

t=

1

.6

m

15.1

3

15.21 15.25

15.27

I

ro

n

 R

a

il

in

g

 H

t=

1

.6

m

1

4

.2

6

1

4

.2

4

1

4

.3

0

1

4

.2

5

1

4

.3

2

1

4

.3

9

1

4

.4

5

1

4

.4

3

14.69

14.75

14.71

1

4

.5

5

1

4

.4

7

Iron Railing Ht=1.6m

14.6714.56

1

1

.6

2

11.59

11.61

Iron Railing Ht=2m

11.64

11.64

11.75

1

1

.8

4

1

1

.8

0

12.6

5

1

2

.6

2

1

2

.4

4

Iron Railing Ht=1.6m

Security Ht=3m

12.53

12.49

12.48

12.54

12.67

Security Ht=3m

12.72

12.75

Handrail Ht=1m

12.99

13.16

13.71

14.06

14.10

13.80

13.43

13.34

13.30

13.32

Post and Rail Ht=1.6m

14.15

14.11

14.23

13.38

13.46

Iron Railing Ht=1.1m

13.42

13.46

1

3

.6

1

1

3

.5

4

Handrail Ht=1.2m

14.79

14.72

Handrail Ht=1.2m 14.73

14.78

S

e

cu

ri

ty

 H

t=

2

m

Farm Fencing Ht=1.2m

18.78

19.44

20.21

2

0

.8

0

2

1

.8

6

22.60

23.34

23.76

2

4

.2

0

Iro

n

 R

a

ilin

g

 H

t=

1

.5

m

2

4

.2

2

C

ra

sh

 B

a

rrie

r H

t=

0

.4

m

24.32

24.41

24.53

24.65

2

4

.7

2

24.86

2

4

.9

9

2

5

.0

4

25.13

2

5

.1

5

Crash Barrier Ht=0.4m

P

o

s

t 

a

n

d

 R

a

il

 H

t=

1

.1

m

2

5

.2

7

2

5

.7

9

2

6

.7

3

Iro

n

 R

ailin

g

 H

t=

1

.5

m

2

4

.9

9

2

4

.8

6

2

4

.6

3

2

4

.4

6

2

4

.3

4

2

4

.2

4

C

ra

sh

 B

a

rrie

r H

t=

0

.4

m

24.24

2

4

.1

1

2

3

.9

9

2

3

.8

5

H
a
n
d
r
a
il H

t
=

1
.2

m

Handrail Ht=1.2m 41.73

41.92

4

1

.9

9

Farm Fencing Ht=1.3m

42.79

43.63

43.83

44.2

8

44.68

45.0445.33

45.5846.20

46.43

45.90

45.23

44.83

44.59

44.48

4

4

.4

5

4

4

.7

0

4

5

.0

1

4

5

.0

6

4

4

.6

1

4

3

.5

9

4

2

.5

7

4

1

.9

8

4

0

.8

0

4

0

.3

0

4

0

.1

0

4

0

.0

7

4

0

.0

9

4

0

.0

9

4

0

.1

1

4

0

.1

0

4

0

.1

2

4

0

.1

5

F

a

rm

 F

e

n

c

in

g

 H

t=

1

.3

m

4

0

.1

3

4

0

.2

4

I

r

o

n

 R

a

il

in

g

 H

t=

1

.2

m

4

0

.1

1

4

0

.0

9

4

0

.0

6

4

0

.0

6

4

0

.0

5

4

0

.0

4

4
0
.0

5

3
9
.9

7

4
0
.1

0

F
a
r
m

 F
e
n
c
in

g
 H

t
=

1
.3

m

4
0
.1

0

4
0
.2

9

4
0
.5

8

4
1
.5

0

4
2
.4

5

Crash Barrie

r Ht=0.4m

39.9

9

40.02

40.14

Iron Railing H

t=

1.3m

46.46

46.05

45.33

44.87

44.35

4

4

.1

5

4

4

.0

0

4

3

.6

4

4

3

.3

7

Farm Fencing Ht=1.3m

43.65

43.79

Chain Link Ht=

1.3m

Chain Link Ht=1.3m

46.02

4

6

.4

9

4

6

.6

8

47.11

47.09

47.02

47.07

47.10

46.85

46.97

46.96

Iron Railing Ht=1.3m

46.94

47.00

47.10

46.98

46.97

47.14

Chain Link Ht=2m

47.08

47.12

47.40

4

7

.5

4

5

1

.2

7

4

9

.8

2

49.04

4

8

.4

6

48.07

47.63

C

lo

se B

o

ard

 H

t=

2

m

4

7

.3

1

47.67

48.06

4

8

.6

5

4

9

.3

6

50.27

C

lo

se B

o

ard

 H

t=

2

m

51.45

5

1

.8

3

52.82

53.68

C

lo

se B

o

ard

 H

t=

2

m

55.70

5

6

.2

1

C

h

ain

 Lin

k H

t=

2m

51.65

5

2

.5

7

53.06

Security H

t=

2m

6

0

.2

6

59.50

58.65

58.11

42.3

6

41.6

0

40.7

2

C

ra

sh

 B

a

rr

ie

r 

H

t=

0

.4

m

10.07

1
0
.1

5

Security Vc=2m

Handrail Ht=1.2m

1

0

.1

6

1

0

.1

1

1

0

.1

0

1

0

.1

6

Crash Barrier Ht=0.4m

10.05

1

0

.0

9

H

a

n

d

r

a

il H

t=

0

.7

m

Close Board Ht=2m

Iro

n

 R

a

ilin

g

 V

c

=

1

m

8

.7

0

8

.6

5

8

.6

9

8

.6

9

8

.7

0

8

.6

3

8

.1

8

8

.0

2

Po

st

 a

n

d 

R

ai

l H

t=

1.

2m

8.09

8

.1

0

8

.0

9

Handrail Ht=1.2m

8.12

8.14

Handrail Ht=1.2m

8.37

8.36

C

r
a

s
h

 B

a

r
r
ie

r
 H

t
=

0

.4

m

8
.3

3

8

.2

3

8

.2

4

8

.2

2

8.31

Iro

n

 R

a

ilin

g

 V

c

=

2

m

8

.2

6

8

.3

8

8.46

8

.3

1

Iron Railing Ht=2m

Iron Railing Ht=2m

10.7

6

10.69

10.53

1

4

.4

5

14.58

1

4

.8

3

1

4

.9

0

1

4

.9

2

15.0

4

15.1

4 15.23

15.35 15.38

1
4
.8

8

15.01

1

4

.3

0

1

4

.3

0

1

4

.3

1

1

4

.3

9

1
4
.4

7

1

4

.4

6

14.72

14.79

14.71

1

4

.6

4

1

4

.5

2

1

4

.4

7

1
4
.6

2

14.78

14.39

13.68

13.06

12.79

12.45

12.23

1

2

.1

8

1

2

.1

2

1

1

.8

2

11.60

11.59

11.58

11.62

11.90

12.22

12.15

12.15

1

2

.2

1

1

1

.9

5

1

1

.6

1

1

1

.6

4

11.68

11.91

12.31

12.43

1

2

.3

6

1

2

.2

5

1

1

.9

6

1

2

.2

8

12.48

12.33

12.24

12.21

12.1912.24

12.35

1

2

.6

5

1

2

.6

6

13.25

13.23

13.29

1

3

.0

4

13.10

1

3

.0

7

1

3

.0

6

1

3

.0

7

13.10

1

2

.9

5

1

2

.9

8

1

3

.0

0

12.9

0

12.91

1

2

.8

6

1

2

.8

8

1

2

.8

5

12.87

12.83

1

2

.7

7

1

2

.7

7

12.86

12.80

1

2

.7

4

1

2

.7

4

1

2

.7

1

12.69

1
2
.6

5

1
2
.5

9

14.30

14.32

14.35

14.37

14.39

14.43

14.47

1

4

.3

4

1

4

.1

5

14.07

13.89

13.55

13.37

13.27

13.27

13.33

13.40

13.48

13.55

13.51

13.67

13.72

13.84

13.98

14.04

14.12

14.21

14.29

14.37

1

4

.4

7

1

4

.5

4

1

4

.6

0

1

4

.3

7

1
4
.3

4

1
4
.3

6

1

3

.7

5

1

3

.8

4

1

3

.8

9

13.86

13.90

13.80

13.70

1

3

.6

2

13.6

7

13.69

13

.7

1

13

.7

4

1

3

.5

1

1

3

.5

4

1

3

.5

7

1

3

.6

1

1

3

.6

4

13.63

13.66

13.57

1
3
.5

9

1

3

.5

4

1

3

.5

2

1

4

.6

8

1

4

.7

1

1
4
.7

0

14.69

14.79

14.75

14.68

14.75

14.80

1

4

.8

0

1

4

.8

0

1

4

.7

9

1

5

.0

6

15.12

1

5

.1

9

1

5

.0

9

1

4

.9

1

1

4

.9

7

1

5

.1

1

1

5

.3

8

1

5

.7

6

1

6

.1

1

1

6

.6

3

1

6

.9

5

17.10

16.88

16.95

17.20

17.29

17.45

17.70

18.18

18.75

19.23

19.83

20.20

2

5

.3

1

25.18

2

5

.1

4

2

4

.9

7

2

5

.1

0

25.17

2

5

.2

4

2

4

.8

6

24.87

25.12

25.83

27.01

28.55

28.88

29.57

30.58

31.11

31.43

31.84

32.02

32

.2

8

3

2

.6

4

3

3

.2

2

3

3

.8

2

3

4

.4

6

3

4

.9

3

3

5

.7

3

36.09 36.37 36.70 37.04

36.98

36.80

37.12

37.13

36.97

36.54

36.2936.23

36.1

4

3

6

.2

0

3

6

.4

5

3

6

.8

7

3

7

.0

7

3

7

.2

6

36.07

3

5

.6

4

35.74

35.75

3

7

.4

3

37.6

4

37.62

37.27

37.00

36.59

36.55

36.59

36.71

36.92

37.01

37.3437.38

37.38

37.39

37.3637.3637.33

37.3137.33

37.52

37.84

38.26

38.63

38.85

38.87

38.96

38.84

38.6238.27

38.1038.06

38.21

38.77

39.16

39.5

6

39.9

5

4

0

.2

9

4

0

.5

5

4

0

.8

5

4

1

.1

3

4

1

.3

6

4

1

.5

5

4

1

.8

5

4

2

.0

7

42.3

2

42.59

42.67

42.90

43.14

43.46

43.92

4

4

.1

4

4

4

.3

9

4

4

.5

4

4

4

.6

7

4

5

.0

7

4

5

.5

9

45.73

45.96

46.53

47.41

47.47

4

6

.6

9

4

6

.3

8

46.47

46.54

46.53

46.43

46.26

45.88

45.45

4

5

.2

3

4

5

.4

4

4

6

.8

1

4

8

.4

4

4

9

.6

5

4

9

.6

3

4

8

.6

8

4

7

.2

5

4

5

.8

0

45.30

45.48

45.83

46.17

42.82

43.61

44.02

44.26

45.17

46.28

46.48

45.98

45.4

1

44.90

44.64

44.61

4

4

.6

0

4

4

.8

1

4
5
.5

7

4

5

.4

1

4

4

.8

5

4

4

.0

4

4

2

.6

5

4

1

.7

5

4

0

.9

5

40.784

0

.8

4

4

1

.2

5

4

2

.8

1

4

3

.9

6

4

5

.0

2

4

6

.0

8

4

7

.3

4

4

7

.7

1

3

9

.9

9

3

9

.9

1

3

9

.9

4

3

9

.9

6

4

0

.0

0

4

0

.0

2

4

0

.0

1

4

0

.0

4

4

0

.0

6

4

7

.6

4

4

6

.5

8

4

5

.4

7

4

4

.4

2

4

3

.4

0

4

2

.0

6

4

0

.9

4

4

0

.4

3

4

0

.2

5

4

0

.1

0

40.11

40.00

3

9

.9

8

3

9

.9

9

3

9

.9

5

3

9

.9

0

4
2
.4

9

4
1
.7

8

4

1

.0

7

4
0
.5

1

4

0

.2

1

40.11

40.06

40.04

40.0

8

40.16

3

9

.9

1

3
9
.9

0
4
0
.0

0

3

9

.8

3

4

3

.2

4

4

3

.5

6

4

3

.9

7

4
4
.3

8

4

5

.2

3

4

5

.6

0

4

4

.8

6

4

4

.1

1

44.31

44.69

6

1

.0

5

5

9

.9

4

59.01

58.39

42.40

41.6

7

40.74

40.0

1

3

8

.7

8

3

7

.5

9

3

6

.8

6

3

5

.7

5

3

4

.4

5

3
3
.8

7

43.63

43.04

14.78

14.08

13.59

12.98

12.50

12.06

11.64

11.18

10.88

10.62

10.42

10.29

10.17

10.19

10.19

10.15

1

0

.0

8

1

0

.1

1

1
0
.1

2

1

0

.1

4

1

0

.2

2

1

0

.2

1

10

.2

3

10.21

10.14

10.06

1

0

.1

2

1

0

.1

6

1
0
.1

5

1

0

.1

5

10

.1

0

10

.1

1

1

0

.1

6

1

0

.1

9

1

0

.2

9

1

0

.4

3

1

0

.6

9

1

1

.1

3

11.71

12.10

12.49

13.07

12.95

12.59

12.29

12.08

11.78

11.29

10.51

10.06

9.79

9.78

9.77

9.77

9.79

10.00

10.29

10.38

10.18 9.54

9.38

9.33

9.24

9.16

9.

07

8.

99

8.

99

9

.0

1

9

.0

5

9

.0

8

9.00

8.91

8.88

8.86

8.78

8.73

8.70

8.60

8.60

8.57

8.53

8.45

8.40

8

.7

3

8
.7

0

8

.6

4

8

.6

1

8

.5

4

8.48

8.40

8

.3

2

8.36

8.26

8.16

8.09

8.08 8.13

8

.1

7

8.18

8

.2

5

8

.2

9

8

.3

5

8
.4

2

8

.3

7

8

.4

0

8.35

8

.3

4

8

.3

1

8

.2

8

8

.2

7

8

.3

6

8.40

8.44

8.49

8.52

8.55

8.53

8.52

8.41

8.36

8.30

8.21

8.17

8.11

8.05

8.08

8.10

8.12

8.09

8.

05

8
.0

4

8

.0

4

8

.0

0

7

.9

9

8.02

10.41

10.01

9.42

8.87

8.48

8

.3

3

8

.2

1

8.

15

8.05

8.

35

8.98

9.31

9.67

10.45

9.82

9.30

8.78

8.

40

1

0

.3

7

1
0
.4

5

1

0

.5

2

11.03

1

1

.0

5

1

0

.8

6

1
1
.1

9

1

1

.0

9

10.88

10.58

1

0

.6

4

1

0

.6

3

10.56

10.77

10

.8

2

1

0

.8

0

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

SP

SP

SP

SP

SP

SP

SP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

IC(?)

CL 14.80m

IC(?)

CL 39.91m

IC(?)

CL 47.05m

IC(?)

CL 49.11m

IC(?)

CL 57.67m

IC(?)

CL 58.46m

IC(?)

CL 7.84m

Tactile Paving

Pavement

Concrete

TIC

SEG

14.85

SEG

40.07

SEG

40.09

SEG

40.04

MH(?)

CL 14.86m

12.97

Bin

14.70

1

3

.3

6

1

3

.3

7

13.43

13

.4

7

1

3

.4

7

1

3

.4

4

13

.4

8

13.4

9

1
3
.4

7

1

3

.4

0

1

3

.3

8

13.62

13.72

13.84

13.89

13.98

14.08

14.21

14.29

14.54

14.68

14.78

14.8

7

1

4

.8

7

1

4

.8

4

1
4
.9

6

1

5

.1

9

1

5

.6

2

1

5

.9

8

1

6

.3

6

1

6

.5

4

1

6

.7

6

1

6

.9

3

17.2

817.66

18.01

18.79

19.24

19.47

20.13

2

0

.8

3

21.89

2

2

.7

2

2

3

.3

5

23.83

24.25

24.2

8

2

4

.2

3

2

4

.2

3

2

4

.2

4

25.04

25.66

27.13

28.37

28.74

29.61

30.15

31.00

30.99

3

1

.0

3

31.5

9

31.9

2

32.2

5

3

2

.4

4

3

2

.6

9

3

3

.3

3

3

4

.2

8

3

4

.7

2

3

5

.1

0

3

5

.6

3

3

5

.8

0

3

6

.1

1

3

6

.3

7

3

6

.6

6

3

6

.9

4

37

.1

6

3

7

.1

8

3

7

.4

5

37

.6

3

37.5

6

37.49

37.18

36.66

36.46

36.45

36.51

36.64

36.80

36.85

36.85

36.97

37.05

37.24

37.35

37.33

37.34

37.29

37.25

37.29

37.16

36.90

36.54

36.34

36.02

35.84

3

5

.6

6

37.90

37.65

37.30

36.78

36.38

36.10

36.00

36.01

36.09

36.3

3

35.75

35.87

35.96

36.17

36.5

9

37.00

37.49

37.81

38.04

38.28

38.7

1

38.8

9

4

0

.1

0

4

0

.2

1

4

0

.4

8

4

0

.5

7

4

0

.7

4

4

0

.8

6

4

1

.1

5

4

1

.3

1

4

1

.3

6

4

1

.6

2

4

1

.8

6

4

2

.1

3

42.3

8

42.50

42.66

43.02

43.32

43.70

43.88

43.91

44.16

44.37

4

4

.5

0

4

4

.9

8

4

5

.5

0

45.80

45.94

46.03

46.33

46.48

46.51

46.45

46.39

46.21

45.86

45.29

4

5

.1

1

45.01

44.7

2

44.46

44.26

42.60

41.8

7

40.8

3

40

.0

3

3

9

.0

3

3

7

.5

9

3

6

.8

1

3
5
.7

8

34.2

5

1

0

.0

9

1

0

.1

2

1

0

.2

2

1

0

.3

5

1

0

.6

0

1

1

.1

8

1

1

.7

6

1

2

.1

4

1

2

.3

7

1

2

.5

9

12.60

1

2

.6

2

12.5

5 12.56

12.68

1

2

.8

1

1

2

.8

1

12.8

2

13.01

13.17

13.02

12.70

12.49 12.33

11.87

11.27

10.58

10.04

9.85

9.82

9.84

9.84

9.87

9.93

9.91

10.05

10.34

10.41

10.44

10.64

10.75

10.70

1

0

.5

7

1

0

.4

3

1

0

.3

2 9.60

9.43

9.30

9

.2

3

9

.2

3

9

.3

5

9

.8

0

9

.8

4

9

.2

8

9.15

9.13

9.07

9.00

8.94

8.91

8.85

8.80

8.78

8.71

8

.7

1

8

.7

2

8

.7

5

8

.7

4

8

.7

0

8

.8

1

8.

87

8

.8

7 8.75

8.69

8

.5

6

8

.4

6

8

.3

8

8.29

8

.3

8

8

.3

3

8
.2

6

8

.1

7

8

.2

0

8.21 8.21

8.04

8

.0

3

8.05

8.09

8

.1

9

8

.3

1

8

.3

1

8
.2

7

8

.2

1

8

.2

1

8

.2

6

8.32

8.32

8.36

8.37

8.38

8.36

8.24

8.20

8.21

8.14

8.09

8.04

8.02

8.01

8

.0

1

8
.0

2

7

.9

8

7

.8

7

7.

65

7

.7

6

7.93

8.01

7

.9

6

7

.9

4

7

.9

8

8

.0

0

8

.0

7

8
.1

2

Anti Slip Surface

14.88

14.79

12.77

12.12

11.73

12.18

11.58

12.73

13.22

13.57

14.36

13.04

11.85

12.49

12.11

13.62

13.40

13.89

14.06

12.20

11.99

11.71

11.60

11.78

11.84

11.56

11.56

11.77

11.71

11.69

11.69

11.64

12.62

12.34

12.52

12.14

12.16

12.48

12.71

12.17

12.10

12.16

12.12

12.53

12.71

12.13

12.51

12.66

12.64

12.63

12.64

12.66

12.66

12.68

12.70

12.71

13.01

13.34

12.86

12.84

13.99

12.55

13.67

13.36

13.41

13.88

14.09

13.66

13.86

13.90

14.17

14.19

14.06

13.87

13.71

13.63

13.60

13.95

14.14

14.01

14.10

14.50

15.24

15.83

15.23

14.38

14.68

15.09

14.75

14.93

14.76

14.83

14.85

14.75

18.07

17.81

17.31

16.63

16.24

16.01

15.24

15.79

16.06

16.55

16.42

17.26

18.50

18.83

17.93

17.95

19.73

19.81

19.01

18.82

19.16

19.48

19.81

18.78

23.22

22.02

20.70

20.56

22.01

21.47

20.35

25.83

25.66

25.50

25.41

25.14

24.99

24.78

24.72

24.60

24.44

24.29

24.22

24.06

23.89

23.77

33.19

33.88

35.93

37.11

36.40

37.12

37.83

38.52

38.86

38.35

37.73

38.15

38.63

38.67

37.20

35.03

35.60

36.00

39.45

39.24

39.09

38.74

38.21

37.78

37.45

38.14

38.91

38.04

37.47

36.15

36.65

36.82

36.03

35.82

34.39

34.85

35.91

35.12

35.35

35.67

37.78

37.16

37.88

38.08

37.93

38.03

35.34

38.49

38.53

37.56

38.07

38.27

34.85

36.33

34.17

38.80

38.98

38.82

38.80

38.79 38.79

38.47

38.03

38.26

36.23

36.40

35.68

34.83

33.80

33.13

35.77

35.13

35.80

37.31

37.01

37.74

37.62

37.93

38.91

39.09

39.05

39.04

38.85

38.41

38.58

38.71

39.04

39.16

38.58

38.77

39.12

40.09

40.32

40.71

41.36

41.72

40.45

39.47

37.33

39.74

36.82

40.05

41.00

39.66

39.02

39.40

40.37

41.15

41.08

41.04

41.21

41.14

42.09

42.54

42.66

43.20

42.33

43.72

44.12

44.02

43.33

43.14

43.41

43.36

43.42

43.17

41.70

41.85

42.20

42.42

42.68

42.39

43.62

46.35

44.67

45.72

45.71

42.88

43.74

42.87

42.68

44.15

42.87

42.03

44.25

44.73

46.14

46.17

45.31

45.78

44.60

44.37

43.80

44.86

45.20

45.54

45.11

46.82

45.12

45.53

45.96

46.06

46.21

46.11

46.38

46.02

46.19

46.40

46.68

47.75

48.00

47.0047.26

48.67

49.12

48.06

46.98

47.78

48.18

48.41

46.74

46.19

46.75

46.32

45.89

45.43

46.53

48.09

48.41

47.34

46.98

46.01

47.44

48.95

50.08

45.13

46.59

48.04

48.57

47.10

45.63

46.46

47.60

48.90

49.07

48.05

46.94

46.48

47.64

48.86

48.81

47.79

46.25

44.96

45.96

48.30

48.07

47.76

47.55

47.64

46.33

45.90

45.50

44.85

42.06

43.70

42.97

43.90

45.02

46.34

45.39

46.06

47.23

47.78

46.37

46.01

47.13

40.51

40.53

40.88

41.33

41.34

41.59

41.74

43.94

44.08

45.12

44.91

45.46

48.83

48.34

47.92

47.54

31.30

31.50

31.17

32.21

33.35

33.76

32.79

33.11

33.50

34.27 34.97

33.06

33.05

32.25

31.89

31.90

31.64

32.60

32.00

32.52

32.08

31.90

31.46

30.98 30.87

30.85

30.19

30.74

29.98

30.08

29.72

29.99

29.57

30.35

30.33

31.32

31.10

31.09

31.55

31.8531.61

32.06

31.32

32.00

32.05

32.08

32.65 32.71

32.51

32.06

31.75

32.31

32.46

30.21

30.60

30.99

30.68

31.60

32.75

32.64

32.19

32.40

32.87

33.09

29.56

30.24

32.94

33.27

33.18

33.24

33.38

33.51

33.52

33.57

33.56

33.29

33.43

33.48 33.58

33.55

33.14

32.59

33.40

33.29

33.92

33.38

32.64

33.06

33.95

34.35

34.22

32.52

31.8731.86

32.56

31.38

32.63

32.51

32.91

32.38

33.54

32.45

31.57

31.51

32.26

33.78

33.74

34.53

34.44

35.23

35.28

35.47

35.51

31.50

31.14

29.78

34.84

34.84

31.79 31.52

31.34

32.00

31.54

31.43

31.12

31.09

31.72

32.20

30.68

28.81

31.21

32.06

32.53

31.62

31.72

31.21

30.81

32.76

32.66

33.07

32.64 32.81

32.26

30.82

30.46

30.23

31.63

33.23

33.45

32.40

31.42

32.15

33.44

33.75

34.56

34.39

34.38

35.41

36.22

36.86

37.35

38.33

39.44

40.01

36.13

35.46

34.70

34.10

34.54

35.12

35.78

36.79

43.83

42.80

10.59

10.54

10.52

10.66

10.85

11.40

11.80

12.15

12.32

14.27

14.32

14.84 13.03

13.81

13.93

14.37

14.92

10.14

10.119.98

10.00

10.1210.09

10.17

10.23

10.44

10.12

11.06

11.65

11.73

12.60

14.16

12.58

20.65

10.19

10.28

10.24

10.18

11.02

11.10

12.2812.47

11.60

10.88

10.56

10.65

10.35

10.39

10.26

10.22

10.13

9.96

9.52

10.07

9.76

12.47

14.08

11.47

11.4511.58

11.99

12.09

11.43

11.27

13.13

15.11 15.29

13.57

13.45

14.66

9.64

9.60

9.66

9.66

9.77

9.90

9.889.919.9010.02

10.18

10.26

11.26

11.13

10.75

10.26

10.37

10.51

11.14

11.80

12.2912.65

8.96

9.16

9.189.27

9.50

9.60

9.64

9.71

10.12

10.65 10.56

10.81

11.12

11.63

10.73

11.07

11.21

10.63

10.06

9.59

8.67

8.57

8.60

8.63

8.66

8.80

8.52

9.39

9.31

9.17

8.91

8.88

8.77

8.62

8.70

8.64

8.72

8.72

8.85

8.30

8.41

8.49

8.54

8.63

8.03

7.92

7.93

7.87

8.08

8.05

7.97

8.01

8.02

8.04

8.51

8.51

8.18

8.05

8.15

8.11

8.12

8.41

8.41

8.18

8.05

8.02

7.98

7.95

7.90

7.82

8.12

8.16

8.15

8.12

8.13

8.35

8.45

9.96

9.56

9.27

8.92

9.45

9.88

10.77

10.80

10.92

11.08

11.22

15.27

15.21

15.14

15.08

14.96

14.76

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=4

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=18

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=8

Vc=3

Conifer

B=0.8

Sp=20

Vc=1

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=18

Vc=3

Ash

B=0.5

Sp=18

Vc=3

Oak

B=0.4

Sp=16

Vc=2

Oak

B=1.4

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=8

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=2

MB

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=1

Unknown

B=1.2

Sp=18

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=4

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=4

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=16

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=16

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=4

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=22

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=2

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=12

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=2

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=2

Vc=9

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=2

Vc=9

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=2

Vc=9

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=20

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=18

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=16

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=16

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=16

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=18

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=18

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=20

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=20

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=20

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=4

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=20

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=30

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=26

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=30

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=34

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=20

Vc=12

Unknown

B=1.0

Sp=38

Vc=18

Unknown

B=1.1

Sp=26

Vc=18

Unknown

B=1.1

Sp=26

Vc=18

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=18

Vc=3

Unknown

B=1.0

Sp=24

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=20

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=20

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=18

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=28

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=4

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=26

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=18

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=18

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=18

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=16

Vc=7

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=24

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=6

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=6

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=6

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=10

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=1.2

Sp=30

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=18

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=1.0

Sp=22

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=20

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=28

Vc=6

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=18

Vc=6

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=18

Vc=6

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=16

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=22

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=14

Vc=2 Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=18

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=24

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=10

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=8

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=8

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=8

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=26

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=26

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=22

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=18

Vc=2

Unknown

B=1.0

Sp=24

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=1.0

Sp=24

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=24

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=24

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=24

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=24

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=22

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=22

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=12

Vc=6

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=22

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=26

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=1.1

Sp=18

Vc=4

Unknown

B=1.1

Sp=18

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=20

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=20

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=22

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=22

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=22

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=22

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=22

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=1.2

Sp=40

Vc=14

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=22

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=18

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=34

Vc=1

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=1

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=32

Vc=1

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=30

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=1.2

Sp=30

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=1.8

Sp=28

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=28

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=24

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=18

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=16

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=14

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=14

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=18

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=12

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=12

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=8Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=18

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=20

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=12

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=6

Vc=12

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=12

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=16

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=16

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=12

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=16

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=16

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=12

Vc=14

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=20

Vc=9

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=20

Vc=9

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=20

Vc=9

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=20

Vc=9

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=22

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=22

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=14

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=22

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=22

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=16

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=16

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=16

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=16

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=10Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=24

Vc=10

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=22

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=24

Vc=5Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=1

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=22

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=1.0

Sp=20

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=14

Vc=7

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=14

Vc=7

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=14

Vc=7

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=14

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=16

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=16

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=14

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=14

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=14

Vc=6

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=10

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=16

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=12

Vc=1

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=4

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=22

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=18

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=1.1

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=8

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=20

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=20

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=20

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=10

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=10

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=3 Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=18

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=26

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=18

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=16

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=32

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=12

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=26

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=12

Vc=2

Unknown

B=1.1

Sp=28

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=32

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=14

Vc=8

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=10

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.2

Sp=6

Vc=9+

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=6

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=12

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=3

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.8

Sp=14

Vc=5

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=20

Vc=2 Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=20

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=20

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.7

Sp=20

Vc=2

Unknown

B=1.4

Sp=24

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.5

Sp=16

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.9

Sp=20

Vc=4

Unknown

B=0.4

Sp=14

Vc=3

Stone Wall

14.2

8

13.68

13.16

12.92

12.58

12.38

12.26

12.21

12.26

12.34

12.47

Stone Wall

Stone W

all

12.39

12.32

12.28

12.27

12.31

12.41

12.46

12.57

12.67

12.88

13.18

13.59

1

3

.8

9

1

4

.1

0

Stone Wall

13.88

1

3

.9

3

Stone Wall

1

3

.9

7

13.90

1
3
.9

8
S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

1

4

.3

0

1

4

.4

3

1

4

.5

5

1

4

.3

4

1
4
.1

6

S

t
o

n

e

 W

a

ll

1

4

.3

3

1

4

.3

6

1

4

.5

2

Stone Wall

1

4

.3

3

1

4

.3

0

2

4

.1

1

23.74

2

3

.1

2

22.61

21.99

2

1

.3

0

20.70

2

0

.3

3

2
0
.2

2

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

Wooden post

41.3541.18

40.93

Stone Wall

14.86

14.64 14.18

13.47 13.09

12.64

12.25

11.78

11.28

10.91 10.68 10.56

10.39

10.31 10.28

10.3

1

1

0

.3

0

Stone Wall10.33 10.41

1

0

.4

5

1

0

.3

3

10.25

10.2

1

10.1

9

Stone W

all

9.82

9.18

Stone Wall

9

.4

7

9

.7

2

Stone Wall

9.67

9.56

9.16

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

1

2

.8

6

1

3

.0

1

1

3

.4

5

13.73

13.78

Stone Wall

1

2

.8

1

13.39

13.81

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

8.46

8.50

8.

56

8

.6

2

8.66

8.

71

8

.7

0

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

7
.8

7

7

.8

5

7

.8

1

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

7

.5

9

7

.4

4

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll7

.6

0

7

.4

5

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

7

.8

2

7

.8

5

7
.8

8

Stone Wall7.45

7.45

7.45

7.45

7.44

Stone W

all

7

.4

3

7.44

7.43

7.43

7.44

7.44

Stone W

all

8

.1

9

7.44

7.46

7.44

7.44

7.44

7

.4

5

7

.5

4

7.61

7.73

Sapling

Sapling

Sapling

1

1

.8

4

1

2

.1

0

1

2

.1

2

1
2
.2

1

1

1

.6

6

1

1

.9

1

1

2

.2

9

1

2

.5

1

12.38

1
2
.3

4

1

2

.3

3

1

2

.3

0

12.81

1

2

.8

9

1

2

.7

1

1
2
.6

5

1

3

.1

5

1

3

.2

9

14.30

1

4

.2

5

13.79

13.59

13.53

13.56

13.58

13.81

13.86

1

4

.7

1

1

4

.7

3

1

4

.5

7

14.5

9

14.64

14.63

14.51

1

5

.3

6

1

4

.9

7

1

4

.8

7

1

4

.9

1

14.64

14.79

1

4

.8

1

1
4
.8

4

1

4

.8

5

14.78

1

4

.7

6

24.23

2

4

.1

8

2

4

.0

9

2

3

.9

5

2

3

.7

7

2

4

.0

4

2

4

.2

7

2

4

.5

6

24.82

2

4

.6

0

2

4

.9

8

2
5
.2

3

25.31

25.85

27.08

28.94

29.15

29.8

2

30.36

30.46

3

0

.7

8

30.74

30.94

31.2

4

31.47

3

1

.5

8

3
1
.7

8

31.93

31.96

32.0

8

3

2

.1

6

3

2

.4

3

3

2

.8

0

3

3

.5

9

3

4

.1

4

3

4

.5

4

3

4

.9

3

3

5

.3

8

3

5

.4

8

3

5

.9

1

36.25

37.04 37.10

37.03

37

.5

6

3

7

.8

9

38.33

38.37

3

8

.2

8

3

7

.3

2

3

6

.8

5

36.63

36.76

36.89

3

7

.1

8

36.3

3

36.70

36.86

36.93

38.35

37.6

6

37.6

7

37.70

37.39

37.10

36.68

36.74

37.10

37.37

37.14

37.4

1

37.70

37.58

37.3037.38

37.49

37.62

37.42

3

7

.3

9

3

7

.8

7

3

8

.6

8

38.91

38.99

37.35

37.3737.33

37.39

3

7

.6

3

3

8

.4

4

38.77

38.75

38.84

4

4

.2

6

44.25

44.24

44.10

43.85

4

3

.7

6

44.22

4
3
.6

3
4
4
.1

6

44.28

4

4

.4

1

4

4

.6

1

4
4
.7

6

4

4

.9

1

4

5

.2

8

45.81

46.18

46.64

47.86

4

8

.3

3

47.27

4

7

.4

3

4

8

.8

6

4

9

.3

7

4

2

.2

0

42.18

4

2

.7

6

4

3

.0

4

5

4

.0

3

5

5

.4

7

5

6

.5

0

5

7

.1

4

5

7

.4

3

32.18

3

2

.4

2

32.99

33.23

32.7432.69

32.49

32.5132.31

32.17

32.20

32.09

32.29

33.02

32.93

33.08

33.23

33.45

3

3

.4

0

33.33

33.43

33.57

33.8833.78

33.59

33.60

33.60

33.66

33.65

33.74

3

1

.8

8

31.57

31.74

31.86

32.05

32.30

32.82

33.20

33.58

34.08

34.37

3
4
.6

7

3
5
.1

7

4

2

.1

1

40.84

4

0

.1

9

3

9

.1

7

3

7

.5

8

3

6

.7

5

36.34

35.80

35.70

1

2

.5

3

1
2
.8

4

1

3

.4

6

13.82

14.05

9.

66

9.

79

1

0

.2

9

10.2

2 10.30

9.87

9

.8

6

9

.6

2

1

3

.3

0

12.7

0

12.52

12.68

12.64 12.56

12.76

12.97 1

2

.8

1

1

3

.1

5

8

.0

8

8

.0

6

8.07

8.04 8.14

7

.5

8

7.80

7.92

7.88

8
.3

2

8
.2

9

8

.3

6

8.37

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

1

2

.1

5

1

1

.8

3

Stone Wall

12.48

12.49

Stone Wall

12.50

12.52

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

1

2

.1

2

S

to

n

e

 W

a

ll

1

2

.1

3

Stone W

all

1

2

.0

4

1

1

.4

3

B

rick W

all

56.31

5

6

.6

9

Brick

 W

all

B
r
ic

k
 W

a
ll

Brick Wall

T

O

W

=

1

2

.2

TO

W

=

13.3

TOW=13.4

T

O

W

=

2

4

.7

TOW=24.4

T

O

W

=

24.2

T

O

W

=

24.0

TOW=7.8

TOW

=7.8

TOW

=7.8

TOW=10.6

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Bench

Stone Wall

12.96

12.77

12.90

12.88

13.12

G

13.00

G

13.30

EP

EP

EP

EL=21.6

EL=21.8

EL=20.7

EL=20.7

EL=20.7

EL=17.7

EL=65.6

EL=55.2

EL=59.7

EL=12.9

EL=14.5

EL=11.4

EL=11.4

EL=11.4

RL=24.9

RL=25.0

RL=24.6

RL=24.6

RL=24.6

RL=20.8

RL=59.5

RL=68.5

RL=62.5

RL=14.8

RL=16.5

RL=14.4

RL=14.1

Chesnut Pailing Ht=1.1m13.78

13.92

14.04

8.09

8.38

7.44

8.23

7.44

33.55

8

.3

1

8.29

8.23

8.24

8.25

8.30

8

.3

2

8.32

8.33

8.36

8.16

8.10

8.06

8.

10

8

.0

6

8.

09

8

.0

9

8

.0

8

7.30

7.30

7

.3

3

7

.3

1

7

.3

2

7

.3

2

7

.3

7

7
.3

5

7.43

7.42

7.43

7.42

7.40

7.43

7.42

7.42

7.42

7.42

7.42

7.42

7.42

7.43

7.42

7

.4

2

7

.4

2

7

.4

3

7
.4

1

7

.4

1

7

.4

1

14.68

14.71

14.61

39.18

39.27

39.47

39.46

39.55

39.7

9

9.

21

9.

30

9

.2

2

9.

28

9

.2

2

9

.3

2

8

.1

4

8

.1

4

8

.1

5

7.99

7

.9

4

7
.6

5

8

.1

6

8

.1

9

8

.1

9

7

.5

2

7
.5

6

7

.5

5

7

.5

5

7

.6

0

8.10

8.22

8

.3

1

8

.0

8

8.19

8.29

7.81

7.83

7.78

7

.9

4

7.89

14.25

14.28

14.32

19.93

19.45

19.18

18.84

18.62

P

P

P

2

3

.8

0

2

3

.9

7

24.30

2

4

.4

1

2

4

.4

9

2

4

.6

7

24.90

25.06

25.11

25.28

25.23

34.75

33.95

33.18

32.40

31.65

31.21

31.07

31.07

30.96

31.32

31.53

3

1

.8

2

32.50

32.33

32.14

31.98

32.20

32.50

32.88

33.30

33.34

33.55

33.44

3

3

.4

9

3

3

.1

6

3

2

.9

6

3

2

.6

5

3

2

.9

9

3

3

.0

7

33

.2

0

33.12

33.16

33.13

33.08

33.14

32.69

32.13

31.53

31.21

3

1

.0

6

3
1
.0

8

24.88

24.89

25.66

27.49

28.80

28.87

29.05

29.4130.81

31.08

3

1

.0

7

31.0731

.1

3

3

1

.2

8

31.8

6

3

2

.2

0

32.39

32.46

3

2

.1

1

32

.3

9

3

2

.4

7

3
3
.3

6

3

4

.2

1

3

4

.6

3

3

4

.9

4

3

5

.2

035.10

3

4

.3

4

3

5

.4

7

3

6

.6

3

3

6

.7

2

36

.8

8

36

.8

2

37.3

0

3

7

.5

7

37.08

36.20

36.36

3

6

.3

0

3

5

.7

3

36.91

36.94

37.04

37.19

37.1637.2337.2

0

37.3337.26

37.2937.3137.32

37.28

36.80

3

6

.7

7

3

6

.2

5

3

5

.6

6

34.92

3

4

.9

1

35.94

35.74

35.70

37.88

3

7

.6

1

3

7

.0

0

36.84

38.4

8

38

.8

4

38.9

4

39.1

8

39.5

7

39

.8

8

40.0

8

4

0

.2

3

4

0

.4

1

4

0

.4

4

4

0

.5

0

4

0

.4

7

4

0

.5

9

4

0

.6

5

4

0

.7

2

4

1

.1

0

41.13

40

.2

3

39.63

39.08

42.0

6

43.5

6

44.09

31.83

32.03

3

2

.7

9

32.97

33.10

33.03

32.72

32.86

31.25

31.5931.77

32.02

32.5032.96

33.12

B

B

B

B

B

B

TS

TS

TS

37.02

37.3

7

37.6

8

37.92 38.05 38.39 38.56

38.85

38.96

38.93 38.80

38.51

38.16

41.37

41.71

41.97

40.33

41.25

3

6

.9

0

3

7

.0

7

38.44 38.72 38.81

38.83

3

8

.8

7

38.79

38.82

38.74

38.76

38.73

38.42

38.04

38.32

3

8

.5

8

3

8

.8

7

38.79

41.33

41.67

41.81

40.26

41.40

5

0

.8

4

51.55

5

1

.8

6

5

6

.9

1

57.47

57.91

57.73

5

7

.9

9

5

8

.4

0

8

.1

9

8

.1

2

8

.2

3

8.60

1

0

.9

2

1

1

.0

5

1

0

.9

0

1

0

.7

1

1

0

.6

5

1

0

.6

4

WM

35.38

34.39

33.86

33.14

3

2

.8

7

3

2

.6

0

3

2

.3

8

3

2

.1

4

3

2

.2

3

3

2

.4

4

32.36

31.60

31.10

30.8330.93

30.9630.61

31.12

31.28

3

1

.1

7

3

0

.8

9

32.03

32.30

32.4932.44

32.36

32.21

31.99

3

1

.3

8

3
0
.9

7

30.5

8

31.38

31.6

0

31.7931.89

31.92

33.01

32.67

31.93

31.41

31.05

31.00

31.13

34.10

33.85

33.54

33.13

B

B

B

B

B

12.69

1
2
.7

6

10.03

RWP

RWP

RWP

Tap

FL 8.87

7.45

8.03

8

.0

5

8

.2

3

8

.1

6

8

.2

7

8.63

8.71

9.31

10.06

10.42

9.22

9.98

10.37

Ir

on

 R

ai

lin

g H

t=

1m

Iron Railing Ht=1.6m

Iron Railing Ht=1.6m

Iron Railing Ht=1.6m

Post and Rail Ht=1.6m

Iron Railing Ht=1.1m

Farm Fencing Ht=1.3m

F
a

r
m

 F
e
n

c
in

g

 H

t
=

1

.3

m

Iron Railing H

t=

1.3m

C

h

ain

 Lin

k H

t=

2m

C

h

ain

 Lin

k H

t=

2m

Stone W

all

T
a
c
t
ile

 P
a
v
in

g

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Bin

Grass

Grass

Grass

S

to

n

e

 S

e

t

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Grass

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Bin

V

e

g

e

t

a

t

io

n

Pavement

V

e

g

e

t

a

t

io

n

Grass

Flower Bed

Tennis Court

Tennis Court

Flower Bed

Flower Bed

Flower Bed

Flower Bed

Flower Bed

Flower Bed

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Flower Bed

Flower Bed

Flower Bed

Grass

Grass

Anti Slip Surface

C
o
n
c
r
e
t
e

C
o
n
c
r
e
t
e

S

t

o

n

e

 W

a

ll

Top of bank

Bottom

 of bank

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Grass

Vegetation

Vegetation

Pavement

Bottom of bank

Pavement

Pavement

Unmade

Unmade

Vegetation

Vegetation

C

ra

sh

 B

a

rrie

r H

t=

0

.4

m

Pavement

Pavement

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

B

in

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

PavementPavement

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Bin

SU

Top of bank

T

op

 o

f 

ba

n

k

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

F

a

rm

 F

e

n

cin

g

 H

t=

1

.3

m

F

a

rm

 F

e

n

c

in

g

 H

t=

1

.3

m

I

r

o

n

 R

a

il

in

g

 H

t=

1

.2

m

Bin

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Chain Link H

t=

2m

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

Unknown

B=0.3

Sp=8

Vc=2

E?

E?

E?

Vegetation

Pavement

Vegetation

Asphalt

Asphalt

Pavement

Grass

C

o

n

c

r

e

te

I

r

o

n

 R

a

il

in

g

 H

t=

1

.2

m

C

o

n

c

r

e

te

Pavement

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Pavement

Bin

Overhead Line

Public Toilets

T

op

 o

f 

ba

n

k

T

op

 o

f 

ba

n

k

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Vegetation

Bin

SU

Pavement

Vegetation

Vegetation

Bin

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

P

o

n

d

Bowling Club

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Grass

Grass

Grass

Decking

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Vegetation

Vegetation

P

o

n

d

T

o

p

 o

f 

b

a

n

k

C

o

n

c

re

te

Bin

T

o

p

 o

f 

b

a

n

k

T

o

p

 o

f 

b

a

n

k

T

o

p

 o

f b

a

n

k

Anti Slip Surface

T

o

p

 o

f b

a

n

k

Tactile Pavem

ent

Tactile Pavem

ent

S

ton

e W

all

SU

Top of bank

Pavement

Tactile Pavem

ent

Tactile Pavem

ent

P

o

n

d

P

o

n

d

Bin

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Top of bank

Pavement

D

rain

ag

e ch

an

n

el

Grass

Vegetation

Vegetation

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Pavement

Flower Bed

Flower Bed

Concrete

Concrete

Flower Bed

Tactile Pavem

ent

Tactile Pavement

Flower Bed

Flower Bed

B

e

t

h

u

n

e

 
W

a

y

St Helen's Rd

D

o

r

d

r

e

c

h

t

 

R

d

U

p

p

e

r

 

P

a

r

k

 

R

d

Upper Park Rd

U

p

p

e

r

 

P

a

r

k

 

R

d

S

t

r

o

o

d

 R

d

S

t

r

o

o

d

 

R

d

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=12

Vc=1

Unknown

B=0.6

Sp=12

Vc=1

Scale

Project No.

Drawn By

Checked By

Approved By

Original Size

A1

Date

Drawing title

Apprv'd
Purpose of revision

Rev Status Chck'd

Project

Rev. Date

Status Revision

Drawn

EAST SUSSEX HIGHWAYS

RINGMER DEPOT, THE BROYLE

 RINGMER, EAST SUSSEX, BN8 5NP

Tel. 0345 60 80 193 www.eastsussexhighways.com

Drawing number

Volume Type Role NumberDesign Alt.

Originator

SITE LOCATION PLAN

I Tingley

C Kwok

HML-SCH0009-DR-CH-0001

1:2000

P01S0

C Edeamuna

P01 03/10/2018 First Issue IMT CK CES0

ESH

ALEXANDRA PARK CYCLE ROUTE

3520000

© Crown copyright and database rights Ordnance Survey 1000196012019

A

M

H

E

R

S

T

 
R

O

A

D

L

O

W

E

R

 
P

A

R

K

 
R

O

A

D

S

T

 

H

E

L

E

N

S

 

R

O

A

D

UPPER PARK ROAD

B
E

A
U

F
O

R

T
 
R

O

A
D

B

E

T

H

U

N

E

 

W

A

Y

P

R

I

O

R

Y

 

A

V

E

N

U

E

KEY

Proposed cycle route alignment.

Alexandra Park - Upper Park.

Alexandra Park - Lower Park.

Dordrecht Way.

Notes

1 Background based on Ordnance Survey mapping only

supplemented with topographical survey.

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
SCH-009 Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle scheme 

East Sussex Highways 

Combined Stage 1/2 Road Safety Audit 

 

678223CH 

7th October 2019  

  

Stage 2  Road  Safety  Audit  

Vale of Gl amo rga n Co uncil

 
Page 33



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2 RSA 

 

i 

 

Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme 

Project No: 678223CH 

Document Title: Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 1/2  Road Safety Audit 

Document No.: SCH-009 

Client Name: East Sussex Highways 

Project Manager: Charles Emeanuwa 

Author: Daniel Harris 

  
  
Burderop Park 
Swindon 
SN4 0QD 
  
www.jacobs.com 

© Copyright 2019 Jacobs Consultancy Ltd.. The concepts and information contained in this document are the property of Jacobs. Use or copying 

of this document in whole or in part without the written permission of Jacobs constitutes an infringement of copyright. 

Limitation:  This document has been prepared on behalf of, and for the exclusive use of Jacobs’ client, and is subject to, and issued in accordance with, the 

provisions of the contract between Jacobs and the client.  Jacobs accepts no liability or responsibility whatsoever for, or in respect of, any use of, or reliance 

upon, this document by any third party. 

Document history and status 

Revision Date Description By Review Approved 

0 07/10/19 RSA 1/2 Daniel Harris Alison Foale Stuart Minton 

      

Page 34



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2 RSA 

 

ii 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction ..................................................................................................................................1 

2. Local Alignment ...........................................................................................................................2 

2.1 Visibility ..........................................................................................................................................2 

3. General .........................................................................................................................................3 

3.1 Vertical Alignment ..........................................................................................................................3 

3.2 Drainage ........................................................................................................................................3 

3.3 Landscaping ..................................................................................................................................6 

3.4 Fences and restraint systems ....................................................................................................... 10 

4. Walking, Cycling and Horse Riding ........................................................................................... 13 

4.1 Cycling ......................................................................................................................................... 13 

5. Traffic signs, carriageway markings and lighting .................................................................... 18 

5.1 Traffic signs ................................................................................................................................. 18 

5.2 Carriageway markings .................................................................................................................. 19 

5.3 Lighting ........................................................................................................................................ 19 

6. Audit Team Statement ............................................................................................................... 20 

 

Appendix A. List of drawings and documents supplied  

Appendix B. Location Plan 

Appendix C. Key Plan 

 

 

 

Page 35



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

1 

 

1. Introduction 

This report results from a Combined Stage 1/2 Road Safety Audit (RSA) carried out on the Alexandra Park, 

Hastings, Cycle Scheme.  The purpose of the scheme is to provide a cycle facility through Alexandra Park, 

which forms one of the principle routes identified in the Hastings Walking and Cycling Strategy (2014). To 

achieve this the proposal is to widen and convert a series of the existing footpaths through both the upper and 

lower parks, including a continuous section across Dordrecht Way.  

The park has varying characteristics between the upper and lower sections. The lower part is flatter and 

provides access to the café, children’s play park and scenic lakes. The upper part is much steeper and 

secluded, making it less likely to be used by families and children. 

The RSA was carried out at the request of Ian Tingley of East Sussex Highways who also approved the Brief and 

Audit Team.  The Audit Team membership was as follows: - 

Daniel Harris BA (Hons) MCIHT MSoRSA RegRSA (IHE)  

Highways England Approved Certificate of Competency 

Senior Road Safety Engineer, Jacobs 

Alison Foale BEng (Hons) MSc MCIHT MSoRSA 

Highways England Approved Certificate of Competency 

Senior Road Safety Engineer, Jacobs 

A site visit was undertaken on Thursday 26th September 2019 between 12:30 and 16:00 hours when the 

weather was sunny, the road and path surface was drying following earlier rain and traffic, walking and cycling 

conditions were light. Six cyclists were observed in the park during the audit site visit. Ian Tingley from East 

Sussex Highways also attended the site visit as an observer.  

A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit was undertaken on a previous cycle scheme in Alexandra Park, based on a 

different route, in October 2015. This route was subsequently withdrawn. The proposed route alignment has 

not been subject to an RSA and was progressed straight to detailed design. 

The brief indicated that collision data is not available within the park and that no collisions have been recorded 

at the junction of Dordrecht Way with St Helen’s Road. No current or predicted cyclist flows were provided. 

This report is presented based upon the checklist contained in Appendix B of GG 119 for Road Safety Audits. 

The team has examined and reported only on the road safety implications of the design and has not examined 

or verified the compliance of the layout to any other criteria, in accordance with GG 119. 

The drawings provided as part of this Road Safety Audit are shown in the List of Drawings and Documents 

Supplied in Appendix A. A location plan is supplied in Appendix B.   

Each of the problems identified by the Audit Team has been allocated a unique reference number and is 

shown on the plan extract contained within Appendix C. 

 

Page 36



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

2 

 

2. Local Alignment 

2.1 Visibility 

2.1.1 Problem 

Location: Throughout scheme. 

Summary: Insufficient forward visibility could result in collisions between users. 

Through a combination of route alignment and vegetation there are a number of locations where forward 

visibility along the route is restricted, resulting in insufficient stopping sight distance for cyclists. This includes 

the first right hand bend when approaching from Strood Road, the sharp bend section at the switchback west 

of the Peace Garden and the right hand bend at the western end of the boating lake. Reduced forward 

visibility could result in conflicts between users at these locations, resulting in pedestrian and cyclist injuries. 

 

Recommendation:  

Maximise forward visibility through the length of the scheme by cutting back the existing vegetation within the 

visibility splays and maintaining this as part of the park’s maintenance programme. 

 

 

Page 37



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

3 

 

3. General 

3.1 Vertical Alignment 

3.1.1 Problem 

Location: Interface between the upper and lower parks 

Summary: Steep gradients, barrier arrangements and surface could result in cyclists and other users losing 

control. 

At the route interface between the upper park and lower parks the shared route is subject to very steep 

gradients, estimated at their maximum to be around 20%. In addition to the gradients the sections are under 

dense tree cover, and the upper park gradient will have a staggered barrier at its mid-point. During the site 

visit the sections were observed to be wet and covered with slippery foliage from trees. The Audit Team are 

concerned that cyclists and other users (including pedestrians, wheelchair and mobility scooter users) 

proceeding downhill could lose control, resulting in injuries from riders being unseated, users slipping and 

collisions with the staggered barriers.  

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that: signs are provided advising cyclists of the steep gradient and to dismount prior to the 

descents; flat areas of surfacing are provided in advance of the staggered barriers at the mid-point and bottom 

of the gradient; and that the route is regularly inspected and kept free from debris year round as part of the 

park’s maintenance programme. 

 

3.2 Drainage 

3.2.1 Problem 

Location: Throughout scheme. 

Summary: Ponding water observed on the proposed route, increasing the risk of slips, trips and unseated 

cyclists. 

At a number of locations along the proposed route ponding water was observed following rainfall prior to the 

site visit. The images below show ponding at the bridge near the bandstand, the path alongside the bowling 

green and at the switchback west of the Peace Garden. Ponding water increases the risk of pedestrians 

slipping/tripping and cyclists being unseated. During cold weather conditions the risk could increase if the 

ponding water freezes. 

Page 38



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

4 

 

  

 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that suitable drainage is provided throughout the scheme to ensure that water does not 

pond within the shared route. 

 

3.2.2 Problem 

Location: Strood Road interface with shared path. 

Summary: Blocked gully has led to a buildup of detritus and could result in ponding, increasing the risk of slips, 

trips and unseated cyclists. 

At the interface between Strood Road and the shared route an existing gully was observed to be blocked. This 

has resulted in a significant buildup of detritus and mud and ponding is likely to occur during periods of 

sustained rainfall. Ponding water and a buildup of detritus across the path increases the risk of pedestrians 

slipping/tripping and cyclists being unseated. During cold weather conditions the risk could increase if the 

ponding water freezes. 

Page 39



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

5 

 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the existing gully and detritus buildup is cleared and that additional drainage provided  

if the existing system is no longer effective. 

 

3.2.3 Problem 

Location: Bethune way entrance. 

Summary: Gully cover could trap bicycle wheels and unseat cyclists. 

Cyclists entering the park and shared route from Bethune Way could cycle over an existing gully cover. Due to 

the type and orientation of the cover bicycle wheels could become trapped, resulting in cyclists being 

unseated. 

Page 40



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

6 

 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the existing gully cover is replaced with a cycle friendly gully grate. 

 

3.3 Landscaping 

3.3.1 Problem 

Location: Throughout scheme. 

Summary: Bordering vegetation encroaches across the shared route, restricting the effective width. 

Throughout the park the proposed shared route is bordered by vegetation, including flower beds, shrubs, 

bushes and trees. During the site visit it was observed at a number of locations, including those not specified 

for widening, that vegetation encroaching across the footway would restrict the effective width of the 

proposed shared route. This could increase the risk of conflicts between users. 

 

 

Page 41



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

7 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that all encroaching vegetation is removed and that the width of the full route is maintained 

year round through regular inspections and clearing as part of the park’s maintenance programme. 

 

3.3.2 Problem 

Location: Shornden Wood near sign S11. 

Summary: The shared route at a reduced width location is impacted by an existing tree.   

The shared route east of sign S11 in Shornden Wood is 2m wide over a short length. A tree bordering the 

shared route reduces the width further due to low level growth. This impacts on the available width and 

intervisibility between users, which could increase the risk of collisions. 

 

 

Page 42



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

8 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the width of the shared route is maximised at this location by removing all encroaching 

vegetation. Ensure that the width of the full route is maintained year round through regular inspections and 

clearing as part of the park’s maintenance programme. 

 

3.3.3 Problem 

Location: Throughout scheme. 

Summary: Tree canopies overhanging the shared route could potentially unseat cyclists. 

At a number of locations tree canopies overhang the proposed shared route, increasing the risk of cyclists 

striking low hanging branches and becoming unseated.    

  

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that low hanging branches are removed to provide a minimum headroom of 2.4m. 

 

3.3.4 Problem 

Location: Throughout scheme. 

Summary: Material from adjacent banks and vegetation could result in pedestrian slips, trips and falls and 

unseated cyclists. 

The proposed shared route is largely bordered by grass banks and vegetation including flower beds, shrubs, 

bushes and trees. During the site visit it was observed that loose material from adjacent banks and bordering 

and overhanging vegetation (needles, leaves, flowers etc.) encroaches/falls onto the paths. This increases the 

risk of pedestrian slips, trips and falls and unseated cyclists, particularly on steep parts of the route.  

The impact of loose material from banks and vegetation is likely to increase during autumn as leaves are 

dropped from trees in combination with increased rainfall.   

Page 43



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

9 

 

  

  

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that existing loose material, needles, leaves, flowers etc. are removed from the proposed 

route and that the route is kept free from debris year round through regular inspections and clearing as part of 

the park’s maintenance programme. 

 

3.3.5 Problem 

Location: Lower park. 

Summary: Changes in levels at the edge of the proposed shared route could unseat cyclists. 

Within the lower park section, it was observed that there are existing changes in levels where the shared route 

and grass verges interface. If a cyclist’s wheel left the shared route at these locations, the sudden change in 

level, often on a muddy surface, could lead to cyclists losing control increasing the risk of unseated riders and 

injuries. 

Page 44



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

10 

 

   

   

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that level differences are removed using earthworks/top soiling along the length of the 

route. 

 

3.4 Fences and restraint systems 

3.4.1 Problem 

Location: West of the Dordrecht Way carriageway crossing and at the shared route switchback west of the 

Peace Garden. 

Summary: Lack of protection of steep banks could increase the severity of injuries should a cyclist leave the 

shared route. 

Step banks are immediately adjacent to the proposed shared route to the west of the Dordrecht Way 

carriageway crossing and at the shared route switchback west of the Peace Garden. The gradient of these 

steep banks could increase the severity of injuries to a cyclist should they leave the shared route. 

 

Page 45



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

11 

 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that 1.4m high timber post and rail cleft fencing is provided at these locations, consistent 

with protection of steep banks at other locations along the route. 

 

3.4.2 Problem 

Location: Existing bridges without extended parapets. 

Summary: Gaps at bridge parapets could increase the severity of injury should a cyclist leave the shared route 

path at these locations. 

Some of the existing bridges are fitted with additional sections of extended parapet, which act as a physical 

barrier and guide to users, protecting them from steep drops into waterways. It was observed during the site 

visit that additional sections of extended parapet are omitted at other bridges along the route which could 

result in an increased risk of injury and severity should a cyclist leave the shared route. 

A gap is also likely to be created at the stone bridge parapet when the proposed tree removal has been 

undertaken. 

Page 46



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that additional sections of extended parapet are provided at all bridges with adjacent 

gaps/steep drops into waterways.  

 

Page 47



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

13 

 

4. Walking, Cycling and Horse Riding 

4.1 Cycling 

4.1.1 Problem 

Location: Shared path adjacent to the bandstand. 

Summary: Longitudinal cracking in the surface could result in cyclists being unseated. 

The section of shared path adjacent to the bandstand is not due to be resurfaced. During the site visit 

longitudinal cracking was observed in this section. The cracks were, in places, wide enough to accommodate a 

bicycle tyre which could trap bicycle wheels and unseat cyclists. 

  

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the longitudinal cracks are sealed or this section resurfaced to provide a smooth, 

consistent surface for cyclists. 

 

4.1.2 Problem 

Location: Strood Road interface with shared route. 

Summary: Utility covers could result in pedestrian slips and unseated cyclists. 

At the interface between Strood Road and the shared route there are two utility covers which are likely to 

become slippery when wet.  This increases the risk of pedestrian slips and cyclists, particularly those braking 

on approach to the staggered barriers, being unseated. 

Page 48



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

14 

 

  

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the utility covers are treated so that they provide a consistent surface finish and 

skidding resistance to the shared route surface. 

 

4.1.3 Problem 

Location: Shared path east of the café. 

Summary: Lack of contrast between the edge of route and verge could result in unseated cyclists. 

The shared route to the east of the café is under dense tree cover and as a result is noticeably darker than 

other sections. Due to the tree cover, grass does not grow in the verge at the edge of the route. This results in 

a lack of contrast between the edge of route and the adjacent downhill bank, increasing the risk of cyclists 

leaving the route and becoming unseated. The lack of contrast is likely to be exacerbated at dusk and dark 

conditions. 

  

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the edge of the route is demarcated for the section under tree cover. 

Page 49



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

15 

 

4.1.4 Problem 

Location: Shared path adjacent to the boating lake at the eastern end of the lower park. 

Summary: Potential for bicycle pedals to strike the top of steps, resulting in unseated riders. 

At the eastern end of the route two sets of steps connect the proposed shared route and a pedestrian path 

alongside the boating lake. The tops of the steps are vulnerable to being struck by bicycle pedals, which could 

result in unseated riders. The risk of strikes could increase during dusk/dark conditions as the step tops do not 

contrast with the route. 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that demarcation around the top of the steps is provided. 

 

4.1.5 Problem 

Location: Link between the upper park and lower park. 

Summary: Poor quality surface and lack of route clarity. 

The shared route link between the upper and lower park crosses an ambiguous area with an unbound and 

poor quality surface subject to ponding. The area is used by vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists, but it is unclear 

who has priority. In addition, the proposed signing and markings do not provide clarity of the onward route. 

The combination of these problems could result in collisions between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles. 

Page 50



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

16 

 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that a surface consistent with the rest of the shared route is provided along with signs and 

markings to address the route ambiguity and continuity concerns. 

 

4.1.6 Problem 

Location: Switchback west of the Peace Garden. 

Summary: Lack of route clarity could result in cyclists continuing away from the shared route. 

At the switchback, signing is proposed. If approaching the switchback from the west the alignment of the path 

and conflicting signing of the onward route and ‘no cycling’ on the same side of the bollard could result in 

cyclists continuing away from the shared rote on a less suitable path, increasing the risk of conflicts with 

pedestrians. 

  

 

Page 51



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

17 

 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the proposed signing and markings are revised to address the route ambiguity for 

cyclists. 

 

Page 52



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

18 

 

5. Traffic signs, carriageway markings and lighting 

5.1 Traffic signs 

5.1.1 Problem 

Location: Throughout scheme. 

Summary: Inconsistent use of signs to reinforce the shared route. 

Throughout the scheme ‘cycle route ahead’, ‘no cycling’ and ‘information for cyclists’ signs are used to 

demarcate the route and inform users of the shared route. These signs are not provided at all adjoining paths, 

creating confusion and increasing the likelihood that cyclists could inadvertently continue on a pedestrian only 

route.  This could increase the risk of collisions between users. 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that consistent route signage is provided at each interface between a pedestrian only 

footpath and the shared route. 

 

5.1.2 Problem 

Location: Throughout scheme. 

Summary: Use of bronze marker plates set into the route surface could result in unseated cyclists. 

Through the length of the shared route 300mm diameter bronze marker plates are proposed to be installed 

into the surface. The plates are positioned in the centre of the path, often coinciding with bends in the route 

and pinch points. Bronze plates are likely to become slippery when wet which could result in cyclists, 

particularly those braking and/or turning, being unseated. 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that marker plates with a consistent surface finish and skidding resistance to the shared 

route surface are provided in locations where cyclists are not likely to be braking or turning. 

 

5.1.3 Problem 

Location: Throughout scheme. 

Summary: Misleading route direction signs could result in cyclists continuing away from the shared route. 

Route confirmation signs with arrows are provided throughout the scheme to help reinforce the direction of 

the shared route. At a number of locations (such as signs S5, S10 and S15) the orientation of the arrow and the 

bollard it is mounted on could result in confusion and cyclists continuing away from the shared rote on a less 

suitable path, increasing the risk of conflicts with pedestrians. 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the orientation of the bollards and arrows on the sign faces are revised to better 

represent the alignment of the route. 

 

  

Page 53



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

19 

 

5.1.4 Problem 

Location: Dordrecht Way crossing. 

Summary: Signing of the crossing could result in confusion. 

Advance warning signs are proposed for the Dordrecht Way crossing on St Helen’s Road. The location of these 

signs results in the westbound sign not being visible to approaching vehicles and the eastbound sign obscuring 

the existing zebra crossing beacon and pedestrian waiting area. The signs only warn of cyclists, although 

pedestrians also cross at this location. This could result in road users being unaware of the Dordrecht Way 

crossing and existing zebra crossing, increasing the potential for collisions between vehicles, pedestrians and 

cyclists. 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the warning signs are located with suitable forward visibility and that they are not 

misinterpreted for the existing zebra crossing on St Helen’s Road.    

 

5.2 Carriageway markings 

5.2.1 Problem 

Location: Staggered barrier arrangements. 

Summary: Solar LED road studs may not be visible on approach to the staggered barrier arrangements. 

Solar LED road studs are proposed to be installed on either side of the shared route on the approaches to the 

staggered barrier arrangements. It is unclear if the performance of these will be suitable to warn cyclists of the 

barrier arrangement. Performance could be impacted by tree cover and/or the studs being covered by fallen 

leaves or loose material from the verges.  

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the suitability of the LED road studs is clarified and a suitable alternative used if 

necessary. Ensure the route and studs are kept free from debris year round through regular inspections and 

clearing as part of the park’s maintenance programme. 

 

5.3 Lighting 

5.3.1 Problem 

Location: Dordrecht Way crossing. 

Summary: Lamp column in the middle of the footway. 

On a number of drawings, a lamp column is shown in the middle of the shared footway/cycleway on the north 

east side of the Dordrecht Way crossing.  At this location there is an increased risk of pedestrians and cyclists 

striking the column, resulting in injuries. 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the current location of the column, as observed on site, is retained or an alternative 

location at the back edge of the shared footway/cycleway. 

 

 

 
Page 54



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

20 

 

6. Audit Team Statement 

 

We certify that this audit has been carried out in accordance with GG 119. 

 

Audit Team Leader 

Name:  Daniel Harris    Signed:      

Dated:  04/10/2019                 

Position:  Senior Road Safety Engineer  

Organisation: Jacobs   

Address:  Burderop Park, Swindon 

 

Audit Team Member 

Name:  Alison Foale   Signed:              

Dated:   04/10/2019              

Position:  Senior Road Safety Engineer  

Organisation: Jacobs   

Address:  Burderop Park, Swindon  

 

Page 55



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

21 

 

Appendix A. List of Drawings and Documents supplied 
 

Document/Drawing Revision Description 
HGN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0021 P02 General Layout – Sheet 1 of 7 
HGN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0022 P02 General Layout – Sheet 2 of 7 
HGN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0023 P01 General Layout – Sheet 3 of 7 
HGN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0024 P03 General Layout – Sheet 4 of 7 
HGN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0025 P02 General Layout – Sheet 5 of 7 
HGN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0026 P03 General Layout – Sheet 6 of 7 
HGN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0027 P03 General Layout – Sheet 7 of 7 
   
HGT-SCH0009-DR-CH-0008 P02 Fencing, Barriers and Earthworks Fill – Sheet 1 of 7 
HGT-SCH0009-DR-CH-0009 P02 Fencing, Barriers and Earthworks Fill – Sheet 2 of 7 
HGT-SCH0009-DR-CH-0010 P01 Fencing, Barriers and Earthworks Fill – Sheet 3 of 7 
HGT-SCH0009-DR-CH-0011 P01 Fencing, Barriers and Earthworks Fill – Sheet 4 of 7 
HGT-SCH0009-DR-CH-0012 - Not used 
HGT-SCH0009-DR-CH-0013 - Not used 
HGT-SCH0009-DR-CH-0014 - Not used 
   
HKF-SCH0009-DR-CH-0001 P01 Kerbing and Footways – Sheet 1 of 7 
HKF-SCH0009-DR-CH-0002 P01 Kerbing and Footways – Sheet 2 of 7 
HKF-SCH0009-DR-CH-0003 P01 Kerbing and Footways – Sheet 3 of 7 
HKF-SCH0009-DR-CH-0004 P01 Kerbing and Footways – Sheet 4 of 7 
HKF-SCH0009-DR-CH-0005 P01 Kerbing and Footways – Sheet 5 of 7 
HKF-SCH0009-DR-CH-0006 P01 Kerbing and Footways – Sheet 6 of 7 
HKF-SCH0009-DR-CH-0007 P01 Kerbing and Footways – Sheet 7 of 7 
HKF-SCH0009-DR-CH-0008 P01 Dordrecht Way - Kerbing and Footways 
   
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0001 P02 Traffic Signs and Road Markings – Sheet 1 of 7 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0002 P02 Traffic Signs and Road Markings – Sheet 2 of 7 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0003 P01 Traffic Signs and Road Markings – Sheet 3 of 7 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0004 P03 Traffic Signs and Road Markings – Sheet 4 of 7 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0005 P02 Traffic Signs and Road Markings – Sheet 5 of 7 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0006 P03 Traffic Signs and Road Markings – Sheet 6 of 7 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0007 P03 Traffic Signs and Road Markings – Sheet 7 of 7 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0008 P01 Traffic Signs Ref S1 and S74 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0009 P01 Traffic Signs Ref S2 and S75 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0010 P01 Traffic Signs – Cycle Route Ahead 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0011 P01 Traffic Signs Ref S5, S10, S14, S15 and S51 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0012 P01 Traffic Signs Ref S7, S8, S18, S19, S49, S54, S61 & S65 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0013 P02 Traffic Signs Ref S21, S22, S27 and S29 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0014 P02 Traffic Signs Ref S23, S26 and S28 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0015 P01 Traffic Signs Ref S4, S41, S42 and S73 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0016 P01 Traffic Signs Ref S40 and S76 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0017 P01 Traffic Signs Ref S36, S38 and S43 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0018 - Not used 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0019 P01 Traffic Sign Ref S37 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0020 P01 Traffic Sign Ref S39 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0021 P01 Traffic Sign Ref S44 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0022 P01 Traffic Signs Ref No Cycling 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0023 P01 Timber Bollard Types TB1, TB2 and TB3 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0024 P01 Traffic Signs Ref S82, S83 and S84 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0025 P01 Traffic Sign Ref S30 
HSN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0026 P01 Traffic Sign Ref S32 
   

Page 56



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

22 

 

HLG-SCH0009-DR-EO-0002 P01 Street Lighting  –  Column Positions and Removals – 
Option 2 

   
GEN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0001 P01 Footway Construction Details Types A, B, C and D 
GEN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0002 P01 Dordrecht Way Raised Table 
GEN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0003 P02 Timber Post and Three Cleft Rail Fence 
GEN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0004 P04 Pedestrian Barrier 
   
Alex Park Amey RSA1-OCT 2015  003 Includes clients response and final sign off 

 
 

Page 57



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

23 

 

Appendix B. Location Plan 

 

 

© OpenStreetMap contributors 

 

 

Page 58



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

24 

 

Appendix C. Key Plan 

Issues throughout the scheme: 2.1.1, 3.2.1, 3.3.1, 3.3.3, 3.3.4, 3.3.5 (Lower Park only), 3.4.2, 5.1.1, 5.1.2, 5.1.3 
and 5.2.1. 

 

3.2.2 

4.1.2 

Page 59



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

25 

 

 

 

3.1.1 

3.3.2 

4.1.5 

Page 60



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

26 

 

 

 

3.4.1 

3.4.1 

4.1.6 

4.1.1 

4.1.3 
5.1.4 

5.3.1 

3.1.1 

Page 61



Alexandra Park, Hastings, Cycle Scheme Combined Stage 
1/2  Road Safety Audit 

 

27 

 

 

 

3.2.3 

4.1.4 

4.1.4 

Page 62



Equality Impact Assessment
Project or Service Template

Name of the proposal, project or service

Provision of a shared cycle/footway facility in Alexandra Park, Hastings

File ref: SCH009-RP-0002 Issue No: P02

Date of Issue: 22 February 2018 Review date: February 2019

Contents

Part 1 – The Public Sector Equality Duty and Equality Impact Assessments  (EIA) 2

Part 2 – Aims and implementation of the proposal, project or service .................... 5

Part 3 – Methodology, consultation, data and research used to determine impact
on protected characteristics. ...................................................................................  8

Part 4 – Assessment of impact .............................................................................  12

Part 5 – Conclusions and recommendations for decision makers ........................ 20

Part 6 – Equality impact assessment action plan..................................................  22

Revised Version 4 Nov 2011       Page 1 of 24Page 99

Appendix D

Page 63

andrewk
Cross-Out



Equality Impact Assessment

Part 1 – The Public Sector Equality Duty and Equality Impact 
Assessments  (EIA)

1.1 The Council must have due regard to its Public Sector Equality Duty when
making all decisions at member and officer level.  An EIA is the best method by 
which the Council can determine the impact of  a proposal on equalities, particularly 
for major decisions. However, the level of analysis should be proportionate to the 
relevance of the duty to the service or decision.

1.2 This is one of two forms that the County Council uses for Equality
Impact Assessments, both of which are available on the intranet. This form is 
designed for any proposal, project or service. The other form looks at services 
or projects.

1.3 The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
The public sector duty is set out at Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. It  requires
the Council, when exercising its functions, to have “due regard‟ to the need to

•  Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that
is prohibited under the Act.

•  Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

•  Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it. (see below for “protected 
characteristics”

These are sometimes called equality aims.

1.4 A “protected characteristic‟ is defined in the Act as:
•  age;
•  disability;
•  gender reassignment;
•  pregnancy and maternity;
•  race (including ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality)
•  religion or belief;
•  sex;
•  sexual orientation.

Marriage and civil partnership are also a protected characteristic for the purposes of 
the duty to eliminate discrimination.

The previous public sector equalities duties only covered race, disability and gender.

1.5 East Sussex County Council also considers the following additional
groups/factors when carry out analysis:

•  Carers – A carer spends a significant proportion of their life providing unpaid
support to family or potentially friends. This could be caring for a relative, 
partner or friend who is ill, frail, disabled or has mental health or substance 
misuse problems. [Carers at the Heart of 21stCentury Families and 
Communities, 2008]

Page 2 of 24Page 100
Page 64



Equality Impact Assessment

•  Literacy/Numeracy Skills
•  Part time workers
•  Rurality

1.6 Advancing equality (the second of the equality aims) involves:

•  Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their
protected characteristic

•  Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these
are different from the needs of other people including steps to take account of 
disabled people’s disabilities

•  Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in
other activities where their participation in disproportionately low

NB Please note that, for disabled persons, the Council must have regard to the 
possible need for steps that amount to positive discrimination, to “level the playing 
field” with non-disabled persons, e.g. in accessing services through  dedicated car 
parking spaces.

1.7 Guidance on Compliance with The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
for officers and decision makers:

1.7.1 To comply with the duty, the Council must have “due regard” to the three 
equality aims set out above.  This means the PSED must be considered as a factor 
to consider alongside other relevant factors such as budgetary, economic and 
practical factors.

1.7.2 What regard is “due” in any given case will depend on the circumstances.  A 
proposal which, if implemented, would have particularly negative or widespread 
effects on (say) women, or the elderly, or people of a particular ethnic group would 
require officers and members to give considerable regard to the equalities aims.  A 
proposal which had limited differential or discriminatory effect will probably require 
less  regard.

1.7.3 Some key points to note :

•  The duty is regarded by the Courts as being very important.
•  Officers and members must be aware of the duty and give it conscious

consideration: e.g. by considering open-mindedly the EIA and its findings 
when making a decision. When members are taking a decision,this duty can’t 
be delegated by the members, e.g. to an officer.

•  EIAs must be evidence based.
•  There must be an assessment of the practical impact of decisions on

equalities, measures to avoid or mitigate negative impact and their 
effectiveness.

•  There must be compliance with the duty when proposals are being formulated
by officers and by members in taking decisions: the Council can’t rely on an
EIA produced after the decision is made.

•  The duty is ongoing: EIA’s should be developed over time and there should
be evidence of monitoring impact after the decision.

•  The duty is not, however, to achieve the three equality aims but to consider
them – the duty does not stop tough decisions sometimes being made.

Page 3 of 24Page 101
Page 65



Equality Impact Assessment

•  The decision maker may take into account other countervailing (i.e. opposing)
factors that may objectively justify taking a decision which has negative
impact on equalities (for instance, cost factors)

1.7.4 In addition to the Act, the Council is required to comply with any statutory 
Code of Practice issued by the Equality and Human Rights Commission. New Codes 
of Practice under the new Act have yet to be published. However, Codes of Practice 
issued under the previous legislation remain relevant and the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission has also published guidance on the new public sector equality 
duty.

Page 4 of 24Page 102
Page 66



Equality Impact Assessment

Part 2 – Aims and implementation of the proposal, project or
service

2.1 What is being assessed?

a) Proposal or name of the project or service.

The project is to convert sections of existing footpath within Alexandra Park, 
Hastings to a shared route to permit cycling through the Park.

The overall route extends between Beaufort Road at the western end and 
Bethune Way at the eastern end. Refer to Appendix A showing the route 
being proposed through the Park.

Further details of the route can be found within Alexandra Park, Hastings 
Cycle Route Review document (SCH009-RP-0001) prepared by East Sussex 
Highways (ESH) in December 2017.

b) What is the main purpose or aims of proposal, project or service?

East Sussex County Council (ESCC) developed a Walking and Cycling 
Strategy for Hastings. The Strategy focused on identifying a boroughwide 
network of cycle routes and was prepared in partnership with Hastings 
Borough Council (HBC) together with the voluntary sector and local walking 
and cycling groups. The Hastings Walking and Cycling Strategy was 
approved by ESCC Lead Member for Transport and Environment on 15 
September 2014.

Alexandra Park forms a key link within the Walking and Cycling Strategy and 
will provide a continuous off carriageway route for cyclists to use.

c) Manager(s) and section or service responsible for completing the
assessment

James Vaks – Project Manager, East Sussex Highways

ESH are responsible for the implementation of local transport schemes, on 
behalf of ESCC, which meet the objectives of the Council’s third Local 
Transport Plan, namely: improving road safety, reducing congestion, 
improving accessibility, reduce the need and demand to travel, enhance the 
environment and maintain/manage the transport network.

2.2 Who is affected by the proposal, project or service? Who is it intended
to benefit and how?

Allowing cyclists to share Alexandra Park with pedestrians will provide a safer 
alternative to using on road routes. Allowing cycling in the Park will mean 
pedestrians will be sharing the space with cyclists with the potential for conflict 
between these groups of users.

Page 5 of 24Page 103
Page 67



Equality Impact Assessment
2.3 How is, or will, the proposal, project or service be put into practice and

who is, or will be, responsible for it?

HBC own, manage and maintain Alexandra Park and are leading the delivery 
of the proposal to introduce a shared pedestrian and cycle facility within the 
Park, with ESCC providing design support through ESH. ESH will construct 
the shared facility in the Park.

To permit cycling within the Park a local byelaw will need to be amended. The
byelaw change will be made by HBC.

Once the scheme and associated mitigation measures come into effect HBC 
will be responsible for the enforcement of cycling in the park. HBC propose to 
work with all groups including cycle groups to enforce a self-management 
approach, and to work with park users to highlight and challenge 
unacceptable behaviour by all users of the park.

In the initial stages, HBC officers, will design a programme for the Rangers 
and Wardens to have a heightened presence in the Park at specific times to 
engage with cyclists and deter unsafe use. Cycling outside the designated 
route would be liable to potential Fixed Penalty Notices for contravention of 
the byelaws set by HBC.

Following on from this initial phase of education and enforcement, HBC, with 
support from ESCC, will continue to monitor how the shared route is used, 
and should any serious concerns arise, will deploy enforcement staff to 
address them.

2.4 Are there any partners involved? E.g. NHS Trust, voluntary/community
organisations, the private sector? If yes, how are partners involved?

HBC is leading on the delivery of the proposal with ESCC providing design 
support through ESH. ESH will construct the shared facility in the Park.

The Walking and Cycling Strategy for Hastings, in which the route through the 
Park forms part of, was prepared in 2014 by ESCC in partnership with HBC 
together with the voluntary sector and local walking and cycling groups. 
Details of the key stakeholders who were engaged with in preparing this 
document can be found within Appendix 3 of the Strategy document.

2.5 Is this proposal, project or service affected by legislation, legislative
change, service review or strategic planning activity?

To permit cycling within the Park a local byelaw will need to be changed. The
byelaw change will be made by HBC.

The Walking and Cycling Strategy for Hastings prepared by ESCC is a
strategy focused on identifying a boroughwide network of cycle routes.

2.6 How do people access or how are people referred to your proposal,
project or service? Please explain fully.

Alexandra Park is open to the public at all times.

Page 6 of 24Page 104
Page 68



Equality Impact Assessment
2.7 If there is a referral method how are people assessed to use the

proposal, project or service? Please explain fully.

Not Applicable

2.8 How, when and where is your proposal, project or service provided?
Please explain fully.

Subject to ESCC Lead Member for Transport and Environment approval 
(programmed for April 2018) ESH will progress with the detailed design of the 
scheme. Given that Alexandra Park is designated by Historic England (HE) as 
grade II* registered status due to its historic significance, HBC will undertake 
further consultation with HE during the detailed design stage. Subject to this 
consultation, together with further consultation with other key stakeholder 
groups and the outcomes of the Stage 2 Road Safety Audit process, 
construction will look to commence from Spring 2019. At this stage the 
construction programme has yet to be determined but it is anticipated that the 
share cycle/footway scheme will come into effect in Summer 2019.

Page 7 of 24Page 105
Page 69



Equality Impact Assessment

Part 3 – Methodology, consultation, data and research used to 
determine impact on protected characteristics.

3.1 List all examples of quantitative and qualitative data or any consultation
information available that will enable the impact assessment to be 
undertaken.

Types of evidence identified as relevant have X marked against them
Employee Monitoring Data Staff Surveys

Service User Data Contract/Supplier Monitoring Data
Recent Local Consultations Data from other agencies, e.g. Police, 

Health, Fire and Rescue Services, third 
sector

Complaints X Risk Assessments
Service User Surveys X Research Findings
Census Data X East Sussex Demographics
Previous Equality Impact 
Assessments

X National Reports

Other organisations Equality 
Impact Assessments

X Any other evidence?
Consultation feedback conducted by 
Hastings Borough Council in 2015.

3.2 Evidence of complaints against the proposal, project or service on
grounds of discrimination.

During the development of the Walking and Cycling Strategy for Hastings, 
ESCC carried out a consultation exercise in 2014. The consultation provided 
the opportunity for key stakeholders and members of the public to provide 
their opinion on whether the appropriate strategic routes had been identified 
to connect people with the places that they access for everyday journeys 
including for work, education and leisure town centre facilities. Of the 
feedback received concerns were raised on the Alexandra Park in respect to 
potential conflict between cyclists and pedestrians.

With specific reference to Alexandra Park route, this is being promoted by 
HBC. As scheme promotors, HBC conducted a consultation exercise in 2015 
to seek feedback to proposals for a shared cycle/pedestrian route though the 
Park. Through this process 177 responses were received. Of these 84 
responses were against the proposal to introduced shared facilities.

HBC also received a petition with 63 signatories against the proposal. The 
petition did not contain a single statement for signatories to acknowledge and 
add their signature against but was a collection of various comments against 
the proposed route. Specific concerns raised included issues of safety, 
signage and enforcement, as well as opposition to the principle of introducing 
cycling in the Park.

Page 8 of 24Page 106
Page 70



Equality Impact Assessment
3.3     If you carried out any consultation or research on the proposal, project

or service explain what consultation has been carried out.

Design guidance/studies

In developing the scheme reference was made to the following documents:

•  Department for Transport (DfT) Local Transport Note (LTN) 1/12
‘Shared Use Routes for Pedestrians and Cyclists’;

•  DfT LTN 2/08 Cycle Infrastructure Design;

•  Shared Use Operational Review - Atkins 2012 (produced for the DfT).

For shared use schemes LTN 1/12 acknowledges that these are often 
implemented to improve conditions for cyclists and it is essential that they are 
designed to consider the needs of everyone expected to use the facility. The 
guidance states that poorly designed schemes and schemes where the 
available width is insufficient to comfortably accommodate the expected flows 
of pedestrians and cyclists are likely to reduce the amenity value of the route. 
It is acknowledged in the guidance that disabled people and older people can 
be particularly affected by shared use routes, but ultimately this will depend on 
the quality of the design. Therefore the consideration of their various needs is 
an important part of the design of shared use schemes and the guidance 
refers to the need for authorities considering the possible implementation of 
shared use scheme to consider their duties under the Equality Act 2010.

LTN 1/12 also identifies a typical scheme development process whereby the 
promoter of a scheme considers whether suitable and viable cycle routes can 
be provided on the carriageway before considering a shared use route.

This suggested process identified in LTN 1/12 has been followed together with 
the findings detailed within the Atkins 2012 Shared Use Operational Review. 
The outcomes of the consultation exercise carried out with those affected by 
the scheme, including those with particular protected characteristics, have 
also been taken into consideration.

Consultation

Walking and Cycling Strategy for Hastings:

ESCC carried out a consultation exercise in 2014. The consultation provided 
the opportunity for key stakeholders and members of the public to provide 
their opinion on whether the appropriate strategic routes had been identified 
to connect people with the places that they access for everyday journeys 
including for work, education and leisure town centre facilities.

Alexandra Park route:

HBC, as scheme promotors, conducted the consultation exercise. In April 
2015, they established a Reference Group of interested groups (Friends of 
Alexandra Park, The Greenway Group, The Ramblers Association, Hastings 
and Bexhill Disability Forum, Hastings Urban Bikes) to assess the initial 
proposals ESCC had prepared and give early feedback to the County Council.

Page 9 of 24Page 107
Page 71



Equality Impact Assessment
HBC carried out a public consultation from 15th June until 21st August 2015. 
They invited comment through the HBC website, invited comment in person at 
the Community Contact Centre and held a specific consultation event at 
Armed Forces weekend on 28th June 2015, where officers from the HBC and 
ESCC were available to discuss the proposed route and invite further 
comment.

3.4 What does the consultation, research and/or data indicate about the
positive or negative impact of the proposal, project or service?

Consultation

Walking and Cycling Strategy for Hastings:

The 2014 consultation resulted in 95 representations being received with 
significant support for the strategy. With 71% of responses either strongly 
agreed or agreed that they were happy with the strategy overall. Of the 
feedback received concerns were raised on the Alexandra Park in respect to 
potential conflict between cyclists and pedestrians.

Alexandra Park route:

There were 177 single responses to the consultation HBC conducted from 
15th June until 21st August 2015. 82 responses were identified as supporting 
a scheme to allow cyclists using the Park and 84 responses were against 
proposal to introduced shared facilities.

A petition with 63 signatories against the proposal was also submitted to HBC. 
The petition did not contain a single statement for signatories to acknowledge 
and add their signature against but was a collection of various comments 
against the proposed route. Specific concerns raised included issues of 
safety, signage and enforcement, as well as opposition to the principle of 
introducing cycling in the park.

Research

Reference: DfT LTN 1/12 ‘Shared Use Routes for Pedestrians and Cyclists’

For shared use schemes LTN 1/12 acknowledges that these are often 
implemented to improve conditions for cyclists and it is essential that they are 
designed to consider the needs of everyone expected to use the facility. It is 
acknowledged in the guidance that disabled people and older people can be 
particularly affected by shared use routes, but ultimately this will depend on 
the quality of the design.

Reference: Shared Use Operational Review (Atkins, 2012)

Consultants Atkins produced a report in 2012 considering the operation of 
Shared Use routes. This was an evidence based study into the factors which 
influence the design and operation of segregated (white line separating 
pedestrians and cyclists) and unsegregated pedestrian and cyclist shared use 
facilities.

Segregation by white line was found to be ineffective at supporting full 
compliance with segregation by pedestrians and cyclists. Their findings

Page 10 of 24Page 108
Page 72



Equality Impact Assessment
indicate that average cycle speeds are not significantly faster on segregated 
routes compared with unsegregated ones.

Observations indicated that maximum cycle speed decreases as pedestrian 
flow increases on shared use routes. This suggests that cyclists moderate 
their behaviour in the presence of pedestrians.

On shared use routes, segregating cyclists and pedestrians reduces the width 
available to each user group. This reduction could have implications for the 
level of comfort for all users.

Behaviour observed during the study by both pedestrians and cyclists on 
segregated and unsegregated routes was judged to be considerate by both 
user groups. Agreement was strongest on unsegregated routes, suggesting 
that behaviour is more considerate on these routes, where the requirement to 
interact with other types of user is clearer.

No collisions and no conflict of any significance took place during video 
surveys undertaken as part of the study. Most of the interaction recorded was 
relatively inconsequential, where one or more users adjusted their
speed/position. The most severe category of interaction observed was that of
marginal conflict, where cyclists or pedestrians slowed down or changed 
direction but movement was calm and controlled.

Page 11 of 24Page 109
Page 73



Equality Impact Assessment

Part 4 – Assessment of impact

4.1 Age: Testing of disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive impact.

a) How is this protected characteristic reflected in the
County/District/Borough?

The following details have been provided by ESCC, East Sussex in
Figures. These represent a projected population profile, by age, for the 
County and Hastings for 2018.

Population by age profile

Age Group County Hastings
Numbers % Numbers %

0-10 64,373 12 12,160 13
11-17 41,157 8 7,022 8
18-24 35,464 6 7,183 8
25-34 52,653 10 11,204 12
35-44 57,278 10 10,564 11
45-54 78,101 14 13,496 15
55-64 75,257 14 11,985 13
65-74 74,843 14 10,334 11
75-84 45,623 8 5,478 6
85+ 22,916 4 2,619 3
All 547,665 100 92,045 100

b) How is this protected characteristic reflected in the population of
those impacted by the proposal, project or service?

Those who are likely to be more affected by the scheme are young 
children or older people. As the table in section (a) shows the age 
profile for Hastings is similar compared with those for the County for 
these age groups. Hastings has a marginally higher proportion of its 
population who are 17 years old or younger.

c) Will people with the protected characteristic be more affected by
the proposal, project or service than those in the general 
population who do not share that protected characteristic?

Yes - Older people may be more adversely affected than the general 
population. Older people may be less mobile or have hearing or visual 
impairments and consequently feel more vulnerable/less safe sharing 
the Park with cyclists.

Young children may also be more adversely affected than the general 
population as they may be less aware of their surroundings, potentially 
walking into the path of an approaching cyclist if left unsupervised.

Page 12 of 24Page 110
Page 74



Equality Impact Assessment
d) What is the proposal, project or service’s impact on different

ages/age groups?

Negative Impacts:

Older people who feel more vulnerable/less safe sharing sections of the 
Park with cyclists may stop using the Park.

Families with young children may consider the Park’s environment 
being less safe when sharing with cyclists and may stop visiting this 
amenity.

Feedback from the consultation HBC carried out raised concern about 
the safety of pedestrians, particularly those who are less mobile. There 
were also concerns for the safety of young children who will be less 
aware of approaching cyclists.

Response from consultation process conducted by HBC:

“I see this as exceptionally dangerous proposition. Children run around 
in the park without fear of being knocked over which will undoubtedly 
happen if the scheme goes ahead as per consultation plans.”

Positive Impact:

By allowing cycling in the Park provides less confident cyclists, such as 
children or older people, a safe environment to cycle. Allowing cycling 
in the Park will also provide an environment for older people to cycle 
safely and remain active. This may encourage more people to cycle 
and use the Park.

Response from consultation process conducted by HBC:

“Glad to see that HBC are planning to develop a cycle path / shared 
use path in Alexandra Park. Roads around the park are hairy! With fast 
traffic and narrow roads (due to parking) so this is a welcome safe zone 
for families and kids alike. You have my full support for the scheme.”

e) What actions are to/or will be taken to avoid any negative impact
or to better advance equality?

In December 2017 ESH carried out a review of the proposed route of 
the shared facility through the Park. Reference Alexandra Park, 
Hastings Cycle Route Review document (SCH009-RP-0001). The
purpose of this document was to determine the suitability to introduce a
cycle route in the Park and identify where measures are required to 
reduce the potential risks associated in providing a shared facility.

The review used a risk based approach to assess two scenarios. 
Initially a risk assessment of the proposed route considered how a 
cycle facility can be introduced without any modifications to the existing 
layout of the Park. From this exercise, it was possible to identify areas 
where, if left unmodified, the risks to public safety would be 
unacceptably high and unsuitable for the introduction of a cycle route.

Page 13 of 24Page 111
Page 75



Equality Impact Assessment
The risk assessment was then repeated assuming that practicable 
mitigation measures had been carried out to reduce the level of risk. 
From this second assessment, it was possible to identify the residual 
risks and make a direct comparison between route options to determine 
which route, if any, presented the lowest level of risk.

The proposed mitigation measures are discussed in the following 
section.

f) Provide details of the mitigation.

The following mitigation measures will be introduced to facilitate cycling 
in the Park:

(i) Where space permits existing paths will be increased in width to
provide an effective width of 3.0m. This is the minimum recommended 
width for a shared use route.

(ii) Existing features, such as benches, signs etc. will be repositioned to
provide an effective width of 3.0m.

(iii) To ensure sufficient forward visibility is provided along the entire route
it is proposed to cut back vegetation at key locations were visibility is 
currently restricted. These locations have been identified in the Route 
Review document ESH have prepared. By improving forward visibility 
will allow users of the route to see other approaching users and react 
accordingly.

(iv) The use of coloured surfacing and effective use of signing and lining
will be introduced at sections of the route where it is not practicable to 
introduce an effective width of 3.0m or at locations that are considered 
a higher risk of user conflict, such as locations of adjoining paths.

In addition to the above measures it is recommended that the scheme will 
proactively seek to influence the behaviour of all those using the Park 
through the promotion of a Code of Conduct encouraging everyone to 
take account of and respect each other’s needs. It is proposed to 
introduce ‘Code of Conduct’ signs throughout the route.

As part of the design process an independent safety review (Road Safety 
Audit) will be conducted. The purpose of this audit will be to identify 
potential risks in the proposed design so that these risks can be mitigated. 
A post construction Safety Audit will also be conducted.

Once the scheme and associated mitigation measures come into effect 
HBC will be responsible for the enforcement of cycling in the park. HBC 
propose to work with cycle groups to enforce a self-management 
approach to cycling, and to work with park users to highlight and 
challenge unacceptable behaviour by all users of the Park.

In the initial stages, HBC officers, will design a programme for the 
Rangers and Wardens to have a heightened presence in the Park at 
specific times to engage with cyclists and deter unsafe use. Cycling 
outside the designated route would be liable to potential Fixed Penalty 
Notices for contravention of the byelaws set by HBC.

Page 14 of 24Page 112
Page 76



Equality Impact Assessment
Following on from this initial phase of education and enforcement, HBC 
will continue to monitor how the shared route is used, and should any 
serious concerns arise, will deploy enforcement staff to address them.

g) How will any mitigation measures be monitored?

It is recommended that HBC should undertake follow up user surveys 
once the permanent scheme and associated mitigation measures come 
into effect to assess the quality of their experience when using the 
route.

4.2 Disability: Testing of disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive
impact.

a) How is this protected characteristic reflected in the County
/District/Borough?

The following details have been provided by ESCC, East Sussex in 
Figures. These represent a projected population profile, by disability, 
for the County and Hastings for 2018.

Category County Hastings
Numbers % Numbers %

Higher severity disability 29,405 12 5,257 12
Lower severity disability 66,858 27 11,897 27
Locomotor disability 71,850 29 12,893 29
Personal care disability 37,438 15 6,718 15
Hearing disability 26,639 11 4,791 11
Sight disability 13,142 5 2,241 5
All 245,332 100 43,797 100

b) How is this protected characteristic reflected in the population of
those impacted by the proposal, project or service?

As the table in section (a) show, the profile for Hastings is the same as 
the population in the County.

c) Will people with the protected characteristic be more affected by
the proposal, project or service than those in the general 
population who do not share that protected characteristic?

Yes - People who are less mobile, have balance problems or have 
hearing or visual impairments may feel more vulnerable/less safe 
sharing the Park with cyclists.

d) What is the proposal, project or service’s impact on people who
have a disability?

Negative Impact:

By allow cycling in the Park there is a risk that disabled people
and other vulnerable groups are concerned for their safety and avoid 
using the Park.

Page 15 of 24Page 113
Page 77



Equality Impact Assessment

Concerns raised through the consultation process related to the shared 
use environment and the safety of pedestrians, particularly those with 
disabilities. One of the main concerns was that cyclists would not be 
considerate to other users of the park and more vulnerable pedestrians 
may not be aware of approaching cyclists.

Response from consultation process conducted by HBC:

“I do not think that a cycle path in Alexandra Park is a good idea due to
the following: -

- The park is used by walking groups, dog walkers and people with
disabilities. Bicycles can be a nuisance if they go fast.

- The lower park is used by small children who could be in danger as
they often run out.

- Presumably some cyclists will be going straight from Silverhill to the 
Town and will be cycling fast. I believe there is no speed limit for
cycles.”

Positive Impact:

By creating an off-road cycle facility through the Park will provide 
people who do not feel confident in cycling with a safe route to use.

e) What actions are to/ or will be taken to avoid any negative impact
or to better advance equality?

Refer to 4.1 (e)

f) Provide details of any mitigation.

Refer to 4.1 (f)

g) How will any mitigation measures be monitored?

Refer to 4.1 (g)

4.3  Ethnicity: Testing of disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive
impact.

It is not considered that this protective characteristic will experience 
disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive impact by the scheme to allow 
cycling in Alexandra Park.

4.4 Gender/Transgender: Testing of disproportionate, negative, neutral or
positive impact Consider men, women, transgender individuals.

It is not considered that this protective characteristic will experience 
disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive impact by the scheme to allow 
cycling in Alexandra Park.

Page 16 of 24Page 114
Page 78



Equality Impact Assessment
4.5 Marital Status/Civil Partnership: Testing of disproportionate, negative,

neutral or positive impact.

It is not considered that this protective characteristic will experience 
disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive impact by the scheme to allow 
cycling in Alexandra Park.

4.6 Pregnancy and maternity: Testing of disproportionate, negative, neutral
or positive impact.

a) How is this protected characteristic reflected in the
County/District/Borough?

The following details have been provided by ESCC, East Sussex in
Figures. These represent a projected population profile, by age, for the 
County and Hastings for 2018.

It is considered the likely age range of those who potentially will fall 
within this protected characteristic is between 16 and 54.

Population by age profile

Age Group County Hastings
Numbers % Numbers %

0-10 64,373 12 12,160 13
11-17 41,157 8 7,022 8
18-24 35,464 6 7,183 8
25-34 52,653 10 11,204 12
35-44 57,278 10 10,564 11
45-54 78,101 14 13,496 15
55-64 75,257 14 11,985 13
65-74 74,843 14 10,334 11
75-84 45,623 8 5,478 6
85+ 22,916 4 2,619 3
All 547,665 100 92,045 100

b) How is this protected characteristic reflected in the population of
those impacted by the proposal, project or service?

As the table shows the age profile for Hastings is marginally higher 
compared with those for the County for these age groups.

c) Will people with the protected characteristic be more affected by
the proposal, project or service than those in the general 
population who do not share that protected characteristic?

New parents but more particularly their young children may be more 
adversely affected than the general population as they may be less 
aware of their surroundings, potentially walking into the path of an 
approaching cyclist if left unsupervised.

Page 17 of 24Page 115
Page 79



Equality Impact Assessment

d) What is the proposal, project or service’s impact on different
ages/age groups?

Negative Impacts:

Women who are pregnant, may feel more vulnerable/less safe sharing 
sections of the Park with cyclists may stop using the Park.

New parents with young children may consider the Park’s environment 
being less safe when sharing with cyclists and may stop visiting this 
amenity.

Positive Impact:

By allowing cycling in the Park provides less confident cyclists, such as 
families with young children, a safe environment to cycle.

e) What actions are to/ or will be taken to avoid any negative impact
or to better advance equality?

Refer to 4.1 (e)

f) Provide details of any mitigation.

Refer to 4.1 (f)

g) How will any mitigation measures be monitored?

Refer to 4.1 (g)

4.7 Religion, Belief: Testing of disproportionate, negative, neutral or
positive impact.

It is not considered that this protective characteristic will experience 
disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive impact by the scheme to allow 
cycling in Alexandra Park.

4.8 Sexual Orientation - Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual and Heterosexual: Testing
of disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive impact.

It is not considered that this protective characteristic will experience 
disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive impact by the scheme to allow 
cycling in Alexandra Park.

4.9 Other: Additional groups/factors that may experience impacts - testing
of disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive impact.

There are no other groups which have been identified which are likely to 
experience disproportionate, negative, neutral or positive impact.

Page 18 of 24Page 116
Page 80



Equality Impact Assessment

4.10 Human rights - Human rights place all public authorities – under an obligation
to treat you with fairness, equality, dignity, respect and autonomy. Please look
at the table below to consider if your proposal, project or service may
potentially interfere with a human right.

The scheme will not have human rights implications.

Articles

A2 Right to life (e.g. pain relief, suicide prevention)

A3 Prohibition of torture, inhuman or degrading treatment (service users
unable to consent, dignity of living circumstances)

A4 Prohibition of slavery and forced labour (e.g. safeguarding vulnerable
adults)

A5 Right to liberty and security (financial abuse)

A6 &7 Rights to a fair trial; and no punishment without law (e.g. staff
tribunals)

A8 Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence
(e.g. confidentiality, access to family)

A9 Freedom of thought, conscience and religion (e.g. sacred space,
culturally appropriate approaches)

A10 Freedom of expression (whistle-blowing policies)

A11 Freedom of assembly and association (e.g. recognition of trade
unions)

A12 Right to marry and found a family (e.g. fertility, pregnancy)

Protocols

P1.A1 Protection of property (service users property/belongings)

P1.A2 Right to education (e.g. access to learning, accessible information)

P1.A3 Right to free elections (Elected Members)

Page 19 of 24Page 117
Page 81



Equality Impact Assessment

Part 5 – Conclusions and recommendations for decision makers

5.1 Summarise how this proposal/policy/strategy will show due regard for
the three aims of the general duty across all the protected 
characteristics and ESCC additional groups.

•  Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010;

•  Advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups

•  Foster good relations between people from different groups

Introducing a package of measures to support and facilitate the scheme to 
allow cycling within the Park will reassure people about the behaviour of 
cyclists through use of code of conduct information and thereby help mitigate 
the negative impacts that have been identified and promote the Park as 
accessible and safe for all users.

Page 20 of 24Page 118
Page 82



Equality Impact Assessment

5.2 Impact assessment outcome Based on the analysis of the impact in part
four mark below ('X') with a summary of your recommendation.

5.3 What equality monitoring, evaluation, review systems have been set up
to carry out regular checks on the effects of the proposal, project or 
service?

It is recommended that HBC should undertake further user surveys 12 months 
from when the permanent scheme and associated mitigation measures come 
into effect to determine/assess the quality of peoples experience when using 
the Park.

5.6 When will the amended proposal, proposal, project or service be
reviewed?

12 months from when the permanent scheme and associated mitigation 
measures come into effect.

Date completed: 14 Feb. 18 Signed by
(person completing)

James Vaks

Role of person
completing

Scheme Project Manager
for East Sussex Highways

Date: 22 Feb.18 Signed by
(Manager)

Chris Weedon

Page 21 of 24

X Outcome of impact assessment Please explain your answer fully.

A No major change – Your analysis
demonstrates that the policy/strategy is robust 
and the evidence shows no potential for 
discrimination and that you have taken all 
appropriate opportunities to advance equality 
and foster good relations between groups.

A package of mitigation measures
will be introduced to facilitate cycling 
in Alexandra Park. These are 
described in paragraph 4.1 (f) of this 
assessment.

Once the scheme and associated
mitigation measures come into
effect HBC will be responsible for 
the enforcement of cycling in the 
Park and will work with cycle groups
to enforce a self-management
approach to cycling, whilst engage 
with all park users to highlight and 
challenge unacceptable behaviour 
by cyclists.

X B Adjust the policy/strategy – This involves
taking steps to remove barriers or to better 
advance equality. It can mean introducing 
measures to mitigate the potential effect.

C Continue the policy/strategy - This means
adopting your proposals, despite any adverse 
effect or missed opportunities to advance 
equality, provided you have satisfied yourself 
that it does not unlawfully discriminate

D Stop and remove the policy/strategy – If
there are adverse effects that are not justified 
and cannot be mitigated, you will want to 
consider stopping the policy/strategy altogether. 
If a policy/strategy shows unlawful discrimination 
it must be removed or changed.

Page 119
Page 83



Equality Impact Assessment

Part 6 – Equality impact assessment action plan

If this will be filled in at a later date when proposals have been decided please tick here and fill in the summary report.

The table below should be completed using the information from the equality impact assessment to produce an action plan for the 
implementation of the proposals to:

1. Lower the negative impact, and/or
2. Ensure that the negative impact is legal under anti-discriminatory law, and/or
3. Provide an opportunity to promote equality, equal opportunity and improve relations within equality target groups, i.e. increase the

positive impact
4. If no actions fill in separate summary sheet.

Please ensure that you update your service/business plan within the equality objectives/targets and actions identified below:

Area for 
improvement Changes proposed Lead Manager Timescale Resource 

implications

Where
incorporated/flagged?

(e.g. business
plan/strategic

plan/steering group/DMT)

Page 22 of 24

ü

P
age 120

P
age 84



Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 Accepted Risk

From your analysis please identify any risks not addressed giving reasons and how this has been highlighted within your Directorate:

Area of Risk
Type of Risk? 
(Legal, Moral,

Financial)

Can this be addressed at
a later date? (e.g. next 

financial year/through a
business case)

Where flagged? (e.g. 
business plan/strategic

plan/steering group/DMT)
Lead Manager Date resolved (if

applicable)

Page 23 of 24

P
age 121

P
age 85



Sluice

33

106

21

123

2
4

2
3

40 1
9

65

2

11

21

36

3
2

4

2
4

BEAUFORT ROAD

E
V

E
R

S
L
E

Y
 R

O
A

D
5
7
.8

m

E
V

E
R

S
L
E

Y
 C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

1
0

24

1

1
3

1 to 96

2

9

10
4

3

18

7

SELMESTON

SM

5

2
0

1

Neils
on C

ourt

1

10
8

37

AMHERST CLOSE

CRESCENT

9

103

2

1

114

46

111a

18

112

31

22

B
O

H
E
M

IA
 R

O
A
D

16

8

17

6

E
l S

ub S
ta

1

13

Filter Bed

51

130

30

SM

1
a

4

Filter Bed

105

111

Harmer's Reservoirs

2

1

1

81

22

12

2
5

EVERSLEY CLOSE

12

P
a
th

12

2
9

44.0m

6

23

EVERSLEY

5

16

11

Beaufort Court

12

P
la

yg
ro

u
n
d

1

13

5

37a

23

8

C
L
O

S
E

8 7

14

7a

15

4

5

6

6

244

3
1

1

39

3
2
3

1
4
6

43

49

L
O

N
D

O
N

 R
O

A
D

7

10

8

C
L
A

R
E

N
C

E
 R

O
A

D

25

ALDBOROUGH ROAD

10

37

1
2

44

12

54

1
5

Elm
wood

1
5
2

2
9
9

2

8

13

13

24

2
1

NORTH ROAD

5
4

335

6

2
8
9
 to

 2
9
7

1

1

5

11

Shornden Reservoir5

4

3
1
1

34

34

S
T

 M
A

T
T

H
E

W
'S

 D
R

IV
E

2
2

29

3

UPPER PARK ROAD

D

S
hornden P

assage 2

16

2

2

Via M
arcello

1

4

3

3 4

9
6 7

1

8

5

Und

C
R

C
S

CR

C
F

Und

C
H

CP

C
W

C
F

C
H

ED & W
ard Bdy

C
W

CF

FW

C
F

U
nd

CF

1

4

E
D

 &
 W

a
rd

 B
d
y

4

3

rs

e to g

(covered)

R
eservoir

El

3
6

9

5

10

2

Sub Sta

15

D
ra

in

1

1
5
a

14

7

203

101

2

a

Kenrith Court

2
3

3
0

1 to 125

1

6

2
2

4

17

100

28

B

92
93

Dam

90

2a

F
o
x W

a
lk

14

D
e
f

CP

1

3
6
9

8

3
8
5

3

3
7
3

3

to

2
8

3
7
1

3
9
5

9

4
0

1

1

4

4

3
6
1

1

3
8
3

1
2

2
4

2
4

2
6

7
3
.2

m

CLOSE

9

S
E

D
L
E

S
C

O
M

B
E

 R
O

A
D

 S
O

U
T

H

3
9
9

to

M
is

si
o
n
 R

o
o
m

3
9
7

5

(P
ly

m
o
u
th

 B
re

th
re

n
)

3
5
3

RECTORY

2

1
4

St Rodes Cottage

LB

2

2

7

1
5

1
5

3
9
3

3
8
9

3
8
7

1
8

1

8

6
3
9
1

3
6
7

1
2

3

18

6

2
7

8

7

11

1
0

3
4
3

1
4

1
9
0

S
T

 M
A

T
T

H
E

W
'S

 G
A

R
D

E
N

S

1
3

7

1
6

8

2

S
T
 M

A
T
T
H

E
W

'S
 G

A
R

D
E
N

S

ST MATTHEW'S GARDENS

1

1

1
2
a

1
41
7

1
1

L
O

N
D

O
N

 R
O

A
D

S
T

 M
A

T
T

H
E

W
'S

 R
O

A
D

24

1
9

1
5

12

14

2
0
0

3
2

25

19

W
ra

y
m

e
a
d

1

4

1

3
4
1

1

D
O

R
D

R
E

C
H

T
 W

A
Y

UPPER P
ARK R

O
AD

S
T
 H

E
L
E

N
'S

 R
O

A
D

BEAUFORT ROAD

L
O

N
D

O
N

 R
O

A
D

U
P

P
E

R
 C

L
A

R
E

N
C

E
 R

O
A

D

U
P
P
E
R
 C

LA
R
E
N
C
E
 R

O
A
D

Shornden Reservoir

SluiceSluiceSluice

Harmer's Reservoirs

rs

ST HELEN'S ROAD

A
S
H

F
O

R
D

 R
O

A
D

Private Road

Cut line

Cut line

49
39

26

gery

82

53

38

8

10

20

7

28

1

14

43

17

8
a

32
a

8
b

9

34

32

34

45

29

1

2

Workshop

Adm
ira

l S
te

ps

Sluice

106

1

9

10
4

27

1
4

SELMESTON

SM

1
2

19a

Amherst Gardens

15

10
8

29

37

AMHERST CLOSE

103

114

111a

112

SM

105

111

 Reservoirs

N

oir

29a

8

C
L
O

S
E

21

7

14

14

31

1
5

7a

19

1

AMHERST ROAD

LB

1
6

C
R

C
S

4

3

rs

50

27

22

1

33

8

60

1 to 47

2
2

7

6

35

59

46

4

C
h
u
rc

h

1

6
3

25a

2

23

25

BALD
SLO

W
 R

O
AD

Garage

3647

28

48

5

12

54

19

26

6

2

5

ick

m

24

18

20

H
o
u
s
e

32

40

PLEASANT ROAD

H
U

G
H

E
N

D
E

N
 P

L
A

C
E

LATON ROAD

2

10

63

61

61

Hughenden Court

MOUNT

29

10

77

D
ra

in

1

Windsor Place

1
27

4
7

3
9

76

101

1
0

2
2

9

Path

ST H
ELEN'S

 C
RESCENT

2

1 to 6

1 to 125

1

1 to 41

3

2

7 to 12

28

53

12

23

2
e

8

2
d

12

130

CLOSE

52

Sluice

2
9

67

The
 C

oa
ch

H
ou

se

3
5

4

4
2

2

14.5

22

d

1

30

36

41

48

Shelter

2
9

4
8

29

a

1

6

14

24

47

59

2
g

64

6

17

60

11

58

Shelter

1

2
c

69

17

S
h
e
lt
e
r

R
O

A
D

E
L
P

H
IN

S
T

O
N

E

17

131

1

S
H

E
R

W
O

O
D

El S
ub S

ta

S
herw

ood H
ouse

Mount Pleasant Crescent

1
5

2
h

15
a

1
1

40

1

2

45

12

8

3
3

55

23

1
5

1
0

2

23

1
3

53

2
1

14

1
2

30

22

1
1

41

2
f

23
a

1
4

22

6

1

13

6

14

1

4

2

2

QUARRY R
OAD

18

32

C
ro

m
e
r W

a
lk

27

130

19

6

34

13

90

2
9

8

1
7

32

28

82

21
T
R

E
S

S
E

L
L
 C

L
O

S
E

8

1
0

2

41

ROBERT

C
L
O

S
E

4

48

30

1

100

P
IL

T
D

O
W

N

18

22

1
9

1

83

88

2

1
2

4a

94

2

15

28

AMHERST ROAD

78

1

11

4

27

1
4

6

92

6

15

56.9m

7

20

100

93

Dam

73

11

90

52

59

65

58

89

10

20

72

50

1

2

34

2
7

4

THE COPPICE

2

16

22

71

14

70

18

22

6

THE SPINNEY

15

3

75

11

10

11

72

8

76

FOREST W
AY

6

C
R

ED & Ward Bdy

W
ar

d 
B
dy

CR

CW

FW

CH

C
F

C
H

E
D

 &
 W

a
rd

 B
d
y

St Marks
United Reformed Church

8a

F
o
x W

a
lk

BEATRICE CLOSE

1

14

3

4

LB

D
e
f

CP

5
2

11

23

15

1 to 616

Quarry
 Terra

ce

D
O

R
D

R
E

C
H

T
 W

A
Y

ST HELEN'S ROAD

LOWER PARK ROAD

UPPER P
ARK R

O
AD

S
T

 H
E

L
E

N
'S

 R
O

A
D

B
E
T
H

U
N

E
 W

A
Y

LO
W

ER
 PAR

K R
O

AD

B
A
LD

S
LO

W
 R

O
A
D

S
T 

JA
M

E
S
'S

 R
O

A
D

SluiceSluiceSluice

 Reservoirs R R

rs

ST HELEN'S ROAD

A
S
H

F
O

R
D

 R
O

A
D

Private Road
S
T

H
E

L
E

N
'S

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

S
T

H
E

L
E

N
'S

P
A

R
K

R
O

A
D

Cut line

Cut line

1

Allotment Gardens NOTES:

Bank

BEAUFORT CRESCENT

El
Sub Sta FFB Potential future cycle link

1 Background based on Ordnance Survey mapping only.
Club

Surgery
Junction
House

64.2m

Cremer
House

PH

Depot

Depot

Shornedene

Surgery

Shornedene
House

Bus Depot

59.6m

Tanks

13

Allotment Gardens

TCB

El
Sub

Sta

Allotment
Gardens

FB

Sluice

El Sub Sta

Pumping
Station

PC

20.9m

LB

Depot

Vallegrande

LB

Report for additional details.

3 Risk assessment is based on the proposed layout following the
introduction of mitigation measures.

KEY

Sections that achieve a low risk score (1-3) and are 
broadly acceptable.

Sections that achieve a medium risk score (4-6) and 
are tolerable only if further mitigation measures are not 
reasonably practical.

El
Sub Sta

El
Sub Sta

62.3m

Kanchenchunga

Allotment

Gardens

Burnside

Alex ndra Park Mansions

Sections that achieve a high risk score (7-9) and are 
not acceptable unless further mitigation measures are

23.7m
Chellwood

Harmer's Reservoirs
WWeirs

Hollypark

Rectory

St Matthew's

Church

El Sub Sta

Hall

Old
Coach
House

Silverstone
Court

The Last One

The
Hideaway

Welcome

Stone

Shornden Reservoir

SSluice

Stone

Alternative route
option.

Stone

Shornden Wood

26.0m

Weirs Hastings
Peace Garden

Tennis Courts
Weirs

FFB
Stone

Tennis Court

Shelter

Stone

15.1m

Sections that achieve a very high risk score (10-12)
but no suitable alternative route option is available.

Potential future cycle link to Hastings District General 
Hospital.

Potential alternative route alignment to avoid narrow 
section through woodland.

Sports Court

Stones
Stone

DDam
41.2m

MICHELE CLOSE
SSluicee 39.3 m

Stone

Tennis Courts

DDam

Shornden Wood
Builders
Yard

39.4 m

Thorpe's Wood
Stone

Newgate Wood
Stone

D Fn

Bohemia L
Lodge

58.7 m
57.0m

55.3m

Consider alternative
option.

Stone
Thorpe's Wood

Heather Heights 18.9m

46.9m
Stone

Kynance

59.3
m

48.6m

Church
The
Bungalow

Newgate Reservoir
(covered)

58.8 m El Sub Sta

Wakehurst
Court

39

39.3 m

El Sub Sta Vicarage

Pumping
Station

Depot 39.5 m
The Pocket Park

Sluice

TCB

El Sub Sta
Shelter

26.0m

Weirs Hastings
Peace Garden

Weirs
Tennis Courts

FFB
Stone

Tennis Court

Stone

15.1m

Stone

PCs

FB
Dam

Dam

Dam

Dam

FB

Consider Bridge
Widening.

Dam

TCB

Dam FFB
Dam

11.1m

Royal Court

1 to 17

El Sub Sta

The Annexe
Three Ways

Quarry
Cottage

39.3m

Stone

Stones
Stone

Damm

Tennis Courts

Sports Court

Alexandraa Parkk
FB

Bandstand

FB

33.3m El
Sub Sta

Damm
FB

Stone
PPond

16.1m

Thorpe's Wood
PCs

Stone

ewgate Wood
Stone

FB

16.8m

16.2m

16.1m

10.6 m

Alexandra and Clive Vale
Bowls Clubs

24.9m

Bowling Green

Heather Heights

LB
Shelter

18.9m

Juglans

PPondd

15.8m

Arden

FFB

e Reserv
2
9

Risk reduced by re-siting existing park 
benches to northern side of path.

PPond

TCBs

Playground
5

15.3m

37a

El
Sub Sta Stone

10.7 m

LB

74.9m
Dam

Stone

66.9m

1

Allotment Gardens

LB

15.4m

BBoating LLake Dam

El Sub Sta

FFB

Sluice

Saxonhurst

Lyndhurst

MP 82

0 50 100 200

Tennis Courts

SCALE 1:2000 (A1) METRES
SCALE 1:4000 (A3)

War
Memorial

Pavilion

Tennis Court Tennis
Court

LB

52.9m

Vicarage Queens
Lodge

SP

8.4m

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100019601

Status Revision
KEY PLAN:

ALEXANDRA PARK CYCLE FACILITY S3
Scale 1:2000

P03
Date 01/12/2017

P03 S3 11/05/2018 Route alignment updated through Lower Park IT JV JV

P02 S3 22/01/2018 Minor amends to risk classifications IT JV JV

P01 S3 01/12/2017 First Issue IT JV CW

EAST SUSSEX HIGHWAYS 
RINGMER DEPOT, THE BROYLE

RINGMER, EAST SUSSEX, BN8 5NP

Drawing title

PRELIMINARY DESIGN 
SUGGESTED ROUTE OPTION

Drawn By
Checked By
Approved By
Project No.

Drawing number

I Tingley
J Vaks
C Weedon

3520000
Originator

ESH Original Size A1

Rev Status Rev. Date Purpose of revision Drawn Chck'd Apprv'd Tel. 0345 60 80 193 www.eastsussexhighways.com 3520000-ESH-HGN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0015

3520000-ESH-HGN-SCH0009-DR-CH-0015.dwg

B

ond

Buckshole
Cottages

2 Refer to Risk Assessment Matrices in Appendix D of Review

PPond

FB applied or the design amended.

luice

luic

B

am

ei

am

am

El Sub Sta

armer's
We

HHarmer's eservoirs

23.7m

Weiirs

FB

Burnside

Existing tree
removed.

Alexandra Park Mansions

Kenrith Court

El Sub Sta

17.4m

80 78

LB
12.4m

44.0m

Shelter
47.8

Warw
Court

Sur

B

B

Da
Alexandr Par

Da
ond

on

B

ond

oating ake

B

Project

Volume Design Alt. Type Role Number

Appendix A – 
General 
Arrangement 
Plan

P
age 122

P
age 86



Appendix 5 Proposed changes, signs, and visuals – Proposed shared cycle 
route, Alexandra Park (illustrative purposes) 

Timber Bollards 

New oak bollards will be manufactured and installed. The bollards will be 900mm 
high x 200mm x 200mm and manufactured in Oak.  They will be installed at key 
locations to demarcate the route.  

 

 
 

Marker Plates and finger posts 

There are 31 bronze marker plates proposed to delineate the cycle route through the 
park.  They will be set into the ground flush with the adjacent surface and slip 
resistant. 

 

 
 

  

 

  

Illustration of an oak 
timber bollard with sign

Illustration showing 
proposed marker plates 
and finger posts

Page 87



Barriers 

 
 

 

Lighting 

No lighting will be introduced into the park.  3 new columns only to be installed along 
Strood Road access to illuminate down to the proposed speed-reducing barriers. 
This falls outside of the park boundary. 

Cats-eye type LED studs to be installed on the immediate approaches to the barriers 
in the Upper Park. These are not intended as illumination for the barriers, more as a 
reminder to users that the barriers are present. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Left: Existing layout of 
route at the top of the 
upper park

Pedestrian barriers with 
reflective bands to keep cycle 
speeds down.

Page 88



 

 

 

 

 

Fencing 

New timber fencing will be 
erected in keeping with the 
character of the park– to be 
provided in three locations within the Upper Park: 

1. Along the southern side of the widened access from Strood Road to replace 
the metal fence currently in place.  

2. To protect users through the woodland adjacent to Shornden Reservoir. 

3. To extend an existing fence alongside the ramp leading from the access track 
adjacent to Harmers Reservoir. 

New metal fencing to be provided on the approaches to the existing bridges to 
protect users from drops to the watercourse. 

 

 
 

 

 

  

Right: Illustration of same path 
widened with green barriers 
with reflective detail and LED 
studs in the footpath

Proposed Sussex Post and 
Rail fencing as found 
throughout the park

Proposed hooped metal fencing for 
the approaches to bridges in 
keeping with existing hooped 
fencing in the park

Page 89



Signs 

• New signs will be manufactured in the colours used throughout the park – 
Olive Green and Cream. 

• Direction arrows will be attached to new timber bollards. 

• The use of road markings to be kept to an absolute minimum.  ‘No Cycling’ 
markings to be used at key locations. 

 

 
  

Page 90



Path at the Tennis Courts 

 
 

 
 

Existing layout showing the 
bench on the path and gate to 
tennis courts

Proposed layout with bench 
set back from path entrance to 
tennis court moved

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6  Consideration of alternative routes 

East Sussex County Council design team considered a range of alternative 
routes for the cycle scheme, both inside and outside the park.   

The County Council provided the following information regarding alternative 
route proposals and why those were rejected. 

 

1 St Helens Road - converting the existing footway running alongside the 
 northern boundary to the park.   

• Insufficient corridor width, particularly between Dordrecht Way and St 
Helens Park Road. 

• Narrow pavement with spiked railing on Alexandra Park side.  The 
railings are a protected heritage feature of the park. 

• Widening the pavement into the carriage way would reduce the capacity 
of a main arterial road into and out of the town and impact users of the 
bus stops along this route. 

Significant widening would be required over this whole length, which would 
be extremely costly, on-street parking and trees would have to be removed 
and the proximity of the spiked railings meant this was not a viable option.  

2 Upper and Lower Park Roads – converting and widening existing 
 footway or on-road provision or converting Upper and Lower Park 
 Roads to one-way only traffic.  

• Protected heritage spiked railings run the length of the footway.   

• Widening the footway and reducing the carriageway width would remove 
on-street parking along the length of the widened section. 

• Converting the road to a one-way system was considered which would 
require diverting traffic onto neighbouring roads which already carry 
high levels of traffic. 

• A one-way carriageway would require speed reducing measures. 

Widening the footway or converting the roads to a one-way system were not 
considered viable, cost effective, or options likely to be supported by 
residents. 

Page 93



3 Clarence Road / Upper Clarence Road– upgrading and providing on-
 road provision.   

• Both Clarence and Upper Clarence Roads are unadopted Highway.  
Bringing these up to adoption standards would require significant work, 
including carriageway construction and drainage works. 

• A steep section exists between the two sections of road over which it is 
unlikely that a fully DDA compliant route could be provided. 

• The cost of upgrading these roads to form a part of the cycle route is 
likely to be prohibitive. 

Due to its unadopted status and steep middle section and extent and cost of 
works required to bring them to adoptable standards this route was not 
considered a viable route option. 

4 Beaufort Road / Eversley Road – converting existing footway or on-road 
 provision.   

• On-street parking is provided along both sides of the road.  

• Widening a footway to provide the minimum level of provision - shared 
use - would require the loss of parking along the whole of one side. 

• Stagecoach depot on road and need adequate widths for buses. 

The introduction of a cycle facility along these roads would require a greater 
corridor width than is currently available without the removal of on-street 
parking and was not considered a viable option.  

5 Vale Road - converting existing footway or on-road provision.   

• On-street parking is provided along both sides of the road.  

• Widening a footway to provide shared use would require the loss of 
parking along the whole of one side. 

The introduction of a cycle facility along Vale Road requires a greater 
corridor width than is currently available without the removal of on-street 
parking and was not considered a viable option.  

 

Page 94



© Crown Copyright and database rights [2022]. OS [100021328]±

Existing and Proposed Cycle Routes
 
 

Nov 2022Date:
1:28,000Scale:

Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Cycle Route Existing
Cycle Route Proposed

Alexandra Park
Borough Boundary

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

 
Report to: Cabinet 
 
Date of Meeting: 5 December 2022 
 
Report Title: Fees and Charges 
 
Report By: Kit Wheeler, Chief Finance Officer  
 
 
Purpose of Report 

This is the annual review of the Council’s fees and charges. 

 
Recommendations 

1. Fees and Charges be increased by a minimum of 10% except where there are 
clear reasons for not doing so, or where charges are on a statutory basis. 

2. Fees and charges proposed by services be agreed. 
 
Reasons for Recommendations 

The Council relies on income from fees and charges to provide services and 
supplement Government funding where this does not fully cover the cost of the service, 
we as a Council provide. Historically costs have continued to increase whilst central 
funding decreases. 
 
 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 5



 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

Background 

1. The Council provides a wide range of services to the local community and visitors 
for which it can make a charge – either under statutory powers (set by the 
Government) or discretionary (set by the Council). 

2. The purpose of the Fees and Charges Strategy is to provide a framework and set 
out the key principles to be adopted in the annual review and setting Fees and 
Charges.  

3. It is important for the Strategy to become embedded and linked to the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). It should also compliment the Council’s 
key objectives and priorities, i.e. as reflected in specific subsidies and concessions 
where there is a need to ensure comprehensive participation by the local 
community. 

4. The main focus of the Fees and Charges strategy is on discretionary charges, i.e. 
where the Council can exercise some degree of control. The aim is to ensure that 
the Council makes optimum use of its charging powers having regard to its core 
priorities and objectives. This will help to fulfil its place-shaping responsibilities. 

5. It is imperative that we find an equilibrium between increasing our fees and charges 
to aid our services to deliver what they need to, whilst recognising that the wider, 
potentially, negative social and economic impact on our residents will be far greater 
over the next couple of years and needs to be taken into consideration. 

6. The Council is recommended, as best practice, to consider its fees and charges in 
a context that is wider than simply income generation. To that end Council’s are 
encouraged to produce a fees and charges strategy against which annual reviews 
are considered.  

 

Introduction 

7. A Fees and Charges strategy has been in place for a number of years. This has 
been updated for 2023/24 and is included in Appendix A.  

8. The Council’s total fee income budget for 2022/23 amounts to c.£6.6m. To protect 
the real value of this income the Council needs to review its fees and charges on 
an annual basis. 

9. Each service has been asked to review its fees and charges with a 10% increase in 
mind or to provide justification as to why a lower increase is recommended.  

10. Ordinarily to maintain the value of fees and charges income, the minimum increase 
should reflect inflation – based on the retail price index.  

 

 

Page 98



 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

11. Therefore, a comparison between previous years can be found below for reference. 

 

 July 2020 July 2021 July 2022 October 2022 
RPI (%) 1.6 3.8 12.3 14.2 

 

12. A decision was taken corporately that we would apply a recommended rate of 
increase of 10%, unless specific areas felt there was a need to diversify away from 
this. 

13. Despite the figures in the above table being higher than the 10% recommended 
amount proposed and October’s rate being 14.2%, the decision was made that for 
the upcoming financial period when the majority of these charges will come in to 
effect, the average rate would be closer to 10%.  

14. This will therefore allow for other factors to be considered such as the local 
economy not being as a strong as it was and an impending recession hitting in due 
course if latest forecasts are to be trusted. 

15. Historically the council has tried to keep any increases to a minimum to reduce the 
impact on residents and visitors to the town. However, last year’s average increase 
of 3.9% did not, understandably so, factor in the unexpected global events that we 
have seen over the past financial year.  

16. The Council effectively absorbed this increase in inflation rate and is not able to 
recoup any additional costs from its fees and charges process to account for this. 

17. The figure being calculated as part of this piece of work is again based on the 
markets future expectations around cost pressures and inflation rates for the next 
twelve months.    

18. Whilst many of the fees and charges become effective from the new financial year, 
some fees and charges, for regulatory and consultation purposes, need to be 
communicated in advance of this report and agreed under delegated authority. An 
example of this is Beach Huts where communication has already taken place with 
those impacted.    

19. The changes made as part of this process are not made without due challenge and 
consideration to the impact that they will have on our residents and visitors to the 
Town. 

20. The rigorous process whereby senior politicians have been involved in scrutinising 
each charge has been a significant time commitment and seen as a priority over 
the past few months. 

21. However, it is believed that these decisions, no matter how difficult to make, will still 
allow us as a Council to continue to provide the excellent services that our citizens 

Page 99



 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

have come to expect from us, whilst helping to maintain our financial resilience 
which under the current circumstances is more challenging than ever. 

 

Allotments  

22.  Allotment fees are subject to the Allotments Act 1950, which states under Section 
10(1) “the minimum increase in rent will reflect inflation based upon the Retail Price 
Index (RPI) at that time”. And the recommendation is that current fees are raised by 
10%.  

23. However, it should be noted that each tenancy agreement has a different level of 
fees currently charged. There are 627 plots (3588 Rods) in total. 

 

Beach Huts & Chalets 

24. It is agreed that Beach Huts and Chalets are increased by the recommended 10%. 

 

Car Parking 

25. It is proposed that Car Parking charges will be increased by the recommended 
10%, with the exception of Summerfields and Falaise which will remain at current 
pricing. 

26. Electric Vehicle charging is increased by 20% from 50p to 60p per kwh due to the 
specific cost pressure of electricity costs in order to provide that service. 

 

Cemetery & Crematorium  
 

27. Charges to increase mostly by 10% RPI with the exception of the additional use of 
the chapel which is proposed to be increased by 74%. 

28. Child fees are set at half adult fees. These are to be claimed back from the 
government’s Children’s Funeral Fund. This is a purely an administration 
requirement to include as part of the Councils Fees and Charges list and has no 
impact on the family and the impacted family would not bear any of these costs. 

 

 

 

Page 100



 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

East & West Cliff Railways 
 

29. Charges to the West Hill Lift are proposed to be increased by 10% RPI. 

 

Events 
 

30. Having benchmarked our fees and charges against other local authorities it is 
recommended that most are increased in line with RPI at 10%.  

 

31. However proposed increases above inflationary rate to cover increase in utility 
costs and where income can be maximised are: 

➢ Private hire of the bandstand fees are increased by 23%. 
 

➢ Funfairs and circuses fees are increased by 15%. 
 

➢ All commercial events fees and charges are increased by 15%. 
 

➢ Fees for closure orders under the East Sussex Act (required for ticketed 
access generally), and the fee for days commercial organisers spend on site 
but closed to the public are increased by 23%. 
 

➢ Fees and charges are introduced for charitable/not for profit events. This will 
be variable and that a minimum charge of £50 for all ‘charitable events’ and 
up to £1,000 for large events.  

 
 

32. A booking fee is to be introduced, and that fees and charges are set at a level in 
line with market values.  

33. For large commercial events this fee should be 25% of the total booking value, if 
that value exceeds the basic proposed fee. 

 

Garden Waste 
 

34. No planned increase in Garden Waste for the next financial year, but future options 
to be assessed as part of the strategic planning of the service.  

 

Page 101



 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

Licensing 
 

35. The proposed increase of 10% RPI,  apart from those which would lead to fees and 
charges exceeding the cost of providing the service or those fixed and set by the 
Secretary of State or are at the Maximum level set by the Government.    

 

Museum & Art Gallery 
 

36. The fees to be increased as follows: 

1. Ceremonies      Current Proposed  Increase   
i. Ceremony     £475  £475   0% 
ii. Ceremony + Refreshments  £700  £800  14% 
iii. Ceremony + Reception  £1,000 £1,250 25% 

 
2. Room (per room/per hour)   Current Proposed  Increase  

   
i. Charities/Local Groups, 10am-5pm    £20  £20  0% 
ii. Charities/Local Groups, from 5pm     £50  £60  20% 
iii. Commercial, 10am-5pm      £25  £30  20% 
iv. Commercial, from 5pm      £50  £100  100% 

 

Planning Services 
 

37. No planned changes to Local Land Charges or Statutory fees and services as this 
is not permitted where they are statutorily set or exceed the cost of providing the 
service. 

38. Other discretionary services such as Street Naming and Numbering has been 
proposed to be increased by the recommended 10%. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

Sports Pitches 
 

39. It is proposed that fees and charges increase at the recommended 10% level 
except in the case of the following; 

➢ That all fees and charges bands for community football are frozen year on 
year in light of reducing pitch quality and the expected reduced maintenance 
specification. However, a 10% increase in fees for commercial operators will 
be implemented. 
 

➢ That bowls season ticket fees are frozen 

 

40. All Fees and Charges are listed in Appendix B to Appendix E and will vary in their 
percentage increase for various factors. One example for this variance to the 
recommended increase could be for example, where the service has wanted to 
keep to a ‘round’ amount for ease and experience of customers as well as making it 
easier for staff and system changes.  

41. As a result, some of the changes are higher than the recommended 10% as well as 
being lower than this figure, where decisions were made to ‘round down’ and keep 
at the current pricing bracket. 

 

Financial Implications 

42. There are implications for the Council should it choose not to increase fees and 
charges. The Council is effectively cash limited through the level of government 
grant it receives and the “cap” on the level of Council Tax it can raise.  

43. The total proposed increase in Fees and Charges in 2023/24 will lead to an 
estimated Income budget increase of c.£600k.  

44. If fees and charges are not increased as recommended then to achieve a balanced 
budget in future years the Council’s options are as follows: 

➢ Make further efficiencies,  

➢ Cut services more deeply than already required to meet overall financial 
demands, 

➢ Use up the limited reserves it has, quicker than the current Medium Term 
Financial Strategy is forecasting. 

 

 

 

Page 103



 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

Timetable of Next Steps 

45. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these: 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

Advise service 
users of increased 
fees 

Fee increase date  1 January 2023 or 
1 April 2023 
depending on fee 

Assistant Directors 

Build increased 
income into 
budget 

2023/24 Budget February 2023 Chief Finance 
Officer 

Page 104



 

 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

 

Wards Affected  

All 

Policy Implications 

Reading Ease Score: 
 
Have you used relevant project tools?: N 
 
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness N 
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  N 
Risk Management     N 
Environmental Issues & Climate Change   N 
Economic/Financial Implications   Y 
Human Rights Act     N 
Organisational Consequences   N 
Local People’s Views    N 
Anti-Poverty      N 
 
 

Additional Information 

Appendix A - Fees and Charges Strategy  
Appendix B – Fees and Charges (Exc. Parking) 
Appendix C – Parking Fees and Charges 
 

Officer to Contact 

Kit Wheeler (Chief Finance Officer) 
kit.wheeler@hastings.gov.uk 
01424 451520 
 
 
 

Page 105

mailto:kit.wheeler@hastings.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Page 1 of 4 

 

FEES AND CHARGES STRATEGY– 2023/24 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Council provides a wide range of services to the local community and visitors 

for which it is able to make a charge – either under statutory powers (set by the 
Government) or discretionary (set by the Council). 
 

1.2 Income from fees and charges is an important source of revenue for the authority. 
 

1.3 The purpose of this Strategy, is to provide a framework and set out the key 
principles to be adopted in the annual review and setting of General Fund Fees 
and Charges. A similar strategy was produced in respect of last year. It is 
important for this Strategy to become embedded and linked to the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). It should also compliment the Council’s 
key objectives and priorities, i.e. as reflected in specific subsidies and 
concessions where there is a need to ensure comprehensive participation by the 
local community. 

 
1.4 The main focus of this strategy is on discretionary charges, i.e. where the Council 

can exercise some degree of control. The aim is to ensure that the Council makes 
optimum use of its charging powers having regard to its core priorities and 
objectives. This will help to fulfil its place-shaping responsibilities. 

 
 

1.5 It is imperative that we find an equilibrium between increasing our fees and 
charges to aid our services to deliver what they need to, whilst recognising that 
the wider, potentially, negative social and economic impact on our residents will 
be far greater over the next couple of years and needs to be taken into 
consideration. 

 
 

2. Background and Context 
 
2.2 Broadly, fees and charges fall into one of two categories: 

 
• Non-discretionary (statutory) – these are set by the Government and include 

planning, licensing, etc.  
 

• Discretionary (there is no legal obligation) – these are set by the Council in line 
with the current policy for services such as Leisure, Arts and Car Parking.  
 

Each year, fees and charges are reviewed as part of the Council’s budget setting 
process – usually to reflect an increase in line with RPI inflation.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



 
Page 2 of 4 

Inflation Indices (last year and this):-  
 
 

 July 2020 July 2021 June 2022 July 2022 
RPI (%) 1.6 3.8 11.8 12.3 

 
 The current rate is 12.3% (July 2022), whilst CPI is 8.8% (July 2022) 
 
2.3 Charges do more, however, than just raise income and lower the burden on the 

general council tax payer. They play a significant role in the achievement of a 
range of Council priorities from social inclusion to the contribution towards the 
health of the local community. In addition, they play a key role in: 
  

• service delivery  
• raising income and helping to deliver a balanced budget  
• controlling access to services  
• responding to competition – setting prices higher or lower than market rates,  
• funding investment in new/existing services  
• affecting (and influencing) public behaviour, i.e. to influence the level and 

timing of use, e.g. use of transport  
 
2.4 Increasingly, there is a need to demonstrate the costs of chargeable services and 

the extent of any subsidy or concession.  
 
 
 

3. Factors to consider when reviewing Fees and Charges 
 

• Charges should be: fair and equitable; transparent, easy to understand; and 
applied consistently.  In some circumstances, the Council will offer subsidies to 
all users or concessions to specific user groups where this is consistent with 
achieving its core objectives. However, it will not provide subsidy to commercial 
operators from the council taxpayer.  
 

• Aligned with budget setting, the annual review of fees and charges is a focus on 
delivering service priorities and dealing with potentially sensitive or contentious 
issues. It may also help to close any funding gap.  
 

• The appropriateness of charges should be regularly reviewed as part of a 3 year 
rolling programme (linked to the Medium term Financial Strategy and supporting 
strategies) in order to consider issues relating to cost recovery, income 
generation, concessions, etc.  
 

• Where appropriate, specific strategies for significant income streams should be 
produced, e.g. car parking.  
 

• Where appropriate, relevant partners and stakeholders should be consulted as 
part of any significant review of charges (e.g. structural review).  
 

Page 108



 
Page 3 of 4 

• Where necessary charges should undergo an equality and diversity impact 
assessment to ensure they fully comply with any legislative requirements.  

 
4. Budgetary Principles 
 

• Any fee or charge should look to cover the full cost of the service, including the 
cost of capital except where Members have agreed otherwise.  
 

• Where less than full cost is being recovered, the justification for the decision is 
reviewed at least every 3 years to ensure it remains valid and that significant 
income is not being lost.  
 

• Where there is a policy to provide a subsidy level or concession this should be 
clearly documented and the level of subsidy/concession calculated, together 
with the financial implications.  
 

• Where increases to current charges are being proposed then income profiling 
models should be completed in order to accurately predict future income levels.  

 
• Where leases contain rental profiles these should be documented and 

incorporated into the budget setting process.  
 

• Where appropriate, benchmarking data from other providers of the service 
(including private sector) should be included in the service plan and explanations 
for significant differences should be provided. However, it should be recognised 
that local variations in charging is an inevitable consequence of flexibility to use 
charges in ways that meet local circumstances.  
 

• As a minimum, once the charge has been set, it should be increased annually in 
line with inflation unless this conflicts with agreed policy.  
 

• Material fluctuations in charges year on year (+/- 5%) will be highlighted as part 
of the annual review process.  
 

• The setting of fees and charges should be made in accordance with the current 
VAT regulations.  
 

• Where appropriate, the cost of administering the charge, including debt 
collection should be proportionate to the income generated.  
 

5. Setting the Right Level and Structure of Charges  
 

5.1 This is crucial because it has a significant effect on how well the Council achieves 
its financial, service and core objectives. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



 
Page 4 of 4 

6. Annual Review  
 
6.1 Fees and charges are reviewed annually by lead members at a joint meeting.  

The Constitution (Para 86, Part 8) allows for the approval of charges to be made 
by Directors or their nominees in accordance with Council policies and any criteria 
approved by Cabinet. The charges are thus determined in accordance with this 
strategy. There have been calls to review charges when setting the annual budget 
– but this is currently problematic where beach huts are concerned as they need 
to be determined well in advance  of the annual renewal date in January of each 
year. 
 
 

Page 110



Appendix B

Charges 

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges 2023-

24
Rent per rod per year £8.78 10.0% £9.66

Water charge per rod per year £1.76 10.0% £1.94

ALLOTMENTS FEES AND CHARGES FROM 1 APRIL 

2023

Page 111



CHALETS AND PRIVATE HUTS FEES AND CHARGES 2023-24

Site Name
Charges

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges

2023-24

Marina £1,981.00 10.0% £2,179.00

Solarium £1,981.00 10.0% £2,179.00

West Marina Front Row £1,367.00 10.0% £1,504.00

West Marina Back Row £1,308.00 10.0% £1,439.00

West of Haven & Glyne Gap HBC Beach Huts £1,898.00 10.0% £2,088.00

White Rock Chalets £1,392.00 10.0% £1,531.00

Victoria - Peak £91.00 10.0% £100.00

Victoria - off Peak £72.00 10.0% £79.00

Full Season £1,416.00 10.0% £1,558.00

West of Haven front £709.00 10.0% £780.00

West of Haven Middle/Back £592.00 10.0% £651.00

Glyne Gap east £533.00 10.0% £586.00

Glyne Gap West £474.00 10.0% £521.00

Tackle Huts £220.00 10.0% £242.00

Tackle Huts Large £441.00 10.0% £485.00

Inboard Boats £167.00 10.0% £184.00

Rowing/Outboard Boats £92.00 10.0% £101.00

Boxes £76.00 10.0% £84.00

Winch Hand £71.00 10.0% £78.00

Winch Power £142.00 10.0% £156.00

Administration fee £155.00 10.0% £171.00

Page 112



Cemetery and Crematorium fees and charges 2023-24

Charges 2022-23

Percentage 

Increase Charges 2023-24

Cremation Fees 

(including Medical Referee Fee of £25.12 & excluding 

environmental charge of £67 ) 

Child up to and including the age of 18 (*or 19 if they remain 

in education or further education)

£0.00 0.0% half of adult fee

Adult -19 years and over (19 if they have not remained in 

education or further education) reduced fee for 9.00/9.15 

time slot – Direct cremation only £420.00 10.0% £462.00

Adult – 19 years and over (19 if they have not remained in 

education or further education) reduced fee for 9.30 time 

slot only £608.00 10.0% £669.00

Adult -19 years and over (19 if they have not remained in 

education or further education) £752.00 10.0% £827.00

The Cremation of Body Parts (Regulations 2000) 19 years and 

over (19 if they have not remained in education or further 

education) £104.50 10.0% £114.50

NB The Cremation fee includes: use of the Chapel for 30 

Minute service, use of chapel organ or recorded music, all 

attendances after the coffin has been placed on the 

catafalque, strewing of ashes in the Cemetery Gardens 

(unwitnessed), Certificate of Disposal and cremated 

remains box with paper liner if required.

Additional Fees and charges for cremation

Use of Chapel for additional 45 minute period (including 

Organ) £149.00 74.0% £259.00

P
age 113



Charges 2022-23

Percentage 

Increase Charges 2023-24

Use of Chapel for a memorial service only without cremation 

or burial on our premises £235.00 10.0% £259.00

Late paper fee-arrival of Statutory Forms after 9:30 the 

preceding day £78.00 10.0% £86.00

Cancellation of cremation (after 9.30am the preceding day) £421.00 10.0% £463.00

Cancellation of extended service time (after 9.30am the 

preceding day) £143.00 10.0% £157.00
Funeral service over running agreed time and encroaching 

into the next time slot, including the 3.15 accounting for 30 £200.00 10.0% £220.00

Temporary Deposit of Cremated Remains (per month), from 

28 days after the cremation £65.00 10.0% £72.00

Crematorium media services

Wesley Service Live Webcasting £55.00 10.0% £61.00

Wesley Service Recording (downloadable link via email) £30.00 10.0% £33.00

Wesley Service Recording including visual tribute £45.00

Single still image £18.00

Slide show -max 25 images, no music £38.00

for every additional 25 images £21.00

Slide show -max 25 images, with music £75.00

for every additional 25 images £21.00

Family Video File £18.00

Downloadable MP4 Video File £18.00

Urgent Service-orders for tributes after 48hr cut-off period 

wesley charge £75 (not inc VAT) £90.00

P
age 114



Charges 2022-23

Percentage 

Increase Charges 2023-24

Disposal of Cremated Remains

Unwitnessed General Strew

Strewing or Interment in Specific Area £138.00 10.0% £152.00

Unwitnessed General Strew to previously used areas £83.00 10.0% £91.00

Unwitnessed General Stew - Cremated Remains from 

another Crematorium £58.00 10.0% £64.00

Strewing or Interment in Specific Area - Cremated Remains 

from another Crematorium £138.00 10.0% £152.00

Witnessed scattering of remains over Garden of 

Remembrance only £58.00 10.0% £64.00

Interring cremated remains into a cremated remains plot or 

grave £138.00 10.0% £152.00

Included in cremation fee

P
age 115



Charges 2022-23

Percentage 

Increase Charges 2023-24

Purchase of Exclusive Right of Burial for 50 years      

Per Cremated Remains Plot £835.00 10.0% £919.00

To extend for further 25 years £419.00 10.0% £461.00

Per Lawned Section Grave space £1,027.00 10.0% £1,130.00

To extend for further 25 years £513.00 10.0% £564.00

Per Natural Burial Grave space £517.00 10.0% £569.00

To extend for further 25 years £259.00 10.0% £285.00

Per Non Lawned Section grave space (Burials Only) £1,655.00 10.0% £1,821.00

To extend for further 25 years £827.00 10.0% £910.00

Per Children’s section Grave - NON RESIDENT & RESIDENT £163.00 25.0% £204.00

Child up to and including the age of 18 (*or 19 if they remain 

in education or further education – not children's section) 

NON RESIDENT & RESIDENT £327.00 25.0% £409.00

Interment Fees

Child up to and including the age of 18 (*or 19 if they remain 

in education or further education – single depth) £0.00 half of adult fee

Adult – 19 years and over (*subject to above criteria) £787.00 10.0% £866.00

Extra depth to accommodate a future adult(s) Full Earth  

Burial in a designated child's grave (not possible in baby  

Section)
£761.00 10.0% £837.00

Child under 5 years - non resident £118.00 10.0% £130.00

NB   a) Each of the above charges are doubled for non-residents of the Borough of Hastings unless the 

deceased was resident in the Borough at the date of death. 

        b)  Ordinary (non-purchased) grave spaces are only available where the deceased was a resident of the 

Borough at the time of Death

P
age 116



Charges 2022-23

Percentage 

Increase Charges 2023-24

Child 5 years and up to and including the age of 18  (*or 19 if 

they remain in education or further education  – single 

depth) - Non resident £709.00 10.0% £780.00

Adult (19 years and over – exclusions above) - non resident £1,522.00 10.0% £1,674.00

Use of Chapel (including Organ) £149.00 74.0% £259.00

Use of Chapel for additional 45 minute period (including 

Organ) £149.00 74.0% £259.00

Wesley Service Recording (downloadable link via email) £30.00 10.0% £33.00

Wesley Service Webcasting £55.00 10.0% £61.00

Use of Chapel for a memorial service only without cremation 

or burial on our premises £235.00 10.0% £259.00

Late paper fee-arrival of Statutory Forms after 9:30 the 

preceding day £78.00 10.0% £86.00

Adjoining Plot Reservation Charge (10 year period) £251.00 10.0% £276.00

Change of Ownership of Burial Rights £76.00 10.0% £84.00

Maintenance of turf for one year only £113.00 10.0% £124.00

To Erect an Approved Memorial

Headstone/Tablet/Vase not exceeding 2ft (600mm) in height 

or additional inscription £111.00 10.0% £122.00

A Memorial exceeding 2ft (600mm) in height £176.00 10.0% £194.00

A full size Kerbstone Set (Traditional Sections) £176.00 10.0% £194.00

A half size Kerbstone Set (Traditional Sections) £111.00 10.0% £122.00

A Memorial with full size Kerbstone Set £207.00 10.0% £228.00

Additional fees and charges for burial

P
age 117



Charges 2022-23

Percentage 

Increase Charges 2023-24

Memorialisation Fees (inclusive of VAT where applicable) 

Dedications (i) to (xv) inclusive are for a ten year period
Metal Plaque at a tree (if available) £434.00 10.0% £477.00

rededication at tree £217.00 10.0% £239.00
Metal Plaque at a Shrub (if available) £414.00 10.0% £455.00

Rededication at shrub £207.00 10.0% £228.00
Additional Metal Plaque (at tree or shrub £169.00 10.0% £186.00
Memorial Plate on a Kerbstone £322.00 10.0% £354.00

Rededication of Memorial Plaque to Kerbstone £159.00 10.0% £175.00
Memorial Bronze Wall Plaque £405.00 10.0% £446.00

Rededication of Memorial Wall Plaque £204.00 10.0% £224.00
Athenia Wall Plaque Inscription only £390.00 10.0% £429.00
Athenia wall plaque inscription with motif or picture £458.00 10.0% £504.00
Leather Panel £320.00 10.0% £352.00

Rededication of Leather Panel £157.00 10.0% £173.00
Classic System Plaque £258.00 10.0% £284.00

Rededication of Classic System Plaque £129.00 10.0% £142.00

Donated Engraved Memorial Seat (secured to base) £1,195.00 10.0% £1,315.00

Granite Hexagon 2 Lines £295.00 10.0% £325.00

Granite Hexagon up to 5 Lines £390.00 10.0% £429.00

Granite Hexagon up to 8 Lines £458.00 10.0% £504.00

Granite Hexagon addition of a photo plaque £132.00 10.0% £145.00

Granite Hexagon addition of a Motif  (bespoke designs 

available) plus P.O.A £37.00 10.0% £41.00

Spring Bulbs – daffodil or crocus (no plaque displayed or 

rededication fee) £50.00 10.0% £55.00

Marble Kerbstone Vase with Granite Tablet on a 15 years 

lease £602.00 10.0% £662.00

Replacement Tablet for Vase £208.00 10.0% £229.00

P
age 118



Charges 2022-23

Percentage 

Increase Charges 2023-24

Rededication of Marble Kerbstone Vase with Granite Tablet £202.00 10.0% £222.00

Book of Remembrance

Two Line Entry £88.00 10.0% £97.00

Each additional line £19.00 10.0% £21.00

Floral Emblem £153.00 10.0% £168.00

Other Emblems including Badges, Crests & Shields £180.00 10.0% £198.00

Illuminated Capital Letter £180.00 10.0% £198.00

Full Coat of Arms £184.00 10.0% £202.00
Remembrance Cards (Optional Extras Available see 

above)

Two Line Entry £95.00 10.0% £105.00

Each additional line £19.00 10.0% £21.00

Miniature Book of Remembrance (Optional Extras 

Available)

Two Line Entry £107.00 10.0% £118.00
Each additional line £19.00 10.0% £21.00

P
age 119



LIFT FARES (EAST & WEST) FEES AND CHARGES 2023-24

Category
Charges 

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges 

2023-24

Adult Return £4.00 10.0% £4.00

Child Return £2.50 10.0% £2.50

Concessions £2.50 10.0% £2.50

Adult Group £2.75 10.0% £2.75

Child Group £1.85 10.0% £1.85

Family -  up to 2 adults 3 Children £11.00 10.0% £12.00

Adult Season £50.60 10.0% £55.60

Child Season £34.10 10.0% £37.10

Weekly ticket adult £12.10 10.0% £13.10

Weekly ticket child £6.60 10.0% £7.60

Weekly ticket family £30.80 10.0% £33.80

Page 120



EVENT FEES AND CHARGES 2023-24

Charges 

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges 

2023-24

Bandstand Hire (with power per 4hrs) £69.00 23.0% £85.00

Bandstand Hire (without power per 4hrs) £45.00 23.0% £55.00

Bootfair - Day £677.00 10.0% £745.00

Funfairs - Small - Week £2,606.00 15.0% £2,997.00

Funfairs, Circuses - Large - Day £1,213.00 15.0% £1,395.00

Hire of Land - Small Commercial Event - Day £875.00 15.0% £1,006.00

Hire of Land - Medium Commercial Event - Day £1,563.00 15.0% £1,797.00

Hire of Land - Large Commercial Event - Day £2,313.00 15.0% £2,660.00

Hire of open space for major commercial event - Day N/A New POA

Hire whilst event shut - Day - All commercial £561.00 23.0% £690.00

Hire of land for charity/not for profit event £0.00 New POA

Private Hire N/A New £400.00

Park Closure Order (For Ticketed Access - East Sussex Act) £813.00 23.0% £1,000.00

Page 121



WASTE MANAGEMENT FEES AND CHARGES FROM 1 JANUARY 2023

Charges 

2020-21

Percentage 

Increase

Charges 

2021-22

1 Green Waste annual fee £70.00 0.0% £70.00

2 Bulky Waste 3 items £36.00 0.0% £36.00

All prices include VAT at the standard rate

NB:  Any additional information on the charges above should be referenced to the 

above lines (number in column A)

Page 122



LICENCE FEES AND CHARGES 2023-24

All discretionary licence fees are made up of two factors, Part A (Application and issue) and Part B

Licence Type M/F
Charges 

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase 

(RPI)

Proposed 

Increase £

Charges

2023-24

Animal Welfare ** Plus Vet fee

Dog Day Care & Home Boarding £323.00 0.0% £0.00 £323.00

Commercial Boarding £277.00 0.0% £0.00 £277.00

Breeding of Dogs** £289.00 0.0% £0.00 £289.00

Keeping/training animals for exhibition £230.00 0.0% £0.00 £230.00

Pet Shop £277.00 0.0% £0.00 £277.00

Riding Establishment (up to 10 horses) ** £277.00 0.0% £0.00 £277.00

Dangerous Wild Animals-initial ** £1,201.00 0.0% £0.00 £1,201.00

Zoo (6 yearly) ** £1,201.00 0.0% £0.00 £1,201.00

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver (1 year) £162.00 0.0% £0.00 £162.00

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver (3 year) £403.00 0.0% £0.00 £403.00

Hackney Carriage Vehicle * £249.00 0.0% £0.00 £249.00

Hackney Carriage Plate Temporary Plate £117.00 0.0% £0.00 £117.00

Plate Loan (refund on return) £38.00 0.0% £0.00 £38.00

PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR LICENCE FEE STRUCTURE

Number of vehicles in each fee band

1 (1 year) £132.00 0.0% £0.00 £132.00

2 to 20 (1 Year) £202.00 0.0% £0.00 £202.00

21 to 70 (1 Year) £431.00 0.0% £0.00 £431.00

71 & above (1 year) £1,360.00 0.0% £0.00 £1,360.00

1 (5 year) £371.00 0.0% £0.00 £371.00

(Ongoing compliance). If the licence application is refused Part b will be refunded. Full details can be obtained by contacting the 

licensing department.  The fees listed below are a total of both parts.

P
age 123



2 to 20 (5 year) £678.00 0.0% £0.00 £678.00

21 to 70 (5 year) £1,829.00 0.0% £0.00 £1,829.00

71 & above (5 year) £6,453.00 0.0% £0.00 £6,453.00

Private Hire Vehicles * £249.00 0.0% £0.00 £249.00

Private Hire Vehicle Temporary plate £117.00 0.0% £0.00 £117.00

Plate Loan (refunded on return of plate) £38.00 0.0% £0.00 £38.00
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Drivers Licence Test Re-

take (1) £54.00 0.0% £0.00 £54.00
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Drivers Licence Test Re-

take (2) £80.00 0.0% £0.00 £80.00

Replacement Drivers Badge £10.50 0.0% £0.00 £10.50

Replacement Door Stickers £17.00 0.0% £0.00 £17.00

Replacement Fare Card £5.00 0.0% £0.00 £5.00

Add Adhesive Plate Holder £16.00 0.0% £0.00 £16.00

Bonnett Crest £21.00 0.0% £0.00 £21.00

Licensing Act 2003 (set by Sec of State)

Premises Licence & Club Premises Certificate

Initial Fee

Band A F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

Band B F £190.00 NA £0.00 £190.00

Band C F £315.00 NA £0.00 £315.00

Band D F £450.00 NA £0.00 £450.00

Band E F £635.00 NA £0.00 £635.00

Multiplier for Bands D & E for business exclusively or 

primarily selling alcohol.

Band D (x 2) Application F £900.00 NA £0.00 £900.00

Band D (x 2) Annual Charge F £640.00 NA £0.00 £640.00

Band E (x 3) Application F £1,905.00 NA £0.00 £1,905.00

Band E (x 3) Annual Charge F £1,050.00 NA £0.00 £1,050.00

Annual Fee

Band A F £70.00 NA £0.00 £70.00

Band B F £180.00 NA £0.00 £180.00

Band C F £295.00 NA £0.00 £295.00

P
age 124



Band D F £320.00 NA £0.00 £320.00

Band E F £350.00 NA £0.00 £350.00

Exceptionally Large Events

5000 to 9999 persons F £1,000.00 NA £0.00 £1,000.00

10000 to 14999 persons F £2,000.00 NA £0.00 £2,000.00

Personal Licences

Grant F £37.00 NA £0.00 £37.00

Replacement/Amendment £10.50 0.0% £0.00 £10.50

Temporary Event Notices 

Application F £21.00 NA £0.00 £21.00

Licensing Act 2003 ( Miscellaneous Charges)

Theft, loss of premises licence or summary F £10.50 NA £0.00 £10.50

Provisional Statement for new premises being built F £315.00 NA £0.00 £315.00

Notification of change of name & address F £10.50 NA £0.00 £10.50

Application to vary person as premises supervisor F £23.00 NA £0.00 £23.00

Transfer of Premises licence F £23.00 NA £0.00 £23.00

Interim authority notice following death of licence holder F £23.00 NA £0.00 £23.00

Notification of change of name or alteration to club rules F £10.50 NA £0.00 £10.50

Change of registered address of club F £10.50 NA £0.00 £10.50

Theft, loss etc of personal licence F £10.50 NA £0.00 £10.50

Theft, loss of temporary event notice F £10.50 NA £0.00 £10.50

Change of name and address F £10.50 NA £0.00 £10.50

Freeholder notification of licensing matters(1 year) F £21.00 NA £0.00 £21.00

Miscellaneous

Acupuncture, Tattooing, Ear Piercing, Electrolysis PREMISES £167.00 10.0% £17.00 £184.00

Acupuncture, Tattooing, Ear Piercing, Electrolysis PERSONS £83.00 10.0% £8.00 £91.00

Amendment of registration documents £25.00 10.0% £3.00 £28.00

Replacement of registraiton documents £10.00 10.0% £1.00 £11.00

Wastle Oil Burners, renewal F £124.00 NA £0.00 £124.00

Petrol Vapour receovery F £122.00 NA £0.00 £122.00

Contaminated Land Enquiries - 1st hour £84.00 10.0% £8.00 £92.00

Contaminated Land Enquiries - Each Subsequent hour £44.00 10.0% £4.00 £48.00

Food Premises Register

P
age 125



Single Page Copy £17.00 10.0% £2.00 £19.00
Copy Containing Information regarding a particular category 

by Hand £138.00 10.0% £14.00 £152.00
Copy Containing Information regarding a particular category 

by post £210.00 10.0% £21.00 £231.00

Full Copy Register By Hand £404.00 10.0% £40.00 £444.00

Full Copy Register By Post £426.00 10.0% £43.00 £469.00

Food Export Certificate                                             £61.00 10.0% £6.00 £67.00

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme re-score visit £150.00 10.0% £15.00 £165.00

Gambling Act 2005

Bingo premises Licence New M £3,500.00 NA £0.00 £3,500.00

Annual Fee M £1,000.00 NA £0.00 £1,000.00

Variation M £1,750.00 NA £0.00 £1,750.00

Licence transfer M £1,200.00 NA £0.00 £1,200.00

Reinstatement of licence M £1,200.00 NA £0.00 £1,200.00

Provisional Statement M £3,500.00 NA £0.00 £3,500.00

Adult Gaming Centre New M £2,000.00 NA £0.00 £2,000.00

Annual Fee M £1,000.00 NA £0.00 £1,000.00

Variation M £1,000.00 NA £0.00 £1,000.00

Licence transfer M £1,200.00 NA £0.00 £1,200.00

Reinstatement of licence M £1,200.00 NA £0.00 £1,200.00

Provisional Statement M £2,000.00 NA £0.00 £2,000.00

Notification of change F £25.00 NA £0.00 £25.00

Family Entertainment Centre. New M £2,000.00 NA £0.00 £2,000.00

Annual fee M £750.00 NA £0.00 £750.00

Variation M £1,000.00 NA £0.00 £1,000.00

Licence Transfer M £950.00 NA £0.00 £950.00

Reinstatement of licence M £950.00 NA £0.00 £950.00

Provisional Statement M £2,000.00 NA £0.00 £2,000.00

Betting Premises Licence. New M £3,000.00 NA £0.00 £3,000.00

Annual fee M £600.00 NA £0.00 £600.00

Variation M £1,500.00 NA £0.00 £1,500.00

Licence Transfer M £1,200.00 NA £0.00 £1,200.00

Reinstatement of licence M £1,200.00 NA £0.00 £1,200.00

P
age 126



Provisional Statement M £3,000.00 NA £0.00 £3,000.00

Gaming &  Machine  Permits (Prescribed Fees)

UNLICENSED Family Entertainment Gaming Machines. 

Application
F £300.00 NA £0.00 £300.00

Renewal F £300.00 NA £0.00 £300.00

Prize Gaming application F £300.00 NA £0.00 £300.00

Renewal F £300.00 NA £0.00 £300.00

Change of name F £25.00 NA £0.00 £25.00

Copy of permit   F £15.00 NA £0.00 £15.00
Licensed premises machine NOTIFICATION (2 

machines or less)
F £50.00 NA £0.00 £50.00

Licensed premises Machine Permit. (MORE THAN 2 

MACHINES) new
F £150.00 NA £0.00 £150.00

Licensed premises machine permit. variation F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

CLUB MACHINE PERMIT

Application-existing operator F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

Application (holder of a Club Premises Certificate) F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

Application (new applicant) F £200.00 NA £0.00 £200.00

Renewal F £200.00 NA £0.00 £200.00

Renewal for Club Premises Certificate Holder F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

Variation of Permit F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

Copy of Permit F £15.00 NA £0.00 £15.00

Annual Fee F £50.00 NA £0.00 £50.00

CLUB GAMING PERMIT

Application  (existing operator) F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

Application (holder of a club premises certificate) F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

Application (new applicant) F £200.00 NA £0.00 £200.00

Renewal for Club Premises Certificate holder F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

Variation of Permit F £100.00 NA £0.00 £100.00

Copy of Permit F £15.00 NA £0.00 £15.00

Annual Fee F £50.00 NA £0.00 £50.00

LOTTERIES - SMALL SOCIETY LOTTERY 

 1ST
 JANUARY – 31

ST
 DECEMBER EACH YEAR

REGISTRATION - Initial  (Stat Fee) F £40.00 NA £0.00 £40.00

P
age 127



 - Renewal (Stat Fee) F £20.00 NA £0.00 £20.00
Registered Fishermen (annual – set by Deed of 

Compromise) 
F £0.05 NA £0.00 £0.05

BOYS ASHORE TRADING CONSENT F £15.00 NA £0.00 £15.00

Sex Entertainment Venue £2,183.00 0.0% £0.00 £2,183.00

STREET TRADING
INC HOT & COLD FOOD  & MISCELLANEOUS GOODS, 

PER day £35.00 0.0% £0.00 £35.00

Paid monthly in advance by Standing Order £177.00 0.0% £0.00 £177.00
Discounted for traders applying annually and paying 

by monthly standing order. £1,778.00 0.0% £0.00 £1,778.00

Ice Cream Vans (static) £991.00 0.0% £0.00 £991.00

Ice Cream Vans (rounds) £991.00 0.0% £0.00 £991.00

Approved Markets

One Market (Hastings Town Centre) annual £206.00 0.0% £0.00 £206.00

Monthly event or less (St Leonards) annual £30.00 0.0% £0.00 £30.00
Touting, Hawking, Photography - (E. Sussex Act 1981 

S.32) £90.00 0.0% £0.00 £90.00

Voluntary Surrender Certificate £64.00 0.0% £0.00 £64.00

Highways 

Pavement Licence (until Sept 2023) F £100.00 N/A £0.00 £100.00

Scrap Metal

Site Licence (3 year licence) £383.00 0.0% £0.00 £383.00

Collectors Licence (3 year licence) £299.00 0.0% £0.00 £299.00

* Subject to advertisement

F Fixed by Stature

M At maximum set by government

P
age 128



Pest Control fees 2022-23

All prices include VAT at the standard rate

Charges 

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges 

2023-24

Concessionary 

2023-24          (50% 

/ 25% reduction)

1 Rats £42 10.0% £46 Free

2 Mice - Initial £88 10.0% £97 £73

3 Mice - Revisits £50 10.0% £55 £42

4 Wasp Nest £88 10.0% £97 £73

5 Fleas up to 6 rooms £111 10.0% £122 £61

6 Fleas each additional room £32 10.0% £35 £18

7 Other insects up to 6 rooms £159 10.0% £175 £114

8 Other insects each additional room £28 10.0% £31 £21

9 Call out charge where treatment declined £47 10.0% £52 No Concession

17

18 Invoice fee £35 10.0% £39 No Concession

NB:  Concessionary charge is a 25% discount with the exception of fleas where the discount is 50%. 

There is no concessionary charge for Rats.

Domestic Premises

General Charges

Page 129



MISCELANEOUS ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH FEES FROM 1 JANUARY 2023

Charges 

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges 

2023-24

Acupuncture, Tattooing, Ear Piercing, Electrolysis

1 Premises £167.00 10.0% £184.00

2 Persons £83.00 10.0% £91.00

Environmental Protection Authorisations 

(Statutory Fees)

3

4 Renewal £812.00 Fixed £812.00

5 Waste Oil Burners, new £124.00 Fixed £124.00

6 Waste Oil Burners, renewal £124.00 Fixed £124.00

7 Petrol Vapour Recovery £122.00 Fixed £122.00

8 Contaminated Land Enquiries - 1st hour £84.00 10.0% £92.00

9

Contaminated Land Enquiries - Each Subsequent 

hour £44.00 10.0% £48.00

10 Single Page Copy £17.00 10.0% £19.00

11 By Hand £138.00 10.0% £152.00

12 By Post £210.00 10.0% £231.00

13 By Hand £404.00 10.0% £444.00

14 By Post £426.00 10.0% £469.00

15 Food Export Certificate                                             £61.00 10.0% £67.00

16

Statements for Solicitors - fee recommended by 

HSE £100.00 Fixed £100.00

17 Voluntary Surrender Certificate £64.00 10.0% £70.00

All prices include VAT at the standard rate

NB:  Any additional information on the charges above should be referenced to the 

above lines (number in column A)

Page 130



MUSEUM FEES AND CHARGES 2023-24 

Venue Hire

Charges

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges

2023-24

Ceremonies

Ceremony £475.00 0.0% £475.00

Ceremony + Refreshments £700.00 14.3% £800.00

Ceremony + Reception £1,000.00 25.0% £1,250.00

Room

Charities/Local Groups, 10am-5pm (per room, per hour) £20.00 0.0% £20.00

Charities/Local Groups, from 5pm (per room, per hour) £50.00 20.0% £60.00

Commercial, 10am-5pm (per room, per hour) £25.00 20.0% £30.00

Commercial, from 5pm (per room, per hour) £50.00 100.0% £100.00

Exhibition

The Walkway (per day in 4, 6 or 8 week blocks) £15.00 0.0% £15.00

Extras

Tea and coffee (per person) £1.50 16.7% £1.75

Tea, coffee and biscuits (per person) £1.95 15.4% £2.25

Projector, screen, flipchart £10.00 0.0% £10.00

Learning/Schools & Groups

Self-guided £0.00 0.0% £0.00

Facilitated visits for Hastings Borough Council schools £0.00 0.0% £0.00

Facilitated visits for children's groups, pre-schools, non-

borough, language and independent schools (per child)
£1.50 0.0% £1.50

Outreach [2] (10am-12noon or 1pm-3pm) £55.00 0.0% £55.00

Loans Box (per month) £10.00 0.0% £10.00

Late return of loan box (per day) £10.00 0.0% £10.00

LEGO Innovation Studio (per child) £3.00 0.0% £3.00

Collections/Archaeological Archives

Archaeological Archives (per deposit) £100.00 0.0% £100.00

Archaeological Archives (per additional finds box) £75.00 13.3% £85.00

Archaeological Archives (per additional archive box) £35.00 14.3% £40.00

Images

Photocopy A4 (per page) £0.50 10.0% £0.55

Photocopy A3 (per page) £0.75 13.3% £0.85

High Resolution Image Digital[1] (per image) £10.00 0.0% £15.00

Reproduction Rights

Non-commercial uses - CC BY-NC-ND Licence £0.00 0.0% £0.00

Books, newspaper editorial, magazines and journals (for 

first image and + £10 per additional image)
£75.00 13.3% £85.00

Books, newspaper editorial, magazines and journals 

(multiple countries/languages) (for first image and + £20 

per additional image)

£250.00 0.0% £250.00

Digital £75.00 13.3% £85.00

Page 131



Venue Hire

Charges

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges

2023-24

Staff Time

Research, first 30 mins free (per hour) £50.00 10.0% £55.00

Requested Talks[2] (per hour) £50.00 10.0% £55.00

Externally funded projects:

o   Museum and Cultural Development Manager (per day) £300.00 0.0% £300.00

o   Collections and Engagement Curator (per day) £250.00 0.0% £250.00

o   Museum and Schools Programme Officer (per day) £250.00 0.0% £250.00

o   Other officers (per day) £200.00 0.0% £200.00

o   Museum Visitor Service Assistants (per day) £150.00 0.0% £150.00

[1] Where we do not have a high resolution digital image the cost of the professional 

photographer fees will also be recharged. 

[2] When outside of Hastings Borough Council boundary travel 

at £0.50 per mile will be added to the cost

Page 132



Charges Planning 2022-23

Site Name Charges 2022-23
Percentage 

Increase

Proposed 

Increase £ 

(Rounded)

Charges 2023-24

1
Sites up to and including 2.5 hectares (price per 0.1 

hectare)
£462 per 0.1 hectare 0.0% Statutory  

2 Sites in excess 2.5 hectares to a maximum of £150,000 £11,432 + £138 per 0.1 hectare 0.0% Statutory  

3

4
Alterations/extensions to a single dwellinghouse, 

including works within boundary
£206 0.0% Statutory £206

5

6
Alterations/extensions to two or more dwellinghouses, 

including works within boundaries
£407 0.0% Statutory £407

7 New dwellinghouses (up to and including 50) £462 per dwelling house 0.0% Statutory £462 per dwelling house

8 New dwellinghouses (for more than 50) 
£22,859 + £138 per additional 

dwelling house
0.0% Statutory

£22,859 + £138 per additional 

dwelling house

9

10

11
No increase in gross floor space or not more than 40sq 

m
£234 0.0% Statutory £234

12 More than 40 sq m but not more than 75 sq m £462 0.0% Statutory £462

13 More 75 sq  m but not more than 3,750 sq m 
£462 for each 75 sq m or part 

thereof
0.0% Statutory

£462 for each 75 sq m or part 

thereof

14 More than 3,750 sq m

£22,859 + £138 for each 

additional 75 sq m in excess of 

3,750 sq m to a maximum of 

£300,000

0.0% Statutory

£22,859 + £138 for each additional 

75 sq m in excess of 3,750 sq m to 

a maximum of £300,000

15

16

17 Not more than 465 Sq m £96 0.0% Statutory £96

18 More than 465 but not more than 540 sq m £462 0.0% Statutory £462

19 More than 540 but not more than 4,2015 sq m

462 for first 540 sq m + 462 for 

each 75 sq m (or part thereof) in 

excess of 540 sq m

0.0% Statutory

462 for first 540 sq m + 462 for 

each 75 sq m (or part thereof) in 

excess of 540 sq m

20 More than 4215 Sq m

22859 + 138 for each 75 sq m (or 

part thereof) in excess of 4,124 sq 

m up to a maximum of £300,000

0.0% Statutory

22859 + 138 for each 75 sq m (or 

part thereof) in excess of 4,124 sq 

m up to a maximum of £300,000

21

22

23 Not more than 465 sq m £96 0.0% Statutory £96

24 More than 465 sq m £2,580 0.0% Statutory £2,580

25

26

27 Not more than 5 hectares £462 0.0% Statutory £462

28 More than 5 hectares

£22,859 + £138 for each 0.1 

hectare (or part thereof) in excess 

of 5 hectares to a maximum of 

£300,000

0.0% Statutory

£22,859 + £138 for each 0.1 

hectare (or part thereof) in excess 

of 5 hectares to a maximum of 

£300,000

29

30

Car parks, service roads or other accesses for existing 

uses £234 0.0% Statutory £234

31

32 Site area not more than 15 hectares
£234 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)
0.0% Statutory

£234 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)

33 Site area  more than 15 hectares

£34,934 + £138 for each 0.1 

hectare (or part thereof) in excess 

of 15 hectares up to a maximum 

of £78,000

0.0% Statutory

£34,934 + £138 for each 0.1 

hectare (or part thereof) in excess 

of 15 hectares up to a maximum of 

£78,000

34

35 Site area not more than 7.5 hectares
£508 for each 0.1 hectare ( or part 

thereof)
0.0% Statutory

£508 for each 0.1 hectare ( or part 

thereof)

Full Applications - land used for agriculture or agricultural purposes

Outline Applications

Householder Applications

Full Applications (and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) - Dwelling Houses

Full Applications (and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) - not dwelling houses, agricultural, plant nor machinery

Gross floor space to be created by the development:

Gross floor space to be created by the development:

Full Applications - erection of glasshouses on land used for the purposes of agriculture

Gross floor space to be created by the development:

Full Applications - erection, alteration or replacement of plant or machinery.

Gross floor space to be created by the development:

Applications other than Building Works

Waste - (use of land for disposal of refuse or waste material or deposit or material remaining after extraction or storage of materials)

Operations connected with exploratory drilling for oil or natural gas

Page 133



36 Site area more than  7.5 hectares

£38,070 + additional £151 for 

each hectare (or part thereof) in 

excess of 7.5 hectares up to a 

maximum of £300,000

0.0% Statutory

£38,070 + additional £151 for each 

hectare (or part thereof) in excess 

of 7.5 hectares up to a maximum 

of £300,000

37

38 Site area not more than 15 hectares
£257 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)
0.0% Statutory

£257 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)

39 Site area  more than 15 hectares

£38,520 + additional £151 for 

each 0.1 hectare in excess of 15 

hectares up to a maximum of 

£78,000

0.0% Statutory

£38,520 + additional £151 for each 

0.1 hectare in excess of 15 

hectares up to a maximum of 

£78,000

40

41 Site area not more than 15 hectares
£234 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)
0.0% Statutory

£234 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof)

42 Site area  more than 15 hectares

£34,934 + additional 138 for each 

0.1 hectare in excess of 15 

hectares up to a maximum of 

£78,000

0.0% Statutory

£34,934 + additional 138 for each 

0.1 hectare in excess of 15 

hectares up to a maximum of 

£78,000

43
The carrying out of any operations not coming within 

any of the above categories.

£234 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof) up to a maximum of 

£2,028

0.0% Statutory

£234 for each 0.1 hectare (or part 

thereof) up to a maximum of 

£2,028

44

45 Not more than 50 dwellinghouses £462 per dwelling 0.0% Statutory £462 per dwelling

46 More than 50 dwellinghouses

£22,859 + £138 for each in excess 

of 50 up to a maximum of 

£300,000

0.0% Statutory

£22,859 + £138 for each in excess 

of 50 up to a maximum of 

£300,000

47 Other changes of use of a building or land £462 0.0% Statutory £462

48

49 Relating to the business on the premises £132 0.0% Statutory £132

50
Advance signs which are not situated on or visible from 

the site, directing the public to a business
£132 0.0% Statutory £132

51 Other advertisements. £462 0.0% Statutory £462

52

53

Certificate of Existing use or Operation, lawful not to 

comply with any condition or limitation £234 0.0% Statutory £234

54 Certificate of Existing Use or operation variable 0.0% Statutory variable

55 Certificate of Proposed Use or operation variable 0.0% Statutory variable

56

57
Unless detailed below

£96 0.0% Statutory £96

58 Telecommunications Code Systems Operators £462 0.0% Statutory £462

59

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 

Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), and Associated Building 

Operations.

£206 0.0% Statutory £206

60

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retails 

(Use Class A1 or A2) Use or Mixed Retail and Residential 

Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), 

and Associated Building Operations

£206 0.0% Statutory £206

61

For a Change of Use from Amusement Arcades/Centres 

and Casinos (Sui Generis Uses) and any land within its 

curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3) and Associated 

Building Operations

£206 0.0% Statutory £206

62

For a Change of Use from Shops (Class A1), Financial and 

Professional Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay Day 

Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis Uses) to 

Restaurants and Cafes (Class A3), and Associated 

Building Operations

£206 0.0% Statutory £206

63
Construction of New Dwelling Houses under Part 20 of 

Schedule 2 of the 2015 Order where there are 50 of 

fewer new dwellinghouses

£334 0.0% Statutory £334

64 Construction of New Dwelling Houses under Part 20 of 

Schedule 2 of the 2015 Order where more than 50 new 

dwellinghouses are proposed

£16525 plus £100 for each 

dwellinghouse in excess of 50 

subject to a maximum fee of 

£300,000

0.0% Statutory

£16525 plus £100 for each 

dwellinghouse in excess of 50 

subject to a maximum fee of 

£300,000

Advertisements

Operations (other than exploratory drilling) for the winning and woring of oil or natural gas

Other operations (winning and working of minerals) excluding oil and natural gas

The change of use of a building to use as one or more separate dwellinghouses, or other cases

Lawful Development Certificate

Prior Approval

Page 134



65

66

Application for approval of reserved matters following 

outline approval £462 0.0% Statutory £462

67

68

Application for removal or variation of a condition 

following grant of planning permission £234 0.0% Statutory £234

69
Request for confirmation that one or more planning 

conditions have been complied with - householder
£34 0.0% Statutory £34

70
Request for confirmation that one or more planning 

conditions have been complied with - non householder
£116 0.0% Statutory £116

71

72 Applications in respect of householder developments £34 0.0% Statutory £34

73 Applications in respect of other developments £234 0.0% Statutory £234

74

75 Site area charge (for each 0.1 hectare or part thereof) £402 0.0% Statutory £402

76

77
For alterations, extensions, etc. to a dwelling house for 

the benefit of a registered disabled person
£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

78

An application solely for the carrying out of the 

operations for the purpose of providing a means of

access for disabled persons to or within a building or 

premises to which members of the public are

admitted

£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

79 Listed Building Consent £0 0.0% 0.00 £0

80
Prior Approval for demolition of unlisted buildings 

within conservation areas.
£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

81
Works to Trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or 

in a Conservation Area Hedgerow Removal
£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

82

If the proposal is the first revision of an application for 

development of the same character

or description on the same site by the same applicant 

within 12 months of making the earlier

application if withdrawn or the date of decision if 

granted or refused (including signs only if

withdrawn or refused) and NOT a duplicate application 

made by the same applicant within 28 days

An application for a Free Go needs to be received by 

5pm on the working day it expires (e.g. if a

Decision Notice is dated 12 March 2015 the Free Go can 

be submitted up to and including 5pm on

12 March 2016).

£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

83

If the proposal relates to works that require planning 

permission only by virtue of an Article 4 Direction of the 

Town & Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995. I.e. where the application is 

required only because of a direction or planning 

condition removing permitted development rights.

£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

No fee incurred

Reserved Matters

Conditions

Application for a Non-Material Amendment Following a Grant of Planning Permission

Application for Permission in Principle

Page 135



84

If the application is for a lawful development certificate, 

for existing use, where an application for

planning permission for the same development would 

be exempt from the need to pay a planning

fee under any other planning fee regulation

£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

85

There is no fee for a prior approval application where a 

planning application for the same site is

submitted at the same time by or on behalf of the same 

person

£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

86

87
Self-Assessment Do I need permission – redirect to self-

assessment form on web
£0 10.0% 0.00 £0

88 Checking of Self-Assessment form £85 10.0% 9.00 £94

89
Do I need permission where no self assessment form is 

available
£85 10.0% 9.00 £94

90

Query for information that is publically accessible – 

redirect to relevant part of web site eg 

Is my site is a conservation area? This does not provide 

an assessment or professional opinion in respect of 

those facts.

Is my tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order?

£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

91
List of Planning applications for site - redirect to web 

(full not history not available on web)
£0 0.0% 0.00 £0

92 FOI £0 0.0% 0.00 £0

93 Complaint Letter £0 0.0% 0.00 £0

94
List of Planning applications for site (no assessment or 

advice provided)
£48 10.0% 5.00 £53

95 Permitted Development rights removed check £85 10.0% 9.00 £94

96
Additional charge if site visit required to check if 

Permitted Development rights removed
£169 10.0% 17.00 £186

97

Lawful Use Check  - to confirm the planning use of a 

premises (informal advice). A lawful determination can 

be made through the submission of Certificate of Lawful 

Use. NB If building is subdivided one fee is payable for 

the whole building

£169 10.0% 17.00 £186

98 In respect of the Lawful Use Check - each site visit £169 10.0% 17.00 £186

99

General query regarding procedure or policy - 

Householder/Minor apps and any other query  not 

dealing with majors

£85 10.0% 9.00 £94

100
General query regarding procedure or policy - Major 

apps
£170 10.0% 17.00 £187

101
Request for EIR information - hourly rate of staff - not 

subject to inflation)
£36 10.0% 4.00 £40

102 Pre app household letter £85 10.0% 9.00 £94

103 Pre app household letter and meeting £169 10.0% 17.00 £186

104
Any additional Householder pre app meeting (per 

meeting)
£169 10.0% 17.00 £186

105

Pre application advice – letter (non householder 

–minor/ residential development ( 1 to 3 units)/ change 

of use / for commercial extensions)

£429 10.0% 43.00 £472

106

Pre application advice - letter and meeting (non 

householder - minor residential development ( 1 to 3 

units)/ change of use / for commercial extensions)

£510 10.0% 51.00 £561

107

Pre application advice - letter – minor / other / 

residential development ( 4 to 9 units) or other minor 

applications 

£550 10.0% 55.00 £605

108

Pre application advice - meeting and letter –minor / 

other / residential development ( 4 to 9 units) or other 

minor applications 

£867 10.0% 87.00 £954

109

Pre application advice - letter for business premises 

where there is no increase in floorspace and no change 

of use 

£94 10.0% 9.00 £103

110

Pre application advice - letter and meeting for business 

premises where there is no increase in floorspace and 

no change of use

£231 10.0% 23.00 £254

111
Pre app advice – letter for major schemes (over 10 

dwellings or 1000sq m) 
£691 10.0% 69.00 £760

DISCRETIONARY CHARGES FOR NON STATUTORY SERVICES without VAT

Page 136



112
Pre app advice – meeting and letter for major schemes 

(over 10 dwellings or 1000sq m) 
£1,299 10.0% 130.00 £1,429

113
Pre-application advice - Householder in Conservation 

Area - Letter only
£128 10.0% 13.00 £141

114
Pre-application advice - Householder in Conservation 

Area - Letter and Meeting 
£169 10.0% 17.00 £186

115
Pre-application advise for Listed Buildings (Householder) 

letter
£257 10.0% 26.00 £283

116
Pre-application advise for Listed Buildings (Householder) 

letter and meeting
£384 10.0% 38.00 £422

117
Pre application advise for Listed Building Applications - 

letter only (all other)
£509 10.0% 51.00 £560

118
Pre application advise for Listed Building Applications - 

letter and meeting (all other)
£805 10.0% 81.00 £886

119
An additional cost for each specialist attending any pre 

application meeting
£197 10.0% 20.00 £217

120 Pre–application forums (for 30 dwellings or more) £2,132 10.0% 213.00 £2,345

121

Pre- application queries submitted as part of 

enforcement work, will be subject to the above noted 

fees

10.0% 0.00 £0

122

Advice and queries in relation to previously approved 

applications not falling within rows 88 to 91 (under 

column A) above

£169 10.0% 17.00 £186

123
Validation Meetings – for checking of applications prior 

to submission
£94 10.0% 9.00 £103

124 Confirmation of closure of enforcement case £94 10.0% 9.00 £103

125

Confirmation of compliance with enforcement notices, 

where the answer is publically available but customer 

still requires written confirmaiton. The fee needs to be 

paid in advance.

£77 10.0% 8.00 £85

126

Confirmation of compliance with listed building consent 

for those who seek confirmation of compliance with 

Listed Building Consent. The fee needs to be paid in 

advance.

£255 10.0% 26.00 £281

127

Confirmation of compliance with section 106 planning 

obligations for those who seek confirmation of 

compliance with legal

agreements. The fee needs to be paid in advance

£423 10.0% 42.00 £465

128 High Hedge Dispute Mediation £770 10.0% 77.00 £847

129
Fee for refunds for applications that are withdrawn or 

returned before validation - householders
£32 10.0% 3.00 £35

130
Fee for refunds for applications that are withdrawn or 

returned before validation - non majors
£43 10.0% 4.00 £47

131
Fee for refunds for applications that are withdrawn or 

returned before validation - majors
£53 10.0% 5.00 £58

132
Fee for refunds for pre-applications that are withdrawn 

or returned before validation - householders
£21 10.0% 2.00 £23

133
Fee for refunds for pre-applications that are withdrawn 

or returned before validation - non majors
£43 10.0% 4.00 £47

134
Fee for refunds for pre-applications that are withdrawn 

or returned before validation - majors
£53 10.0% 5.00 £58

Page 137



135
Fee refund for general planning enquiries , eg self certs, 

planning history enquiry or other fee paying enquiry
new £23

135

Regulation 75 Application                                                              

Check whether permitted development or prior 

approval would not significantly affect a European site, 

alone or in combination with other plans and projects. 

Pursuant to The Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017

£210 10.0% 21.00 £231

136 Monitoring Fee for S106 Agreements £500 10.0% 50.00 £550

Page 138



Street Naming and Local Land Charges 2022-23

Street Naming and Numbering
Charges 

2022 - 23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges 

2023-24

1

Naming of a new street (the fee is for the registration and 

notification of the new street (per street), not the naming itself)
£183.50 10.0% £201.50

2

Naming and numbering a new development or 

redevelopment(per address)
£91.30 10.0% £100.30

3 Naming or numbering a new individual property £91.30 10.0% £100.30

4

Renaming or renumbering once the new development has been 

agreed
£91.30 10.0% £100.30

5 Renaming or renumbering existing properties £91.30 10.0% £100.30

6 Confirmation of property postal address £46.15 10.0% £51.15

7

Street renaming/renumbering at resident request (Per street) 

(the fee is for the registration and notification of the new street, 

not the naming itself)
£183.50 10.0% £201.50

8

Street renaming/renumbering at resident request (per address) 

(the fee is for the registration and notification of the new street, 

not the naming itself)

£91.30 10.0% £100.30

Local Land Charges
Charges 

2022 - 23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges 

2023-24

9 CON 29R Search £231.23 10.0% £254.23

10 CON 29R Additional parcels of land £15.55 10.0% £17.55

11 CON 29O Enquiries £20.82 10.0% £22.82

12 CON 29O Additional Enquiries £35.95 10.0% £39.95

13 Q1.1 (a-i) Planning Decisions £9.20 10.0% £10.20

14 Q1.1 (j-l) Building Regulations £6.60 10.0% £7.60

15 Q1.2 Planning Designations and Proposals £9.20 10.0% £10.20

16 Q3.1 Land Required for Public Purposes £9.20 10.0% £10.20

17 Q3.3 Drainage Matters £9.20 10.0% £10.20

18 Q3.7 (a-d, f) Outstanding Notices £41.22 10.0% £45.22

19 Q3.8 Contravention of Building Regulations £6.60 10.0% £7.60

20

Q3.9 Notices, Orders, Directions and proceedings under planning 

Acts £9.20
10.0% £10.20

21 Q3.10 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) £9.20 10.0% £10.20

22 Q3.11(a) Conservation Area £4.60 10.0% £5.10

23 Q3.11 (b) Conservation area £4.60 10.0% £5.10

24 Q3.12 Compulsory Purchase £11.90 10.0% £12.90

25 Q3.13 (a, b(ii)) Contaminated land £9.70 10.0% £10.20

26 Q3.13 (b(i), c) Contaminated Land £9.70 10.0% £10.20

27 Q3.14 Radon Gas £19.40 10.0% £21.40

28 Q3.15 Assets of Community Value £9.20 10.0% £10.20

29 Additional Parcels of Land £1.45 10.0% £1.53

30 LLC1 Search -  Official search of the Register £51.00 10.0% £56.00

31 LLC1 Search - Single part of Register £6.95 10.0% £7.95

32 LLC1 Additional Parcels of Land £5.00 10.0% £6.00

33 Personal Search of the Local Land Charges Register Free - Free

Page 139



SPORTS AND RECREATION FEES AND CHARGES 2023-24

Site Name
Charges 

2022-23

Percentage 

Increase

Charges 

2023-24

Adult Pitch -  one off game £88.50 0.0% £88.50

Junior Pitch -  one off game £59.00 0.0% £59.00

Under 8/9 pitch -  one off game £53.50 0.0% £53.50

Adult Pitch -  for the season (biweekly) £718.00 0.0% £718.00

Junior Pitch -  for the season (biweekly) £377.00 0.0% £377.00

Under 8/9 pitch -  for the season (biweekly) £235.00 0.0% £235.00

All day game £142.00 10.0% £156.20

Afternoon game £76.50 10.0% £84.15

Evening games £64.50 10.0% £70.95

Adult -  per session £7.80 10.0% £8.58

Senior citizens -  per session £4.60 10.0% £5.06

Adults -  per hour £4.60 10.0% £5.06

Senior citizens -  per hour £3.50 10.0% £3.85

Season Ticket £147.00 0.0% £147.00

Season Ticket 2 instalments total £163.00 0.0% £163.00

Wood Hire £3.30 10.0% £3.63

Locker Rental £15.30 10.0% £16.83

Adult £9.20 10.0% £10.12

Junior  £4.60 10.0% £5.06

Students (I.D Required) £9.00 10.0% £9.90

Tennis Racket Hire £5.50 10.0% £6.05

Adult £4.60 10.0% £5.06

Junior £3.40 10.0% £3.74

Senior £3.40 10.0% £3.74

Multi use games areas £36.00 11.1% £40.00

Multi use games areas

Football

Cricket

Bowls

Tennis  

Putting

Page 140



Appendix C - Off Street Pay & Display Parking Charges – Proposal 
 
 

Parking Place Current Charges Parking Place Proposed Charges 
 1 Nov. - 

31 March 
1 April –  
31 Oct. 

 1 Nov. - 
 31 March 

1 April –  
31 Oct. 

1 1.90 1 1.90 1 2.10 1 2.20 
2 3.50 2 3.50 2 3.90 2 4.00 
3 4.60 3 4.60 3 5.10 3 5.30 
5 6.90 5 6.90 5 7.60 5 7.90 
10 8.20 10 8.20 1

0 
9.00 10 9.40 

Castle Hill Rd 
Pelham Place 
Rock a Nore 
The Bourne  
7am to 9pm 

24 9.50 24 9.50 

Castle Hill Rd 
Pelham Place 
Rock a Nore 
The Bourne  
7am to 9pm 

2
4 

10.50 24 10.90 

1 1.50 1 1.50 1 1.70 1 1.80 
2 2.20 2 2.20 2 2.40 2 2.50 
3 3.10 3 3.10 3 3.40 3 3.60 
5 4.20 5 4.20 5 4.60 5 4.80 
10 7.10 10 7.10 1

0 
7.80 10 8.20 

Carlisle Parade  
The Pier 
St. Margaret’s 
7am to 9pm 

24 8.40 24 8.40 

Carlisle Parade  
The Pier 
St. Margaret’s 
7am to 9pm 

2
4 

9.20 24 9.70 

1 1.50 1 1.50 1 1.70 1 1.80 
2 2.20 2 2.20 2 2.40 2 2.50 
3 3.10 3 3.10 3 3.40 3 3.60 
5 4.20 5 4.20 5 4.60 5 4.80 
10 7.10 10 7.10 1

0 
7.80 10 8.20 

Priory Street 
Multi Storey  
£1 on Sunday – 

all day 
Other Days 7am 
to 9pm 24 8.40 24 8.40 

Priory Street 
Multi Storey  
Normal Tariff 
everyday from 
7am to 9pm 

2
4 

9.20 24 9.70 

1 1.30 1 1.30 1 1.40 1 1.50 
2 1.80 2 1.80 2 2.00 2 2.10 
3 2.60 3 2.60 3 2.90 3 3.00 
5 3.40 5 3.40 5 3.70 5 3.90 
10 5.30 10 5.30 1

0 
5.80 10 6.10 

Marina Car Park 
7am to 9pm 

24 6.00 24 6.00 

Marina Car Park 
7am to 8pm 

2
4 

6.60 24 7.00 

1 1.40 1 1.40 1 1.60 1 1.60 
2 2.10 2 2.10 2 2.40 2 2.40 
3 2.70 3 2.70 3 3.20 3 3.20 

Grosvenor 
Gardens 
8am to 6pm 4 4.00 4 4.00 

Grosvenor 
Gardens 
8am to 6pm 4 4.60 4 4.60 

1 0.90 1 0.90 1 1.00 1 1.00 
2 1.40 2 1.40 2 1.60 2 1.60 
3 1.90 3 1.90 3 2.20 3 2.20 

Crystal Square 
8am to 6pm 

4 2.40 4 2.40 

Crystal Square 
8am to 6pm 

4 2.80 4 2.80 
2 0.60 2 0.60 2 0.60 2 0.60 
3 1.10 3 1.10 3 1.10 3 1.10 

Summerfield’s 
Falaise Road 
Falaise Hall 
8am to 8pm 

4 2.10 4 2.10 

Summerfield’s 
Falaise Road 
Falaise Hall 
8am to 8pm 

4 2.10 4 2.10 

1 2.60 1 2.60 1 3.00 1 3.00 Hastings 
Country Park 
8am to 4pm 

2 3.70 2 3.70 
Hastings Country 
Park 8am to 4pm 2 4.30 2 4.30 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 141



Off Street Parking Season Permit Charges – Proposal 
 
 

Type 
Current 
Charge 

Proposed 
Charge  

Annual Season 765 840 
Quarterly Season 215 235 
Monthly Season 85 95 
Weekly Season 35 40 
Reserved Space 
Annual Only 945 945 
Russell Street 
Reserved Spaces 
Annual Only 710 780 
Restricted Zone 
Annual 525 580 
Restricted Zone 
Quarterly 170 190 
Restricted Zone 
Monthly 60 70 
Bourne and High 
Street Residents 
Annual 525 580 
Bourne and High 
Street Residents 
Quarterly 160 180 
Grand Parade 
 Annual 525 525 
Grand Parade 
Quarterly 160 160 
Grand Parade 
Motorcycle Permit  

50% of car 
permit rate 

50% of car 
permit rate 

Priory Street 
Restricted Zone 
Motorcycle Permit 

25% of car 
permit rate 

25% of car 
permit rate 

Country Park Annual 55 60 
 

Page 142



 
 
 
 

 Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 
Report To: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: Monday, 5th December 

Report Title: Buckshole Reservoir finance update 

Report By: Cameron Morley, Waste and Cleansing Manager 

Key Decision: Y 
 

Classification: Open 
 
 

Purpose of Report 
To brief Cabinet on the likely shortfall in the capital budget to complete the mandatory safety 
improvement works at Buckshole reservoir and seek approval to increase the capital budget of 
this project as presented in the accompanying part 2 report 
 

Recommendation(s) 
1. Cabinet approves the report for consideration at Full Council with the recommendation 

to increase the capital budget for the Buckshole Reservoir safety improvement works 
in line with the figures provided in the associated part 2 report. 
 

2. To give delegated authority to the Managing Director in consultation with the Lead 
Member for the Environment to make provision for the additional budget. 

 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
Several factors, including the global pandemic, have led to an increase in the cost of materials 
which has had the effect of increasing the costs of the project above the current capital budget.    
 
 

Page 143

Agenda Item 6



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Introduction 

1. The Buckshole Reservoir safety improvement project is for the reconstruction of the reservoir 
spillway channel and the installation of a new emergency drawdown outlet pipe. These works 
are required to satisfy statutory recommendations made for reservoir safety improvement 
works. The contractor undertaking these works is Jackson Civil Engineering (JCE), appointed 
in 2021 following a tendering process. 

2. Previous Cabinet reports on this project have set out the legal and safety background to the 
works.  Councillors will be aware the works are mandatory on the council. 

Project Update 

3. Work started in 2021.  However due to the late commencement of the project, the works 
were postponed over the winter of 2021/22.  They re-commenced again in Spring 2022 with 
the contractor’s stated completion date of 2nd August 2022. 

4. In July 2022 a Southern Water (SW) burst water main near St Helens Road, resulted in the 
construction site being flooded.  Works were significantly delayed and coupled with further 
delays mostly related to poor ground conditions and ground water ingress, the contractor has 
since reviewed their completion date back to 9th November 2022. 

5. As a result of delays, the implications on the project from the Sothern Water incident, and 
compensation claims being filed by the contractor for delays, officers need to provide 
Councillors with an early warning that the current capital budget is insufficient to complete the 
project.  

6. It is noted that HBC has submitted our own claim for compensation to SW. 

Financial implications and risks 

7. Whilst a risk assessment matrix is continually reviewed and updated by officers and the 
Project Board, the major risk currently relates to the shortfall in the capital project to complete 
the works.  The Part 2 report presents detailed financial implications for councillors’ 
consideration. 

Timetable of Next Steps 

8. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these: 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

Report presented 
to Full Council for 
approval 

Cabinet 5th 
December 2022 

Full Council, 15th 
December 2022 

Cameron Morley, 
Waste and 
Cleansing 
Manager 

    

Page 144



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

9.  
 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

    

    

 
Wards Affected 

Braybrooke; Silverhill; St Helens; 
 

Policy Implications 

Reading Ease Score: 
 
Have you used relevant project tools?: Y/N 
 
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness N 
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  N 
Risk Management     Y 
Environmental Issues & Climate Change   N 
Economic/Financial Implications   Y 
Human Rights Act     N 
Organisational Consequences   N 
Local People’s Views    N 
Anti-Poverty      N 
Legal                                                                   N 
 
 
Additional Information 

 

Officer to Contact 

Officer Murray Davidson 
Email Mdavidson@hastings.gov.uk 
Tel 
 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

Report to: Cabinet  
 
Date of Meeting: 5 December 2022 
 
Report Title: East Hill Cliff Railway – Major Works  
 
Report By: Aaron Woods, Resort Manager  
  
 
Purpose of Report 

• To update cabinet on the current closure of the East Hill Cliff Railway (EHCR).  
• To request delegated authority to proceed with the required maintenance as 

soon as possible to minimise lost income and complete the works in a timely 
manner ahead of next summer.  

• To request derogation from procurement procedure to enable the issuing of 
contracts immediately to a preferred contractor. 

 

Recommendation(s) 

1. Cabinet recommends to Council that the Council Leader and Managing 
Director are delegated authority to proceed with capital works and allocated a 
suitable budget. 

2. Cabinet recommends to Council that the Council Leader and Managing 
Director are granted derogation from normal procurement process, to 
instruct the preferred contractor immediately, and complete works as soon 
as possible. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

The East Hill Cliff Railway, the steepest operational funicular in the country, is currently 
closed the public and unable to operate for health and safety reasons. Until works are 
completed the service will remain unavailable to users, and no income will be received. 
 
Derogation from standard procurement protocol is requested in order to expedite works 
– these works are specialised and have a limited number of potential contractors with 
the expertise and means to deliver the project. Embarking on a likely lengthy 
procurement exercise will only result in lost revenue, with material costs continuing to 
increase over time. Therefore, derogation should be given for officers to deviate from 
standard procurement practice and engage directly with competent specialists to 
deliver the project as promptly as possible, whilst still ensuring that value for money is 
delivered. 
 

 

Page 147

Agenda Item 7



 

Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

1. Background and current service status 

1.1. The Council operates two funicular railways as non-statutory, income 
generating, heritage assets. The West Hill Cliff Railway (WHCR) opened in 
1891 and is the second oldest operating cliff railway in the UK, it is also 
unusual in mainly running through a tunnel; the East Hill Cliff Railway (EHCR) 
opened in 1902 and is the steepest operational cliff railway in the UK. Both 
provide environmentally sustainable access to stunning views from the West 
Hill and East Hill respectively. 

1.2. Both cliff railways are popular with visitors, catering for an estimated 200,000+ 
passengers per year combined. Passenger profiles vary slightly between 
sites, with WHCR generally serving visitors to the West Hill, Hastings Castle 
and caves, and a substantial number of residents who use the lift for access 
between the West Hill and Hastings Old Town. EHCR caters more for larger 
numbers of seasonal tourists, holiday makers staying locally in the Tackleway 
area, and visitors to Hastings Country Park. 

1.3. Historically on average approx. 20% of total annual turnover for the service is 
profit, with the remaining 80% of turnover covering operational costs including 
staffing and maintenance. 

1.4. Both cliff railways are subject to annual routine maintenance funded from 
revenue budgets, this maintenance ensures that the lifts continue to comply 
with their complex health and safety requirements (both sites fall under the 
same legislation as passenger lifts, railways, and mines), and ensures that 
downtime is kept to a minimum, in order to provide continued service and 
generate income. 

1.5. Occasionally capital investment over and above routine works is also required 
to uplift maintenance given the age and design of the assets. Recently in 
19/20 major works were undertaken at WHCR to replace worn components on 
the main drive, prior to that in 2008-2010 major works were undertaken at 
EHCR to overhaul the drive and replace the carriages to make them fully 
accessible. 

1.6. There are no records held of the last major maintenance carried out to the 
track at EHCR but based on the age of the running rails this can be assumed 
to have taken place sometime around 1973-1976, when the lift was converted 
from water balance operation to electric power, and new glass fibre carriages 
provided (themselves replaced 2008-2010 as noted above). Since 2018 we 
have been monitoring some minor movement of the trackside, with some 
areas showing signs of dipping as carriages transit over them.  

1.7. In 2020 a light rail specialist was commissioned to provide a condition report 
on the trackside, some minor issues were identified, including the movement 
of some sleepers, though this was not deemed of major concern and a 
recommendation was made to continue with further monitoring. 

1.8. In 2022 staff and independent consultants noted that the movement of the 
rails and sleepers had seemingly significantly increased. Further surveys were 
commissioned with a cliff railway specialist to determine the cause of the 

Page 148



 

Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

movement. A ground penetrating radar survey of the concrete track bed was 
conducted, along with a rail alignment and condition survey, and some 
targeted non-destructive testing.  

1.9. The surveys identified that there were no major voids below the concrete track 
bed as had been feared as a reasonable worst-case scenario, however 
sleepers were moving in some locations and therefore these would likely need 
some targeted rebedding and localised repair. More concerningly the running 
rails were found to be significantly misaligned, rail condition was also corroded 
in some places and worn, with rails approaching end of life. Fishplates (which 
connect rail to rail) and Pandrol clips (that connect rail to track) were found to 
be fractured and corroded and almost universally in need of replacement. The 
cable guide rollers (which support the cable and stop it from dragging on the 
track as the carriage moves) were found to be worn and requiring 
replacement. The haulage ropes (which move the carriages up and down the 
track and were not included within the main report) are in good serviceable 
condition having been replaced in early 2022.  The recommendation was that 
significant remedial works to replace the running rails, fishplates, clips, and 
rollers were needed as soon as feasibly possible, and no later than the end of 
the operating season.  

1.10. To establish an estimate of the capital budget needed to complete the 
required works contractors were approached for outline proposals, estimated 
budgets, and estimated mobilisation and completion dates. 

 
 
 
 

2. Financial summary 
 

2.1. The total budgeted income from cliff railways for 22/23 was £459k, with 
WHCR and EHCR each projected to generate £226.5k of income. However, 
this income figure has already been achieved and indeed exceeded.  

2.2. A total of £496k income has already been received, with EHCR generating 
£252k before its closure in October, and WHCR generating £244k to date.  

2.3. The total projected income by end of the year at WHCR is £260k, bringing the 
combined end of year income projection to £512k.  

2.4. Operational costs for both lifts by year end are projected at £311.5k, therefore 
the service expected to make £200.5k profit this year. 

2.5. Despite there being five months left of the financial year income is already at 
highest ever levels. Prior to this year our most successful year ever produced 
£432k income.  

2.6. With the return of foreign student visitors to the town, increasing numbers of 
foreign tourists and sustained levels of domestic visitors it is not unrealistic to 

Page 149



 

Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

aim for sustained income around the £500k level moving forwards in a two-lift 
operational scenario.  

2.7. Accordingly, the target income for 23/24 had been set at £505k prior to EHCR 
closure. This figure is higher than the initially projected income for 22/23, but 
lower than the revised income projected, as usage levels are expected to 
revert closer to average. 

2.8. With the closure of EHCR for the remainder of the 22/23 financial year we 
expect to lose out on projected income of £16.5k for that site, however we will 
also save on approx. £17.5k of staffing costs, so overall we are neither 
significantly worse nor better off during this short period. 

2.9. The major challenge is if the EHCR closure is to continue into the 23/24 visitor 
season. Given that the lift operates for a shorter period than WHCR and 
produces equal income, downtime amplifies the impact of closure – with the 
income loss remaining equal to WHCR but the savings from operational costs 
contributing a much smaller benefit.  

2.10. Closure of EHCR would have a significantly detrimental effect on the 
overall service profit margin. Projected income of £252.5k would be lost from 
that site, against savings of approx. £98k on staff and building costs for that 
site. It would also impact indirectly on the town’s visitor economy, as it is 
known that some tourists travel mainly to enjoy the cliff railway, and others 
see it as an integral part of our offer. Both cliff railways are promoted by 
tourism marketing colleagues as an integral element of the unique Hastings 
offer 

2.11. A total income of £252.5k would be expected for the entire service (all 
from WHCR), with total operational costs for the service of approx. £213.5k. 
The total operational costs do not simply half, as savings of staffing costs at 
EHCR are less given the shorter operating season, and even during closure a 
basic level of maintenance and upkeep will be required. 

2.12. The profit margin for a WHCR only operational service would fall from a 
projected £193.5k to only £39k i.e. the closure of the EHCR will reduce 
income to the council by c£154.5k. 

2.13. Though there is still some uncertainty about the final cost of works 
required, we can estimate a suitable budget, including a level of contingency 
for unknown factors and variations in material costs due to fluctuation in the 
market.  

 

3. Discussion 
 

3.1. As noted above, prior to closure, during the seven months of operation the site 
exceeded budgeted income for the entire financial year; bringing in £252k 
through fares.  

 
3.2. The annual revenue budget allocation for maintenance is insufficient to enable 

large scale, low frequency, major works such as those proposed. Once 

Page 150



 

Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

completed, further large scale works to the trackside at the site are unlikely to 
be required within the next 30 years. 

 
3.3. Proposals for remedial works have been provided by a number of contractors 

in order to inform the projected cost and duration of works needed.  
 

3.4. One contractor can commence works quickly once instructed and has provided 
a projected works programme, which would complete ahead of the peak 
summer period in 2023 if instructed by mid-December 2022. This means that 
works could be delivered within the services’ lowest demand period, and 
complete by the peak demand period, allowing the majority of the budgeted 
income for 23/24 to be achieved. 

 
3.5. A capital budget value has been requested for delegation, although it is 

unlikely that this full amount will be required. The budget figure includes a 
suitable contingency value for unforeseen works, fluctuation in material costs 
within the market, and potential for weekend working to prevent project 
overrunning. 

 
3.6. Derogation from standard procurement protocol is requested in order to 

expedite works – these works are specialised and have a limited number of 
potential contractors with the expertise and means to deliver the project. 
Embarking on a likely lengthy procurement exercise will only result in lost 
revenue, with material costs continuing to increase over time. Therefore, 
derogation should be given for officers to deviate from standard procurement 
practice and engage directly with competent specialists to deliver the project as 
promptly as possible, whilst still ensuring that value for money is delivered. 

 

4 Recommendations 

4.1 That Cabinet recommends to Council that that the Council Leader and 
Managing Director are delegated authority to proceed with capital works and 
allocated a suitable budget. 

4.2 That Cabinet recommends to Council that the Council Leader and Managing 
Director are granted derogation from normal procurement process, to instruct 
the preferred contractor immediately, and complete works as soon as possible. 

Timetable of Next Steps 

1. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these: 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

Authority to 
proceed 

Cabinet/full 
council decision 

December 2022 Resort manager 

Page 151



 

Report Template v29.0 
 

 
 

Work starts on site Contractor 
mobilised 

February 2023 Resort manager 

Work completed Work signed off 
and EHCR safe to 
reopen 

June 2023 Resort manager 

 

Wards Affected 

Insert the list of wards affected Old Hastings/All 
 

Implications 

Relevant project tools applied? Yes/No 
 
Have you checked this report for plain English and readability? Yes/No 
 
Climate change implications considered? Yes/No 
 
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 
 
Equalities and Community Cohesiveness Yes  
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17) No  
Risk Management  Yes    
Environmental Issues Yes    
Economic/Financial Implications  Yes  
Human Rights Act    No  
Organisational Consequences  No  
Local People’s Views   No  
Anti-Poverty     No  
 
 
Additional Information 

 

Officer to Contact 

Aaron Woods 
 awoods@hastings.gov.uk 
 
 

 

 

Page 152



Document is Restricted

Page 153

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 157

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Last Meeting
	Minutes

	4 Designation of a Cycle Route through Alexandra Park
	Introduction
	Background Summary
	The project for a shared use cycle path in Alexandra Park
	Hastings Borough Council Local Plan
	Public consultation
	Safety Audit and Equalities Impact Assessments (Equalities and Community Cohesiveness)
	Safety Audit
	Equalities Impact

	The route through the park, signs, and bollards
	Surfacing and widening
	Signs
	Barriers
	Tennis courts
	Bridges

	East Sussex County Council decision making and timetable
	Enforcement and review of the route
	Financial Implications and risk management
	Environmental Issues & Climate Change
	Legal implications
	Conclusions
	Timetable of Next Steps
	Appendix 1 HBC Cabinet report, 4th January 2016
	Introduction
	Policy Framework
	The proposed route through Alexandra Park
	Consultation
	Consultation Summary

	Discussion
	Enforcement
	Policy Implications
	Equalities
	Risk Management
	Environmental Issues
	Economic and Financial
	Local Peoples Views


	Appendix 2 Proposed cycle route map
	Appendix 3 ESCC Safety Audit
	Appendix 4 ESCC Equalities Impact Assessment
	5 Alexandra Park and St Helen's Road cycle route review
	App D  EQIA  Client Review apr 18 FINAL


	Appendix 5 Proposed signs
	Appendix 6 Consideration of alternative routes
	Appendix 6 	Consideration of alternative routes
	1	St Helens Road - converting the existing footway running alongside the 	northern boundary to the park.
	2	Upper and Lower Park Roads – converting and widening existing 	footway or on-road provision or converting Upper and Lower Park 	Roads to one-way only traffic.
	3	Clarence Road / Upper Clarence Road– upgrading and providing on-	road provision.
	4	Beaufort Road / Eversley Road – converting existing footway or on-road 	provision.
	5	Vale Road - converting existing footway or on-road provision.


	Appendix 7 Hastings Borough Council Local Plan strategic cycle network

	5 Fees and Charges 2023/24
	Background
	Introduction
	Allotments
	Beach Huts & Chalets
	Car Parking
	Cemetery & Crematorium
	East & West Cliff Railways
	Events
	Garden Waste
	Licensing
	Museum & Art Gallery
	Planning Services
	Sports Pitches
	Financial Implications
	Timetable of Next Steps

	Appendix A - Fees and Charges Strategy 2023-2024 v1
	FEES AND CHARGES STRATEGY– 2023/24

	2023-24 Fees and Charges - Appendix B v1.1
	Appendix C - 2023-24 Car Park Charges V1.1
	Appendix C - Off Street Pay & Display Parking Charges – Proposal


	6 Buckshole Reservoir finance update (Part 1)
	Introduction
	Project Update
	Financial implications and risks
	Timetable of Next Steps

	7 East Hill Cliff Railway - Major Works (Part 1)
	1. Background and current service status
	1.1.	The Council operates two funicular railways as non-statutory, income generating, heritage assets. The West Hill Cliff Railway (WHCR) opened in 1891 and is the second oldest operating cliff railway in the UK, it is also unusual in mainly running through a tunnel; the East Hill Cliff Railway (EHCR) opened in 1902 and is the steepest operational cliff railway in the UK. Both provide environmentally sustainable access to stunning views from the West Hill and East Hill respectively.
	1.2.	Both cliff railways are popular with visitors, catering for an estimated 200,000+ passengers per year combined. Passenger profiles vary slightly between sites, with WHCR generally serving visitors to the West Hill, Hastings Castle and caves, and a substantial number of residents who use the lift for access between the West Hill and Hastings Old Town. EHCR caters more for larger numbers of seasonal tourists, holiday makers staying locally in the Tackleway area, and visitors to Hastings Country Park.
	1.3.	Historically on average approx. 20% of total annual turnover for the service is profit, with the remaining 80% of turnover covering operational costs including staffing and maintenance.
	1.4.	Both cliff railways are subject to annual routine maintenance funded from revenue budgets, this maintenance ensures that the lifts continue to comply with their complex health and safety requirements (both sites fall under the same legislation as passenger lifts, railways, and mines), and ensures that downtime is kept to a minimum, in order to provide continued service and generate income.
	1.5.	Occasionally capital investment over and above routine works is also required to uplift maintenance given the age and design of the assets. Recently in 19/20 major works were undertaken at WHCR to replace worn components on the main drive, prior to that in 2008-2010 major works were undertaken at EHCR to overhaul the drive and replace the carriages to make them fully accessible.
	1.6.	There are no records held of the last major maintenance carried out to the track at EHCR but based on the age of the running rails this can be assumed to have taken place sometime around 1973-1976, when the lift was converted from water balance operation to electric power, and new glass fibre carriages provided (themselves replaced 2008-2010 as noted above). Since 2018 we have been monitoring some minor movement of the trackside, with some areas showing signs of dipping as carriages transit over them.
	1.7.	In 2020 a light rail specialist was commissioned to provide a condition report on the trackside, some minor issues were identified, including the movement of some sleepers, though this was not deemed of major concern and a recommendation was made to continue with further monitoring.
	1.8.	In 2022 staff and independent consultants noted that the movement of the rails and sleepers had seemingly significantly increased. Further surveys were commissioned with a cliff railway specialist to determine the cause of the movement. A ground penetrating radar survey of the concrete track bed was conducted, along with a rail alignment and condition survey, and some targeted non-destructive testing.
	1.9.	The surveys identified that there were no major voids below the concrete track bed as had been feared as a reasonable worst-case scenario, however sleepers were moving in some locations and therefore these would likely need some targeted rebedding and localised repair. More concerningly the running rails were found to be significantly misaligned, rail condition was also corroded in some places and worn, with rails approaching end of life. Fishplates (which connect rail to rail) and Pandrol clips (that connect rail to track) were found to be fractured and corroded and almost universally in need of replacement. The cable guide rollers (which support the cable and stop it from dragging on the track as the carriage moves) were found to be worn and requiring replacement. The haulage ropes (which move the carriages up and down the track and were not included within the main report) are in good serviceable condition having been replaced in early 2022.  The recommendation was that significant remedial works to replace the running rails, fishplates, clips, and rollers were needed as soon as feasibly possible, and no later than the end of the operating season.
	1.10.	To establish an estimate of the capital budget needed to complete the required works contractors were approached for outline proposals, estimated budgets, and estimated mobilisation and completion dates.

	2.	Financial summary
	2.1.	The total budgeted income from cliff railways for 22/23 was £459k, with WHCR and EHCR each projected to generate £226.5k of income. However, this income figure has already been achieved and indeed exceeded.
	2.2.	A total of £496k income has already been received, with EHCR generating £252k before its closure in October, and WHCR generating £244k to date.
	2.3.	The total projected income by end of the year at WHCR is £260k, bringing the combined end of year income projection to £512k.
	2.4.	Operational costs for both lifts by year end are projected at £311.5k, therefore the service expected to make £200.5k profit this year.
	2.5.	Despite there being five months left of the financial year income is already at highest ever levels. Prior to this year our most successful year ever produced £432k income.
	2.6.	With the return of foreign student visitors to the town, increasing numbers of foreign tourists and sustained levels of domestic visitors it is not unrealistic to aim for sustained income around the £500k level moving forwards in a two-lift operational scenario.
	2.7.	Accordingly, the target income for 23/24 had been set at £505k prior to EHCR closure. This figure is higher than the initially projected income for 22/23, but lower than the revised income projected, as usage levels are expected to revert closer to average.
	2.8.	With the closure of EHCR for the remainder of the 22/23 financial year we expect to lose out on projected income of £16.5k for that site, however we will also save on approx. £17.5k of staffing costs, so overall we are neither significantly worse nor better off during this short period.
	2.9.	The major challenge is if the EHCR closure is to continue into the 23/24 visitor season. Given that the lift operates for a shorter period than WHCR and produces equal income, downtime amplifies the impact of closure – with the income loss remaining equal to WHCR but the savings from operational costs contributing a much smaller benefit.
	2.10.	Closure of EHCR would have a significantly detrimental effect on the overall service profit margin. Projected income of £252.5k would be lost from that site, against savings of approx. £98k on staff and building costs for that site. It would also impact indirectly on the town’s visitor economy, as it is known that some tourists travel mainly to enjoy the cliff railway, and others see it as an integral part of our offer. Both cliff railways are promoted by tourism marketing colleagues as an integral element of the unique Hastings offer
	2.11.	A total income of £252.5k would be expected for the entire service (all from WHCR), with total operational costs for the service of approx. £213.5k. The total operational costs do not simply half, as savings of staffing costs at EHCR are less given the shorter operating season, and even during closure a basic level of maintenance and upkeep will be required.
	2.12.	The profit margin for a WHCR only operational service would fall from a projected £193.5k to only £39k i.e. the closure of the EHCR will reduce income to the council by c£154.5k.
	2.13.	Though there is still some uncertainty about the final cost of works required, we can estimate a suitable budget, including a level of contingency for unknown factors and variations in material costs due to fluctuation in the market.

	3.	Discussion
	4	Recommendations
	4.1	That Cabinet recommends to Council that that the Council Leader and Managing Director are delegated authority to proceed with capital works and allocated a suitable budget.
	4.2	That Cabinet recommends to Council that the Council Leader and Managing Director are granted derogation from normal procurement process, to instruct the preferred contractor immediately, and complete works as soon as possible.
	Timetable of Next Steps


	11 Buckshole Reservoir finance update (Part 2)
	12 East Hill Cliff Railway - Major Works (Part 2)

